Plancherel Convergence and Zeta Functions

Dissertation

der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Eberhard Karls Universität Tübingen zur Erlangung des Grades eines Doktors der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

> vorgelegt von Claudius Kamp aus Uelzen

> > Tübingen 2023

Gedruckt mit Genehmigung der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Eberhard Karls Universität Tübingen.

Tag der mündlichen Qualifikation: Dekan:

- 1. Berichterstatter/-in:
- 2. Berichterstatter/-in:
- 3. Berichterstatter/-in:

26.04.2024 Prof. Dr. Thilo Stehle Prof. Dr. Anton Deitmar Prof. Dr. Frank Loose Dr. Jan Raimbault

Acknowledgements

I want to warmly thank my supervisor Anton Deitmar for spending many hours of his time with me discussing mathematics and helping me to grow as a person. I also want to thank Peter Loose for being my referee. Finally, I want to thank Bruno Colbois for quickly sending me one of his papers, which was not publically available.

Contents

Contents 2					
1	Introduction	4			
	1.1 Summary	4			
	1.2 Comparison to the Literature	7			
2	Preliminaries	9			
	2.1 The Geometry of the Upper Half-Plane	9			
	2.2 Geometry of Hyperbolic Surfaces	11			
	2.3 Decompositions of Hyperbolic Surfaces	13			
	2.4 The Spectrum of the Laplace Operator	15			
	2.5 Harmonic Analysis on Locally Compact Groups	17			
	2.6 Representation Theory of $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$	18			
	2.7 The Selberg Trace Formula	20			
	2.8 The Selberg Zeta Function	23			
	2.9 Number-Theoretic Preliminaries	24			
	2.10 Arithmetic Fuchsian Groups	27			
	2.11 Benjamini-Schramm Convergence and Plancherel Convergence $% \mathcal{L}^{(n)}$.	30			
3	Spectra of Arithmetic Surfaces and Plancherel Convergence	35			
	3.1 Summary	35			
	3.2 Hyperbolic Transformations and Salem Numbers	35			
	3.3 Systoles of Arithmetic Surfaces	38			
	3.4 Bilu Equidistribution	38			
	3.5 Embedding Numbers of Orders	40			
	3.6 Quadratic Orders	42			
	3.7 Plancherel Convergence for Congruence Surfaces	44			
4	Plancherel Convergence and Zeta Functions	53			
	4.1 Summary	53			
	4.2 Tools from Spectral Geometry	55			
	4.3 Bounds for the Accumulation Rate	58			
	4.4 Convergence inside the Critical Strip	65			

5	Spe	ctral Geometry of Congruence Surfaces and Zeta Functions	72
	5.1	Summary	72
	5.2	Arithmetic and Geometry of Two-Generator Subgroups	73
	5.3	Arithmetic Surfaces and Zeta Functions	80
6	\mathbf{Dis}	cussion and Further Projects	93
	6.1	Plancherel Convergence of Non-compact Congruence Subgroups .	93
	6.2	Plancherel Convergence and Zeta Functions	94
	6.3	Benjamini-Schramm Convergence and Limit Multiplicities	96
\mathbf{A}	ppen	dices	98
-	Ā	Limit Points of Salem Numbers	98
	В	Length Multiplicity	99
	С	The Phragmen-Lindelöf Principle	103
	D	A Degenerating Plancherel sequence	104
	Е	Notations and Conventions	108

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Summary

Two of the most studied metric invariants of a smooth closed hyperbolic surface X are the Laplace spectrum $\operatorname{Spec}_{\Delta}(X)$ and the length spectrum $\operatorname{Spec}_{L}(X)$. While the length spectrum is at least known for a few arithmetic surfaces (see e.g. [83]), the Laplace spectrum can only be worked out using numerical methods (cf. [94, 29]). For this reason, one instead tries to describe the asymptotics of the Laplace spectrum, a typical result being Weyl's law

$$\frac{N(X,x)}{\operatorname{vol}(X)} \sim \frac{1}{4\pi} x$$

for the counting function $N(X, x) = \{\lambda \in \operatorname{Spec}_{\Delta}(X) \mid \lambda \leq x\}$ of the Laplace operator. Now, one might ask what happens if we assume x to be fixed and instead allow the surface X to vary. Let us consider a sequence of smooth closed hyperbolic surfaces $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$. This sequence is called *Plancherel-convergent*, if

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{N(X_j, x)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} = \mu_{\operatorname{Pl}}([0, x])$$
(1.1)

holds for any $x \ge 0$. The measure, which appears on the right-hand side of (1.1) is the Plancherel measure on the unitary dual of $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$. In (1.1) we have implicitely made an identification between certain representations of $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ and subsets of $[0, \infty)$, which is described in detail in Section 2.7. In Chapter 3 we will show

Theorem 1.1.1. Any sequence of smooth closed congruence surfaces $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ with $\operatorname{vol}(X_j) \to \infty$ is Plancherel-convergent.

We want to stress here that this already has been shown by Fraczyk [43]. We will give a different proof, which significantly reduces the amount of estimates needed.

It is natural to ask in what way this form of convergence is reflected in secondary metric invariants such as the Selberg zeta function. One result in this direction by Deitmar [31, Thm. 3.2] is

Theorem 1.1.2. Let $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of smooth closed hyperbolic surfaces and let Λ_j be the logarithmic derivative of the Selberg zeta function of X_j .

1. If the sequence $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is uniformly discrete and Plancherel convergent, then

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\Lambda_j(s)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} = 0$$

for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$.

2. If for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$ we have

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\Lambda_j(s)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} = 0,$$

then $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is Plancherel-convergent.

Here, uniform discreteness asserts that there is a uniform lower bound for the lengths of closed geodesics on the surfaces $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$. This assumption was needed in the proof of the above theorem to control the accumulation rate of eigenvalues. Deitmar asks in [31, §4] whether the condition of uniform discreteness is actually needed. We will see in Section 4.3 that by a careful analysis of the accumulation rate of eigenvalues in Plancherel sequences one can establish

Theorem 1.1.3. Let $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a Plancherel-convergent sequence of smooth closed hyperbolic surfaces. Then there exists a constant c_A such that

$$N(X_j, x) \le c_A \operatorname{vol}(X_j)(1+x).$$
 (1.2)

This is sufficient to remove the assumption of uniform discreteness from Theorem 1.1.2. Next, Deitmar considered in [31, §4] the limit of $\operatorname{vol}(X_j)^{-1}\Lambda_j(s)$ for $s \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re}(s) \leq 1$. In this range the functions $\{\Lambda_j\}_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ may have poles for

$$s \in \mathscr{P} = \{-k \mid k \in \mathbb{N}_0\} \cup [0,1] \cup (\frac{1}{2} + i\mathbb{R}),\$$

which we will avoid for the moment. The functional equation of Λ_j (see e.g. [31, Prop. 3.4]) allows one to deal with those $s \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathscr{P}$ such that $\operatorname{Re}(s) < 0$. It remains to determine what happens for s sitting inside the critical strip

$$S = \{ s \in \mathbb{C} \mid 0 \le \operatorname{Re}(s) \le 1 \}.$$

In Section 4.4 we will employ a formula of McKean to compute the limit of $\operatorname{vol}(X_j)^{-1}\Lambda_j(s)$ for all s in

$$U_1 = \{s \in \mathbb{C} \mid \operatorname{Re}(s) > \frac{1}{2}, \operatorname{Re}(s(s-1)) > -\frac{1}{4}, s \notin \mathscr{P}\}.$$

If for $s \in \mathbb{C} \smallsetminus \mathscr{P}$ we let

$$F(s) = \begin{cases} 0, \ \operatorname{Re}(s) > \frac{1}{2}, \\ (s - \frac{1}{2}) \cot(\pi s), \ \operatorname{Re}(s) < \frac{1}{2}, \end{cases}$$

our final result of Chapter 4 is

Theorem 1.1.4. Let $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of smooth closed hyperbolic surfaces. The following two statements are equivalent:

- 1. The sequence $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is Plancherel convergent.
- 2. For each $s \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathscr{P}$ such that either $s \in U_1$, $\operatorname{Re}(s) < 0$ or $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$ one has

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\Lambda_j(s)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} = F(s)$$

The values $s \in \mathbb{C}$, for which the behaviour of the logarithmic derivative of the Selberg zeta function is known, are sketched in Figure 4.1.



Figure 1.1: The values $s \in \mathbb{C}$ from Theorem 1.1.4.

Finally, in Chapter 5 we discuss the behaviour of $\operatorname{vol}(X_j)^{-1}\Lambda_j(s)$ for $s \in \mathscr{P}$ in a few arithmetic scenarios. We will use the Euler-Selberg constant (cf. [46])

$$\gamma_X = \lim_{s \to 1} \left(\Lambda_X(s) - \frac{1}{s-1} \right)$$

as a replacement for the logarithmic derivative of the Selberg zeta function Λ_X at s = 1.

Proposition 1.1.5. Let $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of smooth closed congruence surfaces with $\operatorname{vol}(X_j) \to \infty$. Then for $s \in (\frac{39}{64}, 1)$ one has

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\Lambda_j(s)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} = 0$$

and

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\gamma_{X_j}}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} = 0$$

Here, one utilizes a well-known uniform lower bound for the first eigenvalue of congruence surfaces (see Theorem 5.3.1). However, this may change, if there is no such bound:

Proposition 1.1.6. There exist a Plancherel-convergent sequence of arithmetic surfaces $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\gamma_{X_j}}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} = l_0 > 0$$

for some positive constant l_0 .

This suggests that for $s \in \mathscr{P}$ the behaviour of $\operatorname{vol}(X_j)^{-1}\Lambda_j(s)$ is not determined by $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ being a Plancherel sequence and that additional information about the spectral geometry of the surfaces $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is needed.

1.2 Comparison to the Literature

The subject started with DeGeorge and Wallach [100] establishing the limit multiplicity property (see Section 2.11) for towers in a semisimple Lie group G. Here, a tower is a sequence of cocompact lattices $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ in G such that each Γ_j is a normal subgroup of Γ_1 and

$$\Gamma_j \supset \Gamma_{j+1}, \qquad \bigcap_{j=1}^{\infty} \Gamma_j = \{1\}$$
 (1.3)

holds. The limit multiplicity property is a well-studied subject (see e.g. [33, 26, 40, 80, 34]). Sauvageot [84] showed that the limit multiplicity property of a sequence of lattices $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ follows from establishing Plancherel convergence of $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$. In the more recent breakthrough [1] it was shown that a uniformly discrete sequence $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is Plancherel convergent, if it is Benjamini-Schramm convergent¹ (BS-convergent for short). The authors of [1] then established that any sequence $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ of non-conjugate lattices in a semisimple Lie group of rank greater than 1 is BS-convergent. Since uniform discreteness for these lattices is a well-known consequence of the Lehmer conjecture (cf. [61, p. 322]) this essentially closes the case of higher rank Lie groups. Raimbault [78] and

¹The definition of Benjamini-Schramm convergence can also be found in Section 2.11.

Matz [64] dealt with certain sequences of lattices $(\Gamma_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ in semisimple Lie groups of rank one, for which the degrees of the associated trace fields $F(\Gamma_i)$ are uniformly bounded. Fraczyk [43] then established Plancherel convergence for arbitrary cocompact torsion-free congruence lattices in the groups $PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$ and $PSL_2(\mathbb{C})$. Later on, Fraczyk and Raimbault [44] removed the assumption on torsion elements. The main insight of Fraczyk was to use the Bilu equidistribution principle (cf. [8]) to establish bounds, which are uniform in the degree of the trace fields. We will also make use of these bounds, but do not need his bounds on characters of *p*-adic groups. The case of non-cocompact principal congruence subgroups of $PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$ had already been dealt with by Sarnak [82]. Bergeron and Venkatesh [7] studied the asymptotics of analytic torsion in BSconvergent sequences and were able to establish convergence in the strongly acyclic case. Numerical data by Sengün [88] suggests that the results of Bergeron and Venkatesh should be true without assuming strong acyclicity, but, to the best knowledge of the author, this has not yet been shown (cf. [78]). Further interesting references on this topic include [5, 6, 14]. Another direction of research is the relation between Benjamini-Schramm convergence and quantum ergodicity (cf. [58]). Furthermore, BS-convergence can also be extended to more general situations (see [30]). In this thesis, we will focus on the relationship between BS-convergence and zeta functions described by Deitmar in [31].

Chapter 2

Preliminaries

2.1 The Geometry of the Upper Half-Plane

Let us recall some standard material regarding the geometry of the hyperbolic plane. Any further information can be found in [3] and [53]. The *upper half-plane* \mathcal{H} is the set

$$\mathcal{H} = \{ x + iy \in \mathbb{C} \mid x \in \mathbb{R}, \ y \in \mathbb{R}_{>0} \}.$$

$$(2.1)$$

If we equip \mathcal{H} with the so-called *hyperbolic metric* $ds^2 = (dx^2 + dy^2)/y^2$, it becomes a model for the hyperbolic plane. In this model, the geodesics have the following elegant description:

Theorem 2.1.1. The geodesics in the hyperbolic plane \mathcal{H} consist of straight lines and semicircles, which meet the boundary of \mathcal{H} orthogonally.

Proof. [3, Thm. 7.3.1]



Figure 2.1: Geodesics in the upper half-plane

We have an action of the special linear group

$$\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{R}) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in M_2(\mathbb{R}) \middle| ad - bc = 1 \right\}$$

on the upper half-plane \mathcal{H} , which for $g = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ and $z \in \mathcal{H}$ is given by

$$\phi_g(z) = \frac{az+b}{cz+d}$$

Since the center $Z(SL_2(\mathbb{R})) = \{\pm \mathbb{1}_2\}$ of $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ acts trivially, we get an action of the projective special linear group $PSL_2(\mathbb{R}) = SL_2(\mathbb{R})/\{\pm \mathbb{1}_2\}$ on \mathcal{H} .

Remark 2.1.2. We want to warn the reader that we will not distinguish between a matrix $g \in SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ and its projection $[g] \in PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$. Whenever it is necessary, we assume that a lift of [g] with non-negative trace has been fixed and simply represent [g] by the matrix of this lift. When speaking of the matrix [g], we mean the matrix of the lift of [g]. This is a common abuse of notation and significantly improves the readibility of any argument involving elements $[g] \in PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$.

Any of the maps ϕ_g for $g \in PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$ is an orientation-preserving isometry of the upper half-plane. The converse statement is also true:

Theorem 2.1.3. The group of orientation-preserving isometries of the hyperbolic plane consists of the Möbius transformations $\{\phi_q \mid g \in PSL_2(\mathbb{R})\}$.

With the above theorem, one can classify isometries of the upper half-plane in terms of properties of the corresponding matrices $g \in PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$. We call an element $g \in PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$

- hyperbolic, if $|\operatorname{tr} g| > 2$,
- *elliptic*, if $|\operatorname{tr} g| < 2$,
- parabolic, if $|\operatorname{tr} g| = 2$.

Any hyperbolic element $\gamma \in \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ fixes exactly two points on the extended boundary $\partial_{\infty} \mathcal{H} = \mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\}$ of \mathcal{H} . The unique geodesic connecting these fixed points is called the *axis* of γ and denoted A_{γ} . Conversely, any geodesic of the hyperbolic plane appears as the axis of some hyperbolic element $\gamma \in \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R})$. Note that an element $\gamma \in \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ is hyperbolic, if and only if it is conjugate in $\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ to a matrix of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} \tau_{\gamma} & 0\\ 0 & \tau_{\gamma}^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

with $\tau_{\gamma} > 1$. The eigenvalues $\tau_{\gamma}^{\pm 1}$ are roots of the characteristic polynomial

$$p_{\gamma}(x) = x^2 - \operatorname{tr}(\gamma) \ x + 1,$$
 (2.2)

and are given by

$$\tau_{\gamma}^{\pm 1} = \frac{\operatorname{tr} \gamma \pm \sqrt{(\operatorname{tr} \gamma)^2 - 4}}{2}.$$
(2.3)

The Weyl discriminant d_{γ} of γ is given by

$$d_{\gamma} = (1 - \tau_{\gamma})(1 - \tau_{\gamma}^{-1}). \tag{2.4}$$

2.2 Geometry of Hyperbolic Surfaces

In this section we will use the well-understood geometry of the upper half-plane to derive results about the geometry of smooth closed hyperbolic surfaces. Our exposition is based on [3, 53, 17].

A discrete subgroup Γ of $PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$ is called a *Fuchsian group*. Any elliptic element x of a Fuchsian group has finite order. We will call an element of finite order a *torsion element*. If a Fuchsian group Γ does not contain any torsion-elements, it is said to be *torsion-free*. A Fuchsian group is called *purely hyperbolic*, if every non-trivial element $\gamma \in \Gamma$ is hyperbolic. A Fuchsian group Γ is said to be *cocompact*, if the quotient space $\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$ is compact.

Theorem 2.2.1. Let Γ be a Fuchsian group.

- 1. The quotient space $\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$ is compact if and only if $\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}) < \infty$ and the Fuchsian group Γ does not contain any parabolic elements.
- 2. If Γ is torsion-free, the quotient $\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$ carries a uniquely determined complete hyperbolic structure such that the natural projection $\pi : \mathcal{H} \to \Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$ is a local isometry.
- 3. Any smooth closed hyperbolic surface X is of the form $X = \Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$ with Γ a purely hyperbolic group. For such a group Γ we have an isomorphism $\Gamma \cong \pi_1(X)$.
- 4. Let Γ_1, Γ_2 be purely hyperbolic groups. Then $\Gamma_1 \setminus \mathcal{H}$ and $\Gamma_2 \setminus \mathcal{H}$ are conformally equivalent if and only there exists $x \in PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$ with $\Gamma_2 = x\Gamma_1 x^{-1}$.

Proof. The first statement is proven in [53, Cor. 4.2.7]. For the statement regarding torsion-free Fuchsian groups we refer to [17, Thm. 1.2.4]. The last two statements¹ are given in [52, Thm. 4.19.8] and [52, Thm. 5.9.3]. \Box

Given a smooth closed hyperbolic surface X, we will always assume to have fixed some purely hyperbolic Fuchsian group Γ with $X \cong \Gamma \backslash \mathcal{H}$. We write g = g(X) for the *genus* of X. We note that the Gauss-Bonnet theorem implies

$$\operatorname{vol}(X) = 4\pi(g-1).$$
 (2.5)

Next we want to study closed geodesics on hyperbolic surfaces.

Theorem 2.2.2. Let X be a smooth closed hyperbolic surface and $c : [0, 1] \to X$ be a continuous, closed curve on X. In the homotopy class [c] of c there exists a unique curve of minimal length. This curve is a closed geodesic.

Proof. [17, Thm. 1.5.3]

It is clear from the above theorem that hyperbolic elements $\gamma \in \Gamma \cong \pi_1(X)$ are closely related to closed geodesics on X. This can be made more precise (cf. e.g. [45, Prop. 9]):

 $^{^{1}}$ The third statement is not directly the statement given in [52, Thm. 4.19.8], but follows from it and the remark before [52, Thm. 5.9.3].

Proposition 2.2.3. Let X be a smooth closed hyperbolic surface with associated Fuchsian group Γ . Then there is a bijection between Γ -conjugacy classes of hyperbolic elements $\gamma \in \Gamma$ and closed geodesics $c(\gamma)$. Under this correspondence, the length of $c(\gamma)$ is given by $l_{\gamma} = 2 \log \tau_{\gamma}$, where τ_{γ} is the larger of the two eigenvalues of γ .

Proof. Let $\gamma \in \Gamma$ be a hyperbolic element. After possibly conjugating the group Γ we may assume

$$\gamma = \begin{pmatrix} \tau_{\gamma} & 0\\ 0 & \tau_{\gamma}^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then the axis of γ is given by $A_{\gamma} = i\mathbb{R}_{>0}$. For any $z \in A_{\gamma}$ we have

$$\gamma.z = \tau_{\gamma}^2 z \in A_{\gamma}$$

so that A_{γ} projects down to a closed geodesic $c(\gamma)$ on $\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$. A quick integration shows that the length of this geodesic is given by $l_{\gamma} = 2 \log \tau_{\gamma}$.

For the converse direction, let c be a closed geodesic on $\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$. By [17, Thm. 1.4.4], we can lift it to a geodesic \tilde{c} in \mathcal{H} . The stabilizer of the action of Γ on \tilde{c} contains a hyperbolic element γ such that $c = c(\gamma)$.

From now on, we will not distinguish between a hyperbolic transformation γ and the corresponding geodesic $c(\gamma)$ from Proposition 2.2.3 and write γ for both objects. When speaking of the length of a hyperbolic element $\gamma \in \Gamma$, we mean the quantity $l_{\gamma} = 2 \log \tau_{\gamma}$, where $\tau_{\gamma} > 1$ is the larger eigenvalue of γ . The following is a typical feature of closed geodesics on hyperbolic surfaces:

Theorem 2.2.4. Let X be a smooth closed hyperbolic surface and fix some c > 0. Then there exist only finitely many closed geodesics on X of length $\leq c$.

Proof. [17, Thm. 1.6.11]

In particular, there exists a closed geodesic γ_s of shortest length l_s on X. The number $l_s = l_s(X)$ is called the *systole* (or *systolic length*) of X. Let us write $\sigma_L(X)$ for the set of lengths of closed geodesics on X. Then the above theorem shows that the multiplicity m(l) for any length $l \in \sigma_L(X)$ is finite. Hence, we can define the *length spectrum*

$$\operatorname{Spec}_{L}(X) = \{(l, m(l)) \mid l \in \sigma_{L}(X)\}$$

of X. The length spectrum of $X = \Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$ is also denoted by $\operatorname{Spec}_L(\Gamma)$. We will sometimes write m(l, X) or $m(l, \Gamma)$ instead of m(l), when dealing with more than one surface.

Remark 2.2.5. Let Γ be a cocompact torsion-free Fuchsian group. From Proposition 2.2.3 we see that all hyperbolic elements $\gamma \in \Gamma$ of fixed length l fall into finitely many Γ -conjugacy classes

$$[\gamma_1]_{\Gamma}, ..., [\gamma_s]_{\Gamma}$$

where the number s of these classes is equal to m(l). This is a purely algebraic description of the length spectrum, which will be carried over to Fuchsian groups, which might be neither cocompact nor torsion-free.

For $\gamma \in \Gamma$ a hyperbolic element in a Fuchsian group we let

$$\Gamma_{\gamma} = \{ x \in \Gamma \mid x \gamma x^{-1} = \gamma \}$$

be the centralizer of γ . The centralizer is cyclic [3, Thm. 8.1.2] and we call any element $\gamma_0 \in \Gamma$ with $\Gamma_{\gamma} = \langle \gamma_0 \rangle$ a primitive element or a prime geodesic. Throughout this thesis, we always let γ_0 be the prime geodesic underlying γ . A hyperbolic element $\gamma \in \Gamma$ is called simple, if for all $x \in \Gamma$ either $xA_{\gamma}x^{-1} = A_{\gamma}$ or $xA_{\gamma}x^{-1} \cap A_{\gamma} = \emptyset$ holds. Otherwise, we say that γ is non-simple. We note that γ is simple if and only if the corresponding geodesic has no self-intersections [60, Lemma 5.3.10]. We will see in the next section that simple geodesics play an important role for the geometry of hyperbolic surfaces.

2.3 Decompositions of Hyperbolic Surfaces

Next we want to discuss certain decompositions of smooth closed hyperbolic surfaces. Our main sources for this material are [17, §3] and [17, §4]. Let X be a smooth closed hyperbolic surface and h be the Riemannian metric on X. For $p \in X$ we write

$$\exp_n: T_pX \to X$$

for the exponential map at $p \in X$, which is defined as follows: Every non-zero tangent vector $v \in T_p X$ defines a unique geodesic tangential to v, which starts at p. One follows that geodesic for time $||v||_h = h_p(v,v)^{1/2}$ to reach a point, which is denoted $\exp_p(v)$. Finally, one sets $\exp_p(0) = p$. The injectivity radius $r_p(X)$ of X at a point $p \in X$ is the supremum of all r > 0 such that $\exp_p(v)$ is injective on the open ball $U_r = \{v \in T_p X : ||v||_h < r\}$. Points with small injectivity radius lie in certain subsets of X, whose geometry do not depend on the ambient surface X:

Theorem 2.3.1. Let X be a smooth closed hyperbolic surface and γ_i , $i = 1, ..., m_X$, be the closed geodesics of length $l_i = l(\gamma_i) \leq 1$. Then the following hold:

- 1. $m_X \leq 3g 3$.
- 2. The tubes

$$T_{\gamma_i} = \{ p \in X \mid \operatorname{dist}(p, \gamma_i) \le w_i \}$$

of widths

 $w_i = \operatorname{arcsinh}(1/\sinh(l_i/2))$

are pairwise disjoint for $i = 1, ..., m_X$.

3. Each tube T_{γ_i} is isometric to a cylinder $[-w_i, w_i] \times \mathbb{S}^1$ equipped with the Riemannian metric

$$ds^2 = dr^2 + l_i^2 \cosh^2 r \ dt^2.$$

- 4. The injectivity radius $r_p(X)$ for $p \in X \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{m_X} T_{\gamma_i}$ is bounded from below by $\operatorname{arcsinh}(1)$.
- 5. If $p \in T_{\gamma_i}$ and $d = \operatorname{dist}(p, \partial T_{\gamma_i})$, then

$$\sinh r_p(X) = \cosh(l_i/2) \cosh d - \sinh d$$

Proof. All of the statements can be found in [17, §4].

A closed geodesic of length $l \leq 1$ is called *short*. The coordinates for the tube coming from the third statement will be called *Fermi coordinates* for the tube T_{γ_i} .



Figure 2.2: A tube T_{γ} around a short geodesic γ .

For technical reasons², we will actually work with the truncated tubes

$$T'_{\gamma_i} = \{ p \in X \mid \operatorname{dist}(p, \gamma_i) \le w_i - 1 \}.$$

We will call

$$X' = \bigcup_{i=1}^{m_X} T'_{\gamma_i}$$

the thin part of X, the complement $X'' = X \setminus X'$ the thick part of X and refer to $X = X' \cup X''$ as the thick-thin decomposition of X. While the geometry of the thin part is described by Theorem 2.3.1, points in the thick part are contained in geodesic balls of uniform size. In this sense, the thick-thin decomposition gives a description of the local geometry of hyperbolic surfaces.

 $^{^2 \}rm Roughly speaking, one needs a description of the geometry close to the boundary of the thin part (see Lemma 4.3.3).$

Remark 2.3.2. It would actually be better to speak of "a" thick-thin decomposition, as the precise meaning of the thick and thin part usually is chosen to suit the circumstances (cf. [20]).

Next, we want to lose a few words regarding the decomposition of a closed hyperbolic surface into pairs of pants. We recall that a compact topological surface is said to have signature (g, n), if it is obtained from a closed topological surface by removing the interior of n disjoint closed topological disks. A compact Riemann surface of signature (0,3) is called a Y-piece or a pair of pants. For any triple of positive real numbers l_1, l_2, l_3 there exists a pair of pants Y_{l_1, l_2, l_3} with boundary geodesics $\gamma_1, \gamma_2, \gamma_3$ of respective lengths $l_i = l_{\gamma_i}$ (see [17, Thm. 3.1.7]).

Theorem 2.3.3. Let X be a smooth compact hyperbolic surface of genus g. Let $\gamma_1, ..., \gamma_m$ be pairwise disjoint simple closed geodesics on X. Then the following hold:

- 1. $m \leq 3g 3$.
- 2. There exist simple closed geodesics $\gamma_{m+1}, ..., \gamma_{3g-3}$, which together with $\gamma_1, ..., \gamma_m$ decompose X into Y-pieces.

Proof. [17, Thm. 4.1.1]

2.4 The Spectrum of the Laplace Operator

Let X be a smooth closed manifold equipped with a Riemannian metric h and let μ_h be the associated measure on X. Let $L^2(X)$ be the space of square-integrable functions f on X. On $L^2(X)$ we have an inner product given by

$$(f_1, f_2)_2 = \int_X f_1 f_2 \ d\mu_h.$$

and an associated norm $||f||_2 = (f, f)^{\frac{1}{2}}$. Let $\mathfrak{X}(X)$ be the space of smooth vector fields on X. The *de Rham-differential* of a smooth function $f \in C^{\infty}(X)$ is the one-form on X given by df(V) = Vf, where $V \in \mathfrak{X}(X)$. The inner product $(\cdot, \cdot)_2$ allows us to define the adjoint $\delta = d^*$ of the de Rham-differential. The *Laplace operator* Δ acts on smooth functions via

$$\Delta f = \delta df, \qquad f \in C^{\infty}(X). \tag{2.6}$$

In local coordinates, the Laplacian can be written as

$$-\Delta = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\det h}} \sum_{i,j} \partial_i \left(\sqrt{\det h} \ h^{ij} \partial_j \right)$$
(2.7)

(see e.g. [91, §22.1]), where det h is the determinant of absolute value of the metric tensor (h_{ij}) and $h^{ij} = (h^{-1})_{ij}$ is the inverse of the metric tensor. The

operator given by the right-hand side of (2.6) extends to a self-adjoint operator Δ on the Sobolev space $\mathscr{H}(X)$, which is the completion of $C^{\infty}(X)$ in the norm

$$||f||^2 = ||f||_2^2 + ||\operatorname{grad} f||_2^2,$$

where $\operatorname{grad} f$ is unique vector field on X such that

$$df(V) = h(V, \operatorname{grad} f), \quad \text{for all } V \in \mathfrak{X}(X).$$

Theorem 2.4.1. The operator spectrum $\sigma(\Delta)$ of Δ consists of a sequence of eigenvalues

$$0 = \lambda_0 < \lambda_1 < \lambda_2 < \cdots \nearrow +\infty,$$

where the multiplicity $m(\lambda)$ of each eigenvalue $\lambda \in \sigma(\Delta)$ is finite.

Proof. [17, Thm. 7.2.6]

We call the list of tuples

$$\operatorname{Spec}_{\Delta}(X) = \{(\lambda, m(\lambda)) \mid \lambda \in \sigma(\Delta)\}$$

the spectrum of the Laplace operator³ on X or the Laplace spectrum of X. Occasionally, we will write $\lambda_k(X)$ in place of λ_k to emphasize the dependence on X. We will sometimes write $m(\lambda, X)$ for the multiplicity of a Laplace eigenvalue λ , when there is some danger of confusion. We call two smooth closed manifolds X_1 and X_2 isospectral, if $\text{Spec}_{\Delta}(X_1) = \text{Spec}_{\Delta}(X_2)$. The counting function of the Laplace operator is given by

$$N(X, x) = \sum_{\lambda \le x} m(\lambda).$$

Let us from now on assume that X is a smooth closed hyperbolic surface of genus g. A Laplace eigenvalue λ of Δ is said to be *small*, if $\lambda < \frac{1}{4}$. There are plenty of good reasons to distinguish the eigenvalues below $\frac{1}{4}$ from those above $\frac{1}{4}$. For example, the number of small eigenvalues is bounded by the topology alone (cf. [76]),

$$\lambda_{2g-2}(X) \ge \frac{1}{4},$$

while the same is not true for the remainder of the spectrum:

Theorem 2.4.2. Let $g \ge 2$ be fixed. For any $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and for arbitrarily small $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a smooth closed surface X of genus g such that $\lambda_k(X) \le \frac{1}{4} + \varepsilon$.

Proof. [17, Thm. 8.1.2]

³Note that, in our choice of convention, the spectrum of the Laplace operator is different from the operator spectrum $\sigma(\Delta)$ of Δ , as $\sigma(\Delta)$ does not keep track of the multiplicities of the eigenvalues.

Finally, we note that the first eigenvalue $\lambda_1(X)$ can be controlled by the *Cheeger constant*

$$h(X) = \inf \frac{l_u}{\min\{\operatorname{vol}(A), \operatorname{vol}(B)\}},$$
(2.8)

where u ranges over the set of all finite unions of piecewise smooth curves on X, which separate X into two disjoint subsets A and B.

Theorem 2.4.3 (Buser-Cheeger inequality).

$$\frac{1}{4}h^2(X) \le \lambda_1(X) \le 2h(X) + 10h^2(X)$$
(2.9)

Proof. The left-hand side is the well-known Cheeger inequality [24], while the right-hand side is due to Buser [16]. \Box

2.5 Harmonic Analysis on Locally Compact Groups

Next we want to introduce some basic terminology and fundamental facts from the theory of harmonic analysis on locally compact groups. Our main references on this subject are [42] and [32].

Let G be a locally compact group, i.e. a topological group, whose topology is locally compact and Hausdorff. A left (respectively right) Haar measure on G is a non-zero Radon measure μ_G on G that satisfies $\mu_G(xE) = \mu_G(E)$ (respectively $\mu_G(Ex) = \mu_G(E)$) for every Borel set $E \subset G$ and $x \in G$. Every locally compact group possesses a Haar measure and such a measure is unique up to multiples. The group G is said to be unimodular, if any left Haar measure is also a right Haar measure. We assume from now on that a Haar measure μ_G has been fixed and write

$$\int_G f(x)d\mu_G(x) = \int_G f(x)dx$$

for the corresponding Haar integral. A unitary representation of G is a homomorphism from G into the group $\mathcal{U}(H_{\pi})$ of unitary operators on some non-zero Hilbert space H_{π} that is continuous in the strong operator topology. If such a representation π admits a proper invariant subspace, it is said to be *reducible*. Otherwise, π is called *irreducible*. Two unitary representations $\pi_1 : G \to \mathcal{U}(H_{\pi_1})$ and $\pi_2 : G \to \mathcal{U}(H_{\pi_2})$ are called (unitarily) *equivalent*, if and only if there exists a unitary operator $U : H_{\pi_1} \to H_{\pi_2}$ such that $\pi_2(x) = U\pi_1(x)U^{-1}$ for each $x \in G$. The set of equivalence classes of irreducible unitary representations of G is denoted by \hat{G} and called the *unitary dual* of G. We will always assume to have fixed some representantive π in an equivalence class $[\pi] \in \hat{G}$ and omit the brackets from now on. We equip \hat{G} with the so-called⁴ Fell topology. To any $f \in L^1(G)$ we associate the measurable field of operators over \hat{G}

$$\widehat{f}(\pi) = \int_G f(x)\pi(x^{-1})dx,$$

⁴The definition of the Fell topology can be found in [42, $\S7.2$].

which is referred to as the *Fourier transform* of f. There exists a Radon measure μ_{Pl} on the unitary dual \hat{G} , for which under certain technical assumptions⁵ a Plancherel theorem holds:

Theorem 2.5.1. Suppose G is a second countable unimodular type I group. The Fourier transform $f \mapsto \hat{f}$ maps $L^1(G) \cap L^2(G)$ into $\int_{\widehat{G}} H_{\pi} \otimes H_{\overline{\pi}} d\mu_{\mathrm{Pl}}(\pi)$ and extends to a unitary map from $L^2(G)$ onto $\int_{\widehat{G}} H_{\pi} \otimes H_{\overline{\pi}} d\mu_{\mathrm{Pl}}(\pi)$.

Proof. The proof can be found in [36, §18.8].

The measure μ_{Pl} from Theorem 2.5.1 is called the *Plancherel measure* of \widehat{G} and is unique, once the Haar measure on G has been fixed. A representation $\pi \in \widehat{G}$ is said to be *tempered*, if it lies in the support of the Plancherel measure. Let us write $\widehat{G}_{\text{temp}}$ for the set of tempered representations.

2.6 Representation Theory of $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$

In this section we describe the unitary dual of the group $G = \text{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ and the corresponding Plancherel measure on \widehat{G} . For any further details we refer the reader to [55].

We equip $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ with the unique Haar measure μ such that $\mu(K) = 1$, where K = SO(2) is the maximal compact subgroup of $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$. The unitary dual of $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ is explicitly known:

Theorem 2.6.1. Each irreducible unitary representation of $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ is, up to equivalence, contained on the following list:

- the trivial representation π_1 ,
- the principal series $\widehat{G}^+_{\text{prin}} = \{\pi^+_{i\nu} \mid \nu \in \mathbb{R}_{\geq 0}\}$ and $\widehat{G}^-_{\text{prin}} = \{\pi^-_{i\nu} \mid \nu \in \mathbb{R}_{> 0}\},\$
- the complementary series $\widehat{G}_{\text{comp}} = \{\pi_{\nu}^+ \mid \nu \in (0, \frac{1}{2})\},\$
- the (limits of) discrete series $\widehat{G}_{\text{disc}} = \{\delta_m^{\pm} \mid m \in \mathbb{N}\}$

All of these representations are irreducible and no two irreducible representations from this list are equivalent.

Proof. [55, Thm. 16.3]

In Figure 2.3 we have sketched the unitary dual of $\text{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ with respect to the Fell topology (cf. [42, Fig. 7.3]). Note that the dotted lines describe non-Hausdorff points, meaning for example that the trivial representation π_1 cannot be separated from δ_2^{\pm} in this topology and these three points are limit points of the complementary series representation π_{ν}^+ for $\nu \to \frac{1}{2}$.

⁵The rather technical definition of a group of type I is given on page 206 of [42]. For our purposes, it is enough to know that $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ is of type I [42, Thm. 7.8].



Figure 2.3: The unitary dual of $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$

Let us include an explicit construction of the principal series $\hat{G}_{\text{prin}}^{\pm}$ and complementary series \hat{G}_{comp} from [55, p. VII.1]. For this we recall the *Iwasawa* decomposition G = ANK of G, where K = SO(2) as above and

$$N = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & x \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \middle| x \in \mathbb{R} \right\}, \qquad A = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} y & 0 \\ 0 & y^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \middle| y \in \mathbb{R}_{>0} \right\}$$

(cf. [32, §11.1]). For an element $a_y = \text{diag}(y, y^{-1})$ of A we write $\log a_y = \log y$. Furthermore, let $M = \{\pm \mathbb{1}_2\}$ and B = MAN be a so-called *Borel subgroup* of G. We note that M has two irreducible representations

$$\rho^+(\pm \mathbb{1}_2) = 1, \qquad \rho^-(\pm \mathbb{1}_2) = \pm 1.$$

For $\nu \in \mathbb{C}$ we get a (possibly non-unitary) representation ρ_{ν}^{\pm} of B by

$$\rho_{\nu}^{\pm}(man) = \rho^{\pm}(m)e^{\nu\log a}$$

We will use this representation of B to induce a representation of G. Consider the space

$$V_{\nu}^{\pm} = \{ F \in C(G) \mid \forall x \in G : F(xman) = e^{-(\nu+1/2)\log a} \rho^{\pm}(m) F(x) \}$$

equipped with the norm

$$||F||^2 = \int_K |F(k)|^2 dk.$$

 ${\cal G}$ acts on this space via

$$\pi^{\pm}_{\nu}(g)F(x) = F(g^{-1}x).$$

Completing V_{ν}^{\pm} with respect to $||\cdot||$ yields a Hilbert space H_{ν}^{\pm} and π_{ν}^{\pm} continues to a (possibly non-unitary) representation on H_{ν}^{\pm} . The representations $\pi_{i\nu}^{\pm}$ with $\nu \in \mathbb{R}$ are unitary and, with the exception of $\pi_0^- \cong \delta_1^+ \oplus \delta_1^-$, irreducible. The representations π_{ν}^+ with $\nu \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$ are irreducible and unitary with respect to a suitable inner product on H_{ν}^{\pm} .

Next we want to describe the Plancherel measure on $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$:

Theorem 2.6.2. The Plancherel measure on the unitary dual of $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ is given on the principal series \hat{G}_{prin}^{\pm} and (limits of) discrete series \hat{G}_{disc} by

$$d\mu_{\rm Pl}(\pi_{i\nu}^+) = \nu \tanh(\pi\nu) d\nu, \ d\mu_{\rm Pl}(\pi_{i\nu}^-) = \nu \coth(\pi\nu) d\nu, \ \mu_{\rm Pl}(\{\delta_m^\pm\}) = m - 1,$$

while the complementary series $\widehat{G}_{\text{comp}}$ and the trivial representation π_1 are not contained in the support of μ_{Pl} .

Proof. [42, p.248]

The above theorem shows that the set of tempered representations of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ is given by

$$\widehat{G}_{\text{temp}} = \widehat{G}_{\text{prin}}^+ \cup \widehat{G}_{\text{prin}}^- \cup \{\delta_m^{\pm} \mid m \ge 2\}.$$

Remark 2.6.3. Note that we have changed the normalization chosen in [42, p.248] to fit the normalization of [32, Thm. 11.3.1].

2.7 The Selberg Trace Formula

After introducing the length spectrum $\operatorname{Spec}_L(X)$ and the Laplace spectrum $\operatorname{Spec}_\Delta(X)$ of a smooth closed hyperbolic surface X we now want to discuss the Selberg trace formula, which is a tool to compare these spectra. Our main source on this topic is [32].

Let G be a locally compact group. A subgroup $\Gamma \subset G$ is called *cocompact*, if the quotient $\Gamma \backslash G$ is compact. A discrete subgroup $\Gamma \subset G$ such that $\Gamma \backslash G$ carries a G-invariant Radon measure μ with $\mu(\Gamma \backslash G) < \infty$ is called a *lattice*.

Theorem 2.7.1. Let Γ be a cocompact lattice. Then the representation

$$R: L^2(\Gamma \backslash G) \to L^2(\Gamma \backslash G), \qquad R_y \phi(x) = \phi(xy)$$

decomposes into a direct sum of irreducible representations,

$$L^{2}(\Gamma \backslash G) = \bigoplus_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} N_{\Gamma}(\pi) H_{\pi}, \qquad (2.10)$$

where each representation $\pi \in \widehat{G}$ appears with finite multiplicity $N_{\Gamma}(\pi) \in \mathbb{N}_0$ in (2.10).

Proof. [32, Thm. 9.2.2]

We write \widehat{G}_{Γ} for the set of representations, which appear with non-zero multiplicity in the decomposition (2.10). For $\gamma \in G$ we let

$$G_{\gamma} = \{ x \in G \mid x \gamma x^{-1} = \gamma \}$$

be the centralizer of $\gamma \in G$.

Theorem 2.7.2 (Trace Formula). Let $\Gamma \subset G$ be a cocompact lattice and let $f \in C_c^{\infty}(G)$. For every $\pi \in \widehat{G}_{\Gamma}$ the operator $\pi(f)$ is of trace class and

$$\sum_{\pi \in \widehat{G}_{\Gamma}} N_{\Gamma}(\pi) \operatorname{tr} \pi(f) = \sum_{[\gamma]} \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_{\gamma} \backslash G_{\gamma}) \mathcal{O}_{\gamma}(f), \qquad (2.11)$$

where the sum on the right-hand side runs over all conjugacy classes $[\gamma]$ in the group Γ and $\mathcal{O}_{\gamma}(f)$ denotes the orbital integral

$$\mathcal{O}_{\gamma}(f) = \int_{G_{\gamma} \setminus G} f(x^{-1}\gamma x) dx.$$

Proof. See [32, Thm. 9.3.2] and the notes at the end of Chapter 9 in [32]. \Box

Let us now restrict to the case $G = \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$. Using the Iwasawa decomposition from Section 2.6 we may identify the quotient G/K with the upper half-plane \mathcal{H} via

$$n_x a_y = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & x \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} y & 0 \\ 0 & y^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \longleftrightarrow x + iy \in \mathcal{H}.$$

Under this identification the left action of G on G/K agrees with the action of G on \mathcal{H} described in Section 2.1. Hence, we can write any smooth closed hyperbolic surface $X = \Gamma \backslash \mathcal{H}$ as a double quotient $X = \Gamma \backslash G/K$.

Remark 2.7.3. By our choice of the normalization of the Haar measure, we have $\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}) = \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma \setminus G)$ for $\Gamma \subset G$ a cocompact lattice.

We can use (2.10) to give a decomposition of the L^2 -space

$$L^{2}(X) \cong \bigoplus_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} N_{\Gamma}(\pi) H_{\pi}^{K}, \qquad (2.12)$$

where

$$H_{\pi}^{K} = \{ v \in H_{\pi} \mid \pi(k)v = v \; \forall k \in K \}$$

is the subspace of K-invariant vectors. A representation $\pi \in \widehat{G}$ such that $H_{\pi}^{K} \neq \{0\}$ is called a *representation with a K-invariant vector*. The set of representations with a K-invariant vector is denoted \widehat{G}_{K} . These are given by

$$\widehat{G}_K = \{\pi_1\} \cup \widehat{G}_{\text{comp}} \cup \widehat{G}_{\text{prin}}^+$$

(see [55, Chap. II]). Using our description for the representations π_{ν}^+ from Section 2.6 we quickly see that any K-invariant vector $F_{\nu} \in H_{\nu}^+$ is of the form

$$F_{\nu}(ank) = F_0 e^{-(\nu+1/2)\log c}$$

with $F_0 = F(\mathbb{1}_2) \in \mathbb{C}$ some constant. Since the Laplace operator Δ on the upper half-plane is given by $\Delta = y^2(\partial_x^2 + \partial_y^2)$, these K-invariant vectors are also eigenfunctions of the Laplacian⁶,

$$\Delta F_{\nu} = \left(\frac{1}{4} - \nu^2\right) F_{\nu}.$$

Thus, (2.12) gives the following representation-theoretic interpretation of the Laplace-spectrum:

- The trivial representation π_1 corresponds to the eigenvalue $\lambda_0 = 0$ of multiplicity 1,
- a complementary series representation $\pi_{\nu}^+ \in \widehat{G}_{\text{comp}}$ corresponds to a small eigenvalue $\lambda = \frac{1}{4} \nu^2 < \frac{1}{4}$ and the corresponding multplicities agree, i.e. $m(\lambda) = N_{\Gamma}(\pi_{\nu}^+)$,
- a principal series representation $\pi_{i\nu}^+ \in \widehat{G}_{\text{prin}}^+$ corresponds to a Laplace eigenvalue $\lambda = \frac{1}{4} + \nu^2 \geq \frac{1}{4}$ and we have $m(\lambda) = N_{\Gamma}(\pi_{i\nu}^+)$.

Finally, we note that the map defined by sending any representation $\pi \in \widehat{G}_K$ to the corresponding Laplace eigenvalue defines a homeomorphism $\widehat{G}_K \cong [0, \infty)$. If we let

$$L^{2}(\Gamma \backslash \mathcal{H}) = \mathbb{C} \oplus \bigoplus_{k=0}^{\infty} N_{\Gamma}(\pi_{i\nu_{k}}^{+}) (H_{i\nu_{k}}^{+})^{K}$$

we get the following more explicit version of the Selberg trace formula:

Theorem 2.7.4. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ and let h be a holomorphic function on the strip $\{|\operatorname{im}(z)| < \frac{1}{2} + \varepsilon\}$. Suppose that h is even, i.e. h(z) = h(-z) and that $h(z) = O(|z|^{-2-\varepsilon})$ as $|z| \to \infty$. Then one has

$$\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} h(\nu_k) = \frac{\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma \setminus G)}{4\pi} \int_{\mathbb{R}} rh(r) \tanh(\pi r) dr + \sum_{[\gamma] \neq 1} \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{e^{l_{\gamma}/2} - e^{-l_{\gamma}/2}} \widehat{h}(l_{\gamma}). \quad (2.13)$$

Proof. [32, Thm. 11.4.1]

If we apply (2.13) to $h_t(\nu) = e^{-t(\frac{1}{4}+\nu^2)}$, we can express the heat kernel $\theta(t) = \operatorname{tr} \exp(-t\Delta)$ in terms of the length spectrum,

$$\theta(t) = \sum_{[\gamma]} \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{e^{l_{\gamma}/2} - e^{-l_{\gamma}/2}} \frac{e^{-t/4 - l_{\gamma}^2/4t}}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} + \varphi_0(t) \operatorname{vol}(X),$$
(2.14)

where $\varphi_0(t) = (4\pi)^{-1} \mu_{\rm Pl}(e^{-t\lambda})$ is the fundamental solution of the heat equation at the origin. A careful analysis of (2.14) yields the following:

⁶More precisely, the Laplace operator agrees with the Casimir element Ω_G restricted to *K*-invariant vectors and the Casimir element acts on the *K*-invariant subspace of an irreducible representation by $y^2(\partial_x^2 + \partial_y^2)$.

Theorem 2.7.5 (Huber). Two smooth closed hyperbolic surfaces have the same length spectrum if and only if they have the same Laplace spectrum.

Proof. [17, Thm. 9.2.9]

In Section 3.5 we will see that Huber's theorem can be used to construct examples of isospectral Riemann surfaces, which are not isometric.

2.8 The Selberg Zeta Function

We will now describe some elementary properties of the Selberg zeta function. We refer the reader to [32, §11] for further details.

Recall from Section 2.2 that the number of geodesics of bounded length is finite. Hence, one may study the counting function for the length spectrum

$$\pi_{\Gamma}(x) = \{ [\gamma] \in \Gamma \mid l_{\gamma} \le x \}$$

For the study of the asymptotics of the counting function π_{Γ} Selberg [87] introduced the *Selberg zeta function* ζ_{Γ} given by

$$\zeta_{\Gamma}(s) = \prod_{\gamma} \prod_{k \ge 0} (1 - e^{-(s+k)l_{\gamma}}), \qquad (2.15)$$

where the first product runs over the prime geodesics of $\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$.

Theorem 2.8.1. The product representation (2.15) for $\zeta_{\Gamma}(s)$ converges for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$ and extends to an entire function with the following zeroes:

- For each k ∈ N a zero at s = -k of multiplicity 2(g − 1)(2k + 1), where g is the genus of Γ\H,
- For every eigenvalue $\lambda_k = \frac{1}{4} + \nu_k^2$ of the Laplacian Δ a zero at $s = \frac{1}{2} \pm i\nu_k$ of multiplicity $N_{\Gamma}(\pi_{i\nu_k}^+)$.

Proof. [32, Thm. 11.6.1]

The holomorphic continuation of ζ_{Γ} is achieved by using the Selberg trace formula to express the logarithmic derivative of the Selberg zeta function

$$\Lambda_{\Gamma}(s) = \frac{\zeta_{\Gamma}'(s)}{\zeta_{\Gamma}(s)} = \sum_{[\gamma]} \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{e^{l_{\gamma}/2} - e^{-l_{\gamma}/2}} e^{-(s-1/2)l_{\gamma}}, \ \mathrm{Re}(s) > 1,$$
(2.16)

in terms of the Laplace spectrum of $\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$. Now, applying the standard machinery from analytic number theory to ζ_{Γ} allows one to derive $\pi_{\Gamma}(x) \sim \frac{e^{2x}}{2x}$ (see e.g. [4, §5.4.2]).



Figure 2.4: The zeroes of the Selberg zeta function ζ_{Γ} .

We note that the non-trivial zeroes of ζ_{Γ} are contained in the critical strip

$$S = \{ s \in \mathbb{C} \mid 0 \le \operatorname{Re}(s) \le 1 \}$$

and either lie in the interval [0, 1] or on the critical line $\frac{1}{2} + i\mathbb{R}$. Thus, the Riemann hypothesis holds for the Selberg zeta function if and only if $\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$ does not have non-trivial small eigenvalues, which is expected in certain arithmetic scenarios (cf. Section 5.3).

2.9 Number-Theoretic Preliminaries

We need some standard terminology and results from algebraic number theory. The presented material can be found in most standard textbooks on algebraic number theory such as [71].

Let F be a number field, i.e. a field extension of \mathbb{Q} of finite degree $n = [F : \mathbb{Q}]$. Let $\sigma_1, ..., \sigma_{r_1}$ be the real embeddings and $\sigma_{r_1+1}, ..., \sigma_{r_1+2r_2}$ the complex embeddings of F respectively, where the numbering is chosen so that $\overline{\sigma_{r_1+k}} = \sigma_{r_1+r_2+k}$ for $k = 1, ..., r_2$. These embeddings will be referred to as the *infinite places* of F and we write Ω_{∞} for the set of infinite places. Any prime ideal \mathfrak{p} of F comes with a valuation $v_{\mathfrak{p}}$ and an absolute value $|x|_{\mathfrak{p}} = p^{-v_{\mathfrak{p}}(x)}$, which gives an embedding $\sigma_{\mathfrak{p}}$ of F into a p-adic field $F_{\mathfrak{p}}$. We will refer to the prime ideals as the *finite places* of F. We denote the set of finite places of F by Ω_f and write $\Omega = \Omega_f \cup \Omega_\infty$ for the set of places of F. A proper embedding of F is a ring homomorphism $\iota: F \to \mathbb{R}^{r_1} \times \mathbb{C}^{r_2}$ such that the coordinate projections give all real embeddings and the complex embeddings up to complex conjugation. An order \mathfrak{o} in F is a subring of F containing 1 such that it is a finitely generated \mathbb{Z} -module of rank n. We write \mathfrak{o}^{\times} for the units in the order \mathfrak{o} . For ι a proper embedding of F the number

$$d(\mathbf{o}) = \operatorname{vol}(\mathbb{R}^{r_1} \times \mathbb{C}^{r_2} / \iota(\mathbf{o}))$$

is called the *absolute discriminant* of the order \mathfrak{o} . Note that $d(\mathfrak{o})$ does not depend on the chosen proper embedding. For an order \mathfrak{o} , we let $I(\mathfrak{o})$ be the set of all finitely generated \mathfrak{o} -submodules in F. Then, according to the Jordan-Zassenhaus theorem the set of isomorphism classes $[I(\mathfrak{o})]$ of $I(\mathfrak{o})$ is finite. We let $h(\mathfrak{o})$ be the cardinality of $[I(\mathfrak{o})]$ and call it the *class number* of \mathfrak{o} . There exists a unique maximal order in F, denoted \mathfrak{o}_F , which is called the *ring of integers* of F. We write $h_F = h(\mathfrak{o}_F)$ and $d_F = d(\mathfrak{o}_F)$ for the class number and the discriminant of \mathfrak{o}_F respectively. We write $\mathfrak{o}_{F,\mathfrak{p}}$ for the completion of \mathfrak{o}_F in $F_{\mathfrak{p}}$ and denote the uniformizer of $\mathfrak{o}_{F,\mathfrak{p}}$ by $\pi_{\mathfrak{p}}$. For an order \mathfrak{o} we call the set

$$\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{o}} = \{ x \in \mathfrak{o} \mid x \mathfrak{o}_F \subset \mathfrak{o} \}$$

the *conductor* of \mathfrak{o} . It is an ideal in \mathfrak{o}_F and \mathfrak{o} . The group of units \mathfrak{o}_F^{\times} in \mathfrak{o}_F is described by

Theorem 2.9.1 (Dirichlet's unit theorem). The group of units \mathfrak{o}_F^{\times} is the direct product of the finite cyclic group of roots of unity in F and a free abelian group of rank $r_F = r_1 + r_2 - 1$, i.e.

$$\mathfrak{o}_F^{\times} \cong \mathbb{Z}^{r_F} \times (\mathbb{Z}/w_F\mathbb{Z}),$$

where w_F is the number of roots of unity in F.

Proof. [71, Thm. I.7.4]

Let
$$\varepsilon_1, ..., \varepsilon_{r_F}$$
 be a set of units, which generate the free part of \mathfrak{o}_F^{\times} . For $j = 1, ..., r_F + 1$ let $u_j = 1$, if σ_j is a real embedding and $u_j = 2$ otherwise. Then the $r_F \times (r_F + 1)$ -matrix \widetilde{R} given by

$$\tilde{R}_{i,j} = u_j \log |\sigma_j(\varepsilon_i)|$$

has the property that the sum of any row is zero. Hence, the determinant of any submatrix of \widetilde{R} obtained by deleting one column is independent of that column. This determinant is called the *regulator* R_F of F. The *absolute norm* $N(\mathfrak{a})$ of an ideal \mathfrak{a} in \mathfrak{o}_F is defined to be the cardinality of the finite quotient ring $\mathfrak{o}_F/\mathfrak{a}$. The series

$$\zeta_F(s) = \sum_{\mathfrak{a} \subset \mathfrak{o}_F} N(\mathfrak{a})^{-s},$$

where the sum runs over all ideals in \mathfrak{o}_F , converges absolutely for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$ and extends to a meromorphic function on \mathbb{C} with a single a pole at s = 1 (see [71, Cor. 5.10]). This function ζ_F is called the *Dedekind zeta function* of the number field F. It has a zero of order r_F at s = 0 and the leading term of the Taylor expansion at this point is given by

$$\lim_{s \to 0} \frac{\zeta_F(s)}{s^{r_F}} = -\frac{h_F R_F}{w_F}.$$
(2.17)

Let L/F be a finite Galois extension of F with Galois group

$$\operatorname{Gal}(L/F) = \{ \phi \in \operatorname{Aut}(L) \mid \forall x \in F : \phi(x) = x \}$$

and let

$$N_{L/F}(x) = \prod_{\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(L/F)} \sigma(x), \qquad \operatorname{Tr}_{L/F}(x) = \sum_{\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(L/F)} \sigma(x)$$

be the *relative norm* and *relative trace* of an element $x \in L$ respectively. The relative norm of an ideal is the ideal

$$N_{L/F}(\mathfrak{a}) = \langle N_{L/F}(x) \mid x \in \mathfrak{a} \rangle \subset F.$$

Note that we have $N_{L/\mathbb{Q}}(\mathfrak{a}) = (N(\mathfrak{a}))$ in the above notation. We write $\mathfrak{d}_{L/F}$ for the *relative discriminant* of the extension L/F and note that for a quadratic extension L/F we have the identity

$$d_L = N_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\mathfrak{d}_{L/F})d_F^2.$$

We say that a prime ideal \mathfrak{P} of L lies above a prime ideal \mathfrak{p} of F if $\mathfrak{p} = \mathfrak{P} \cap \mathfrak{o}_F$. The subset of prime ideals of L lying above some fixed prime ideal \mathfrak{p} of \mathfrak{o}_F is denoted by $\Omega_{f,\mathfrak{p}}$. The Galois group $\operatorname{Gal}(L/F)$ acts on $\Omega_{f,\mathfrak{p}}$. For a prime ideal \mathfrak{P} of L we let

$$\operatorname{Gal}(L/F)_{\mathfrak{P}} = \{g \in \operatorname{Gal}(L/F) \mid g\mathfrak{P} = \mathfrak{P}\}$$

be the *decomposition group* of \mathfrak{P} . The action of the decomposition group on the residue class field $\mathbb{L}_{\mathfrak{P}} = \mathfrak{o}_L/\mathfrak{P}$ yields a group homomorphism

$$\phi_{\mathfrak{P}}: \operatorname{Gal}(L/F)_{\mathfrak{P}} \to \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{L}_{\mathfrak{P}}/\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{p}})$$

where $\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{p}} = \mathfrak{o}_F/\mathfrak{p}$. The kernel of this homomorphism $I_{\mathfrak{P}}$ is called the *inertia* subgroup in \mathfrak{P} . The homomorphism $\phi_{\mathfrak{P}}$ is surjective, so that we get an isomorphism $\operatorname{Gal}(L/F)_{\mathfrak{P}}/I_{\mathfrak{P}} \cong \operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{L}_{\mathfrak{P}}/\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{p}})$. Since $\mathbb{L}_{\mathfrak{P}}$ is a finite field, the Galois group $\operatorname{Gal}(\mathbb{L}_{\mathfrak{P}}/\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{p}})$ is a finite cyclic group generated by the *Frobenius homomor*phism

$$\operatorname{Frob}_{\mathfrak{p}} : \mathbb{L}_{\mathfrak{P}} \to \mathbb{L}_{\mathfrak{P}}, \ x \mapsto x^{q},$$

where $q = N(\mathfrak{p})$. If $\rho : \operatorname{Gal}(L/F) \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$ is a finite-dimensional complex representation, we get an action of $\operatorname{Gal}(L/F)_{\mathfrak{P}}/I_{\mathfrak{P}}$ on

$$V^{I_{\mathfrak{P}}} = \{ v \in V : gv = v \ \forall g \in I_{\mathfrak{P}} \}.$$

and the characteristic polynomial $\det(1-z\rho(\operatorname{Frob}_{\mathfrak{p}})|_{V^{I_{\mathfrak{P}}}})$ for $z \in \mathbb{C}$ only depends on \mathfrak{p} . The infinite product

$$\mathcal{L}(s, L/F, \rho) = \prod_{\mathfrak{p}} \det(1 - N(\mathfrak{p})^{-s} \rho(\operatorname{Frob}_{\mathfrak{p}})|_{V^{I_{\mathfrak{P}}}})^{-1},$$

where the product runs over all finite places of F, converges absolutely for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$ and extends to a meromorphic function $\mathcal{L}(s, L/F, \rho)$ on \mathbb{C} (see [71, Thm. VII.12.6]). The function $\mathcal{L}(s, L/F, \rho)$ is called the *Artin L-function* associated to the representation ρ . If the Galois extension L/F is clear from the context we will simply write $\mathcal{L}(s, \rho)$ for the Artin L-function. It is a famous conjecture of Artin (see e.g. [68]) that for any non-trivial irreducible representation ρ the Artin L-function is an entire function. Class field theory yields an answer in the abelian case:

Theorem 2.9.2. Let L/F be a Galois extension such that $\operatorname{Gal}(L/F)$ is an abelian group. If $\rho : \operatorname{Gal}(L/F) \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$ is a non-trivial irreducible representation on a finite-dimensional complex vector space V, the Artin L-function $\mathcal{L}(s,\rho)$ is entire.

Proof. This follows from [71, Thm.VII.10.6], as explained on page 527 in Neukirch's book [71]. \Box

Finally, we note that Artin L-functions appear in the factorization of Dedekind zeta functions:

Theorem 2.9.3. For L/F a Galois extension one has

$$\zeta_L(s) = \zeta_F(s) \prod_{\rho \neq 1} \mathcal{L}(s, \rho)^{\dim \rho}$$

where the product runs over the equivalence classes of all non-trivial irreducible representations ρ of Gal(L/F).

Proof. [71, Cor.VII.10.5]

2.10 Arithmetic Fuchsian Groups

In this section we will describe the construction of arithmetic Fuchsian groups and some parts of the surrounding theory. For further details we refer the reader to standard textbooks such as [53, 60].

Let F be a field of characteristic $\neq 2$. A quaternion algebra \mathcal{A} over F is a 4-dimensional central simple algebra over F. Each quaternion algebra is isomorphic to an algebra $\mathcal{A} = \begin{pmatrix} a, b \\ F \end{pmatrix}$ over F spanned by a basis $\{1, i, j, k\}$ fulfilling the relations

$$i^2 = a, \ j^2 = b, \ k = ij = -ji,$$

where $a, b \in F^*$. On a quaternion algebra \mathcal{A} there exists an involution given by

$$x = x_0 + x_1 i + x_2 j + x_3 k \mapsto \overline{x} = x_0 - x_1 i - x_2 j - x_3 k$$

In terms of this involution one may define the *reduced trace* $\operatorname{trd}(x) = x + \bar{x}$ and the *reduced norm* $\operatorname{nrd}(x) = x \cdot \bar{x}$ of an element $x \in \mathcal{A}$. If each element in \mathcal{A} has an inverse, \mathcal{A} is called a *quaternion division algebra*. From now on, we let F be a number field. For any homomorphism σ of F into another field \mathbb{K} define

$$\mathcal{A}^{\sigma} = \left(\frac{\sigma(a), \sigma(b)}{\sigma(F)}\right), \qquad \mathcal{A}^{\sigma} \otimes \mathbb{K} = \left(\frac{\sigma(a), \sigma(b)}{\mathbb{K}}\right).$$

The quaternion algebra \mathcal{A} is said to be *ramified* at a place v of F, if $\mathcal{A}^{\sigma_v} \otimes F_v$ is a division algebra over F_v . Otherwise, \mathcal{A} is said to be *unramified* at v. Let $\operatorname{Ram}(\mathcal{A})$ be the set of places, at which \mathcal{A} ramifies. Let $\operatorname{Ram}_f(\mathcal{A})$ be the subset of finite places of $\operatorname{Ram}(\mathcal{A})$ and $\operatorname{Ram}_{\infty}(\mathcal{A})$ be the subset of infinite places in $\operatorname{Ram}(\mathcal{A})$. The *discriminant* of \mathcal{A} is the ideal

$$\mathfrak{d}_{\mathcal{A}} = \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in \operatorname{Ram}_f(\mathcal{A})} \mathfrak{p}$$

of F. One can classify quaternion algebras over F according to their ramification behaviour:

Theorem 2.10.1. Let A_1 and A_2 be two quaternion algebras over F. Then A_1 is isomorphic to A_2 as an F-algebra if and only if $\text{Ram}(A_1) = \text{Ram}(A_2)$.

Proof. [60, Thm. 7.3.6]

A quaternion algebra \mathcal{A} is said to be *indefinite*, if there is at least one infinite place, at which \mathcal{A} is unramified. We now further assume that F is a totally real field, i.e. $r_2 = 0$ and any quaternion algebra \mathcal{A} will always be assumed to be unramified at exactly one infinite place. Let $\sigma_1, ..., \sigma_n$ be the n distinct embeddings of F into \mathbb{R} . Over \mathbb{R} , any quaternion algebra is either isomorphic to $M_2(\mathbb{R})$ or the Hamilton quaternions \mathbb{H} and

- $\mathcal{A}^{\sigma_j} \otimes \mathbb{R} \cong M_2(\mathbb{R})$ for exactly one j,
- $\mathcal{A}^{\sigma_i} \otimes \mathbb{R} \cong \mathbb{H}$ for all $1 \leq i \leq n, i \neq j$.

We assume without loss of generality that σ_1 is the unique infinite place, at which \mathcal{A} is unramified. We will in the following always identify F with $\sigma_1(F) \subset \mathbb{R}$ and \mathcal{A} with $\mathcal{A}^{\sigma_1} \subset M_2(\mathbb{R})$, whenever this is necessary.

An order \mathcal{O} in \mathcal{A} is a subring of \mathcal{A} containing 1, which is a Z-submodule of rank 4n. For \mathfrak{p} a prime ideal of F we let $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}} = \mathcal{O} \otimes \mathfrak{o}_{F,\mathfrak{p}}$ be the *localization* of the order \mathcal{O} at \mathfrak{p} . Consider the group of units of reduced norm 1 of an order \mathcal{O} ,

$$\mathcal{O}^1 = \{ x \in \mathcal{O} \mid \operatorname{nrd}(x) = 1 \}.$$

Then \mathcal{O}^1 is a subgroup of $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ and the image $\Gamma(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{O}) = P_{\sigma_1} \mathcal{O}^1$ under the projection map $P_{\sigma_1} : \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})/\{\pm \mathbb{1}_2\}$ is a Fuchsian group (see e.g.

[53, Thm. 5.2.7]). If $\Gamma \subset PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$ is a Fuchsian group, which is a subgroup of finite index in $\Gamma(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{O})$ for some order \mathcal{O} in \mathcal{A} , it is called a *Fuchsian group derived from the quaternion algebra* \mathcal{A} . If a Fuchsian group $\Gamma \subset PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$ is commensurable⁷ with some $\Gamma(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{O})$, it is called an *arithmetic Fuchsian group*. If Γ is an arithmetic Fuchsian group, we will call the the quotient space $\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$ an *arithmetic surface*.

Theorem 2.10.2. A subgroup $\Gamma \subset PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$ is an arithmetic Fuchsian group if and only if $\Gamma^{(2)} = \langle \gamma^2 | \gamma \in \Gamma \rangle$ is derived from a quaternion algebra.

Proof. [53, Thm. 5.3.11]

We note that the wide commensurability⁸ class of an arithmetic Fuchsian group can be classified by the *invariant trace field* $F(\Gamma) = \mathbb{Q}(\operatorname{tr} \Gamma^{(2)})$ and the *invariant quaternion algebra*

$$\mathcal{A}(\Gamma) = \left\{ \sum_{i=1}^{k} a_i \gamma_i \mid a_i \in F(\Gamma), \ \gamma_i \in \Gamma^{(2)} \right\}$$

as follows:

Theorem 2.10.3. Let Γ_1, Γ_2 be arithmetic Fuchsian groups. Then Γ_1 and Γ_2 are commensurable in the wide sense, if and only if $F(\Gamma_1) = F(\Gamma_2)$ and there exists an $F(\Gamma_1)$ -algebra isomorphism $\phi : \mathcal{A}(\Gamma_1) \to \mathcal{A}(\Gamma_2)$.

Proof. [60, Thm. 8.4.6]

Arithmetic Fuchsian groups form an important source of cocompact lattices:

Theorem 2.10.4. Suppose a Fuchsian group Γ is commensurable to some $\Gamma(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{O})$ with \mathcal{O} an order in a quaternion division algebra \mathcal{A} . Then the corresponding arithmetic surface $\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$ is compact.

Proof. [53, Thm. 5.4.1]

Arithmetic surfaces are rare among smooth closed hyperbolic surfaces, in the sense that the moduli space of hyperbolic surfaces of genus g only contains finitely many points, which correspond to arithmetic surfaces:

Theorem 2.10.5. Let T > 0 be given. There are only finitely many conjugacy classes of arithmetic Fuchsian groups Γ such that $vol(\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}) < T$.

Proof. [60, Thm. 11.3.1]

This is a consequence of the following explicit formula for the covolumes of maximal orders:

⁷Recall that two subgroups Γ_1 and Γ_2 of a given group G are called *commensurable*, if $\Gamma_1 \cap \Gamma_2$ is of finite index in both Γ_1 and Γ_2 .

⁸Two subgroups Γ_1 and Γ_2 of a given group G are called *commensurable in the wide sense*, if Γ_1 and a conjugate of Γ_2 are commensurable.

Lemma 2.10.6. Let \mathcal{O} be a maximal order in a quaternion algebra \mathcal{A} and $\Gamma = \Gamma(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{O})$. Then

$$\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma \backslash \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})) = \frac{d_F^{3/2} \zeta_F(2) \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \mid \mathfrak{d}_{\mathcal{A}}} (N(\mathfrak{p}) - 1)}{(4\pi^2)^{n-1}}.$$

Proof. [60, §11.1]

Fix a maximal order \mathcal{O} . A principal congruence subgroup (of \mathcal{O}^1) is a subgroup of \mathcal{O}^1 of the form

$$\mathcal{O}^1(\mathfrak{a}) = \{ x \in \mathcal{O}^1 \mid x - 1 \in \mathfrak{a}\mathcal{O} \},\$$

where \mathfrak{a} is an ideal of F. A congruence subgroup Γ is a subgroup of \mathcal{O}^1 , which contains some principal congruence subgroup $\mathcal{O}^1(\mathfrak{a})$. We will also call the resulting Fuchsian group $P_{\sigma_1}\Gamma \subset \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ a congruence subgroup. The quotient space $\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$ will be called a *congruence surface*.

2.11 Benjamini-Schramm Convergence and Plancherel Convergence

In this section we introduce the notions of Benjamini-Schramm convergence and Plancherel convergence. For simplicity, we will restrict our discussion to cocompact torsion-free lattices in $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$. For the more general setting we refer the reader to [1, 30].

As before, we let $G = \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ and Γ be a cocompact lattice in G. Recall from Theorem 2.7.1 that the representation R on $L^2(\Gamma \backslash G)$ given by $R_y \phi(x) = \phi(xy)$ decomposes into a direct sum of irreducible representations

$$L^{2}(\Gamma \backslash G) = \bigoplus_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} N_{\Gamma}(\pi) H_{\pi},$$

where the multiplicities $N_{\Gamma}(\pi)$ are finite. The spectral measure μ_{Γ} associated with Γ is then defined by

$$\mu_{\Gamma} = \sum_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} N_{\Gamma}(\pi) \delta_{\pi},$$

where δ_{π} is the Dirac measure for $\pi \in \widehat{G}$.

Definition 2.11.1. Let $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of cocompact lattices in $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$. We say that $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ has the *limit multiplicity property*, if

1. for any Jordan-measurable set $A \subset \widehat{G}_{\text{temp}}$ one has

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\mu_{\Gamma_j}(A)}{\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \setminus G)} = \mu_{\operatorname{Pl}}(A),$$

2. for any bounded subset $A \subset \widehat{G} \smallsetminus \widehat{G}_{\text{temp}}$ one has

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\mu_{\Gamma_j}(A)}{\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \setminus G)} = 0$$

It is usually easier to establish the following closely related notion:

Definition 2.11.2. A sequence $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ of cocompact lattices in G is called *Plancherel convergent* (or a *Plancherel sequence*), if for every $f \in C_c^{\infty}(G)$ we have

$$\frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \setminus G)} \mu_{\Gamma_j}(\widehat{f}) \to \mu_{\operatorname{Pl}}(\widehat{f})$$

as $j \to \infty$. We will call a sequence $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ of smooth hyperbolic surfaces $X_j = \Gamma_j \setminus \mathcal{H}$ Plancherel-convergent (or a Plancherel-sequence), if the associated sequence of lattices $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is Plancherel-convergent.

Theorem 2.11.3. Let $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of cocompact lattices in $PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$. If $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a Plancherel sequence, it has the limit multiplicity property.

Proof. This is a well-known consequence of Sauvageot's density principle [84]. \Box

There exists an even weaker notion of convergence, which implies Plancherel convergence in many scenarios (cf. [1]).

Definition 2.11.4. We say that a sequence $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ of smooth closed hyperbolic surfaces is *Benjamini-Schramm convergent* (or BS-convergent), if for every R > 0 one has

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\operatorname{vol}(\{p \in X_j : r_p(X_j) \le R\})}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} = 0.$$

Alternatively, we will say that the associated sequence of cocompact torsion-free lattices $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ defined by $X_j = \Gamma_j \setminus \mathcal{H}$ is Benjamini-Schramm convergent.

We call a sequence of lattices $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ in G uniformly discrete, if there exists a unit neighborhood U in G such that $x^{-1}\Gamma_j x \cap U = \{1\}$ for all $x \in G$ and $j \in \mathbb{N}$. From the characterization of closed geodesics given in Proposition 2.2.3 one may quickly check that a sequence of cocompact torsion-free lattices is uniformly discrete if and only if the systoles $\{l_s(X_j) \mid j \in \mathbb{N}\}$ of the associated surfaces $X_j = \Gamma_j \setminus \mathcal{H}$ are uniformly bounded away from zero. We collect the following important result, which links the notions of convergence just introduced:

Theorem 2.11.5. Let $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of cocompact torsion-free lattices in G.

- 1. If $(\Gamma_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ is Plancherel convergent, it is BS-convergent.
- 2. If $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is BS-convergent and uniformly discrete, it is Plancherel convergent.

Proof. [30, Thm. 2.6]

To investigate examples of Plancherel-convergent and BS-convergent sequences, we note the following explicit criterion for Plancherel convergence:

Proposition 2.11.6. A sequence of smooth closed hyperbolic surfaces $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is Plancherel-convergent if and only if for each c > 0 one has

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} \sum_{l_{\gamma} \le c} m(l_{\gamma}) \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{\sinh(l_{\gamma}/2)} = 0,$$
(2.18)

where the sum runs over the lengths in $\operatorname{Spec}_{L}(X_{j})$.

Proof. We start by showing that (2.18) implies that $(X_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a Plancherelsequence. Let $f \in C_c^{\infty}(G)$ with support sitting in some compact set K_f . Let us abbreviate $B_j = |\operatorname{vol}(X_j)^{-1}\mu_{\Gamma_j}(\widehat{f}) - \mu_{\operatorname{Pl}}(\widehat{f})|$. Applying the trace formula from Section 2.7 to B_j gives

$$B_j = \operatorname{vol}(X_j)^{-1} \left| \sum_{[\gamma] \neq 1} l_{\gamma_0} \int_{G_\gamma \setminus G} f(x^{-1} \gamma x) dx \right|.$$
 (2.19)

Since the orbital integral is conjugation-invariant, we may assume

$$\gamma = \begin{pmatrix} e^{l_\gamma/2} & 0 \\ 0 & e^{-l_\gamma/2} \end{pmatrix}.$$

Let G = ANK be the Iwasawa decomposition from Section 2.6. Since K_f is compact and the matrix trace tr : $SL_2(\mathbb{R}) \to \mathbb{R}$ is continuous, there exists some constant c = c(f) > 0 such that

$$B_{j} \leq \operatorname{vol}(X_{j})^{-1} \sum_{l_{\gamma} \leq c} m(l_{\gamma}) l_{\gamma_{0}} \int_{G_{\gamma} \setminus G} \left| f \left(x^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} e^{l_{\gamma}/2} & 0\\ 0 & e^{-l_{\gamma}/2} \end{pmatrix} x \right) \right| dx, \quad (2.20)$$

where the sum on the right-hand side runs over the lengths in the length spectrum of X_j . A quick computation shows $G_{\gamma} = A$ and we get

$$\begin{split} \int_{G_{\gamma}\backslash G} |f(x^{-1}\gamma x)|dx &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{0}^{2\pi} |f(k_{\theta}^{-1}n_{y}^{-1}\gamma n_{y}k_{\theta})|dyd\theta \\ &= \frac{1}{2\sinh(l_{\gamma}/2)} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \left| f\left(k_{\theta}^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} e^{l_{\gamma}/2} & y \\ 0 & e^{-l_{\gamma}/2} \end{pmatrix} k_{\theta} \right) \right| dyd\theta. \end{split}$$

The integrand on the right-hand side can only be non-zero if

$$\begin{pmatrix} e^{l_{\gamma}/2} & y\\ 0 & e^{-l_{\gamma}/2} \end{pmatrix} \in KK_f K =: K'_f K$$

Since multiplication in G is continuous, the set K'_f is compact. Hence, there exists a constant M_f solely depending on f such that

$$\int_{G_{\gamma}\backslash G} |f(x^{-1}\gamma x)| dx \le \frac{M_f}{\sinh(l_{\gamma}/2)}.$$
(2.21)

Plugging (2.21) into (2.20) yields

$$B_j \le \frac{M_f}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} \sum_{l_\gamma \le c} m(l_\gamma) \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{\sinh(l_\gamma/2)}.$$
(2.22)

and thus (2.18) implies $\lim_{j\to\infty} B_j = 0$.

Let us now prove the converse direction. Let $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a Plancherel-convergent sequence of smooth closed hyperbolic surfaces and let c > 0 be given. We will prove in Theorem 4.1.2 that for $s \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$ one has

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} \sum_{[\gamma] \neq 1} \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{2 \sinh(l_{\gamma}/2)} e^{-(s-1/2)l_{\gamma}} = 0.$$
(2.23)

If we take s = 3/2 in (2.23), we already get (2.18) by observing

$$\sum_{[\gamma]\neq 1} \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{\sinh(l_{\gamma}/2)} e^{-l_{\gamma}} \ge e^{-c} \sum_{l_{\gamma} \le c} m(l_{\gamma}) \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{\sinh(l_{\gamma}/2)}.$$

This concludes the proof.

This allows for the following interesting reformulation of BS-convergence in the uniformly discrete case:

Corollary 2.11.7. Let $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a uniformly discrete sequence of torsion-free cocompact lattices in $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$. Then $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is BS-convergent if and only if for any c > 0 one has

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\pi_{\Gamma_j}(c)}{\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \setminus \mathcal{H})} = 0,$$

where π_{Γ_j} is the counting function of the length spectrum of $X_j = \Gamma_j \setminus \mathcal{H}$.

Proof. Let $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be uniformly discrete and let c > 0 be given. Then we can find constants $C_1, C_2 > 0$ such that

$$C_1 \le \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{\sinh(l_\gamma/2)} \le C_2$$

holds for any length $l_{\gamma} \leq c$ in $\operatorname{Spec}_{L}(X_{j})$. This already given the claim in view of Proposition 2.11.6.

Let us discuss a few examples (and non-examples) of Plancherel convergent and BS-convergent sequences to gain intuition and demonstrate structural features of the theory.

Example 2.11.8. We start with the construction of a sequence of smooth closed hyperbolic surfaces $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$, which is not BS-convergent. For $\varepsilon < 1$ consider the Y-piece Y_{ε} with all three boundary geodesics of length equal to ε . If we glue 2j-2 copies of Y_{ε} along their respective boundary geodesics we get a surface X_j of volume $\operatorname{vol}(X_j) = 4\pi(j-1)$. According to Theorem 2.3.1 this sequence cannot contain any further short geodesics, so that $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is uniformly discrete. Since

$$\frac{\pi_{\Gamma_j}(\varepsilon)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} = \frac{3j-3}{4\pi(j-1)} = \frac{3}{4\pi}$$

this sequence cannot be BS-convergent by Corollary 2.11.7.

Example 2.11.9. Next we construct a Plancherel sequence. Let \mathcal{A} be a quaternion algebra over \mathbb{Q} unramified at the infinite place such that $\operatorname{Ram}(\mathcal{A}) \neq \emptyset$. Hence, we have $\mathcal{A} \neq M_2(\mathbb{Q})$. Fix a maximal order \mathcal{O} in \mathcal{A} and let $(p_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of pairwise non-identical primes. For $j \in \mathbb{N}$ we let I_j be the ideal given by the product $I_j = (p_1)...(p_j)$. We claim that the sequence defined by $\Gamma_j = \mathcal{O}^1(I_j)$ is Plancherel-convergent. To see this let us fix some c > 0. The traces of elements of \mathcal{O} are contained in \mathbb{Z} , so that there exist only finitely many traces below $2 \cosh(c/2)$, say

$$\operatorname{tr} \gamma_1 = t_1, \dots, \operatorname{tr} \gamma_q = t_q. \tag{2.24}$$

for $\gamma_1, ..., \gamma_q \in \mathcal{O}^1$. Now, if an element γ_s of trace t_s with $s \in \{1, ..., q\}$ is contained in $\mathcal{O}^1(I_j)$ we get from the congruence condition $\gamma_s \in 1 + I_j \mathcal{O}$ that

$$t_s - 2 = x p_1 \cdots p_j \tag{2.25}$$

for some $x \in \mathbb{Z}$. This can only happen for finitely many $j \in \{1, ..., j_0\}$. Consequently, any $X_j = \Gamma_j \setminus \mathcal{H}$ with j large enough can neither contain a torsionelement nor a geodesic of length $l \leq c$ and Corollary 2.11.7 implies that $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is Plancherel-convergent.

Example 2.11.10. More generally, we will see in Chapter 3 that any sequence of cocompact torsion-free congruence subgroups $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ with $\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \setminus G) \to \infty$ is Plancherel-convergent.
Chapter 3

Spectra of Arithmetic Surfaces and Plancherel Convergence

3.1 Summary

We have seen at the end of the last chapter that a certain sequence of principal congruence subgroups in a fixed maximal order is Plancherel convergent. It is natural to ask, whether this also holds for arbitrary sequences of (non-conjugate) congruence subgroups. For this reason we need a more in-depth understanding of the length spectra of arithmetic surfaces. We begin this chapter by collecting information about the length spectra of arithmetic surfaces from the literature and recast them in a language suitable for our purpose. Based on this information we then go on to prove

Theorem 3.1.1. Let $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of torsion-free congruence subgroups of $\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ with $\mathrm{vol}(\Gamma_j \setminus G) \to \infty$. Then $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is Plancherel convergent.

The proof of Theorem 3.1.1 will be given in Section 3.7. We note that the analogue of Theorem 3.1.1 for arbitrary sequences of arithmetic surfaces is known to be wrong (cf. [1, p.716]).

3.2 Hyperbolic Transformations and Salem Numbers

The goal of this section is to describe the lengths, which appear in the length spectrum of an arithmetic surface. The material covered here can for example be found in [60, §12] and [45].

Recall from Section 2.2 that the lengths of closed geodesics on the Riemann

surface $X = \Gamma \backslash \mathcal{H}$ are of the form $2 \log \tau_{\gamma}$, where

$$\tau_{\gamma}^{\pm 1} = \frac{\operatorname{tr} \gamma \pm \sqrt{(\operatorname{tr} \gamma)^2 - 4}}{2} \tag{3.1}$$

are the eigenvalues of the hyperbolic transformation $\gamma \in \Gamma$. From now on, we assume that $\Gamma = \Gamma(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{O})$ is always a Fuchsian group derived from a quaternion algebra \mathcal{A} , unless mentioned otherwise. We let $F = F(\Gamma)$ be the invariant trace field with real embeddings $\sigma_1, ..., \sigma_n$, which are chosen so that $\operatorname{Ram}_{\infty}(\mathcal{A}) = \{\sigma_2, ..., \sigma_n\}.$

Proposition 3.2.1. Let $\gamma = \sigma_1(x) \in \Gamma$ be a hyperbolic element. Then $\sigma_j(\operatorname{trd}(x))$ lies in the interval (-2, 2) for j = 2, ..., n.

Proof. For each $j \in \{2, ..., n\}$ we have an isomorphism $\mathcal{A}^{\sigma_j} \otimes \mathbb{R} \cong \mathbb{H}$. Let us fix such an isomorphism for j = 2, ..., n and write

$$\sigma_i(x) = x_0 + x_1i + x_2j + x_3k \in \mathbb{H}.$$

Since $\operatorname{nrd}(\sigma_i(x)) = 1$, we have

$$1 = x_0^2 + x_1^2 + x_2^2 + x_3^2$$

and thus

$$|\sigma_j(\operatorname{trd}(x))| = |\operatorname{trd}(\sigma_j(x))| = 2|x_0| \le 2.$$

Because of (3.1) the above proposition shows that all conjugates of τ_{γ} with the exception of τ_{γ}^{-1} lie on the unit circle. This observation connects lengths of closed geodesics to the following class of algebraic integers:

Definition 3.2.2. A Salem number is a real algebraic integer $\tau > 1$ such that all conjugates of τ except τ^{-1} lie on the unit circle.

Remark 3.2.3. One usually requires that Salem numbers have at least one conjugate on the unit circle. This restriction is relevant for some problems such as the distribution of powers of τ modulo 1 (cf. [92, §3.4]), but does not play a role in our case.

Example 3.2.4. The root $\tau_L = 1.17628...$ of the Lehmer polynomial

$$p_L(x) = x^{10} + x^9 - x^7 - x^6 - x^5 - x^4 - x^3 + x + 1$$

is the smallest known Salem number.



Figure 3.1: The Salem number $\tau_L = 1.17628...$ and its conjugates

On the other hand, there are plenty of examples of arithmetic surfaces, which contain a particular Salem number τ (see e.g. [60, Lemma 12.3.2]). As an immediate consequence of this discussion, we get

Theorem 3.2.5. Let Γ be a torsion-free Fuchsian group derived from a quaternion algebra. Let l_{γ} be the length of a closed geodesic γ on the corresponding arithmetic surface $\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$. Then $\tau_{\gamma} = \exp(l_{\gamma}/2)$ is a Salem number. Conversely, any Salem number τ is of the form $\tau = \exp(l_{\gamma}/2)$ for l_{γ} the length of a closed geodesic on an arithmetic surface X.

It is an interesting observation by Stark [93] (and Chinburg [25]) that Salem numbers can be expressed in terms of special values of L-functions:

Theorem 3.2.6. Let F be a totally real number field of degree n > 1. Let L be a relative quadratic extension of F having exactly two real places. Let u = 2, if L is generated by the square root of a unit in F and u = 1 otherwise. Let χ be the non-trivial character of $\operatorname{Gal}(L/F)$ and $\mathcal{L}(s,\chi)$ be the associated Artin L-function. Then $\mathcal{L}(s,\chi)$ vanishes to first order at s = 0 and

$$\mathcal{L}'(0,\chi) = \frac{h_L 2^{n-2} \log \tau_s}{h_F u},$$

where τ_s is a unit of L, which together with \mathfrak{o}_F^{\times} generates a subgroup of index 2u in \mathfrak{o}_L^{\times} .

Proof. [93, pp.63-88].

The algebraic integer τ_s from Theorem 3.2.6 will be referred to as *Stark unit*.

Corollary 3.2.7. The Stark unit τ_s is a Salem number. Conversely, any Salem number τ in L is of the form $\tau = \tau_s^{k/2}$ for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$.

Proof. [25].

3.3 Systoles of Arithmetic Surfaces

For Salem numbers we have the following well-known

Conjecture 3.3.1 (Salem). There exists some $\delta > 0$ such that each Salem number is larger than $1 + \delta$.

This question has been extensively numerically investigated¹ by Boyd [11, 10], Mossinghoff [67] and others (see e.g. [41]), even though Lehmer had already found some of the smallest known Salem numbers [59]. Some of their findings are illustrated in Figure 3.2:



Figure 3.2: All Salem numbers $\tau < 1.3$ of degree ≤ 44 .

Because of Theorem 3.2.5 and the following remark, the above conjecture is equivalent to

Conjecture 3.3.2 (Minimization problem). There exists a uniform positive constant C_0 such that any length of a closed geodesic on an arbitrary arithmetic surface is bounded from below by C_0 .

There exist partial results towards Salem's conjecture, which are sufficient for our purposes²:

Theorem 3.3.3. There exists an absolute constant c_D such that for any systole l_s of an arithmetic surface $\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$ with invariant trace field $F(\Gamma)$ of degree n we have

$$\frac{1}{l_s} \le c_D \log(n)^3.$$

Proof. [37, Theorem 1].

3.4 Bilu Equidistribution

When proving Plancherel convergence for congruence surfaces, we will be faced with estimating quantities such as

$$N(d_{\tau}) = \prod_{k=1}^{n} (\sigma_k(\tau + \tau^{-1})^2 - 4),$$

 $^{^{1}}$ We note that some of these investigations actually aimed at Lehmer's conjecture, which is more general than the above conjecture.

 $^{^2 \}rm Note that we are using a weaker version of what Dobrowolski has shown, as this suffices for our purposes.$

where

$$d_{\tau} = (\tau + \tau^{-1})^2 - 4$$

is the discriminant of τ . Therefore, it is necessary to understand how the conjugates of a Salem number τ distribute on the unit circle S¹. Fraczyk [43] realized that Bilu's equidistribution principle [8] can be utilized for this task. Restricted to the case of Salem numbers it states that a sequence of Salem numbers numbers $(\tau_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ with $[\mathbb{Q}(\tau_j):\mathbb{Q}] = 2n_j \to \infty$ and $\log \tau_j/n_j \to 0$ equidistributes on the circle, in the sense that for any $f \in C_c(\mathbb{C})$ one has

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{1}{2n_j} \sum_{\sigma \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{Q}(\tau_j), \mathbb{C})} f(\sigma(\tau_j)) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} f(e^{i\theta}) d\theta.$$

Figure 3.3 visualizes this phenomenon for a certain sequence of Salem numbers $(\tau_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$, which converges to the plastic number $\theta_0 \approx 1.32471$. The definition of this sequence and relevant sources are given in Appendix A.



Figure 3.3: Non-real conjugates of τ_{10} , τ_{20} and τ_{40} respectively

Fraczyk made use of the estimates leading up to Bilu's equidistribution principle to derive bounds on the norm of the Weyl discriminant and the number of ideals of small norm. Since our proof will also use these estimates, we note that they form an independent and comparatively short part of his work.

Theorem 3.4.1. Let c > 0 be some constant and let τ be a Salem number of degree 2n with $\tau \leq c$. Then for each $s \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$ and $\delta > 0$ there exist constants c_{δ} and $c_{\delta,s}$ so that

- 1. $N(d_{\tau}) \leq c_{\delta}(1+\delta)^n$,
- 2. $N(\mathfrak{d}_{L/F}) \leq c_{\delta}(1+\delta)^n$,
- 3. $|\zeta_F(s)| \leq c_{\delta,s}(1+\delta)^n$.

Proof. This is a direct consequence of Lemma 30 and Lemma 31 in [43]. \Box

3.5 Embedding Numbers of Orders

Until the end of this section, we let $\Gamma = \Gamma(\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{O})$ always be the group of norm 1 units of some order \mathcal{O} sitting in a quaternion division algebra \mathcal{A} over a totally real field F, such that \mathcal{A} is unramified at exactly one infinite place of F. We first note that each $\gamma \in \Gamma$ gives an embedding of the relative quadratic extension $L = F(\tau_{\gamma})$ into \mathcal{A} via

$$\sigma_{\gamma}: L \to \mathcal{A}, \ a + b\tau_{\gamma} \mapsto a + b\gamma, \qquad a, b \in F \tag{3.2}$$

One may readily verify that $\sigma_{\gamma}^{-1}(\sigma_{\gamma}(L) \cap \mathcal{O})$ defines an order in L.

Definition 3.5.1. An optimal embedding of an order \mathfrak{o} in L into \mathcal{O} is an embedding $\sigma: L \to \mathcal{A}$ such that $\sigma^{-1}(\sigma(L) \cap \mathcal{O}) = \mathfrak{o}$ holds.

The set of optimal embeddings of \mathfrak{o} into \mathcal{O} is denoted by $\Sigma(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O})$. Any $x \in \mathcal{O}^{\times}$ acts on $\Sigma(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O})$ by conjugation. For any subgroup $H \subset \mathcal{O}^{\times}$ we let $\Sigma(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O})/H$ be the quotient under the action of H and write

$$m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; H) = |\Sigma(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O})/H|$$

for the cardinality of this set. Let us also denote $\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma} = \mathfrak{o}_F + \tau_{\gamma}\mathfrak{o}_F$. One can express the multiplicity of the length of γ in terms of the embedding numbers $m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^1)$:

Lemma 3.5.2. The multiplicity $m(l_{\gamma})$ of a length l_{γ} in the length spectrum of Γ is given by

$$m(l_{\gamma}) = \sum_{\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma} \subset \mathfrak{o} \subset \mathfrak{o}_{L}} m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^{1}),$$

where the sum runs over all orders \mathfrak{o} with $\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma} \subset \mathfrak{o} \subset \mathfrak{o}_L$, which can be embedded into \mathcal{A} .

Proof. Any $\gamma \in \Gamma$ defines an embedding σ_{γ} of L into \mathcal{A} through (3.2). Then $\mathfrak{o} = \sigma_{\gamma}^{-1}(\sigma_{\gamma}(L) \cap \mathcal{O})$ defines an order in L, which contains \mathfrak{o}_{γ} . Since any geodesic in $X = \Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$ is described by a Γ -conjugacy class $[\gamma']$ of some element γ' in Γ , we have

$$m(l_{\gamma}) \leq \sum_{\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma} \subset \mathfrak{o} \subset \mathfrak{o}_{L}} m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^{1}).$$

Now, let \mathfrak{o} be an order with $\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma} \subset \mathfrak{o}$ and $\sigma : L \to \mathcal{A}$ be an optimal embedding of \mathfrak{o} . Let $\gamma' \in \mathcal{O} \cap \sigma(L)$ be the unique element with $\gamma' = \sigma(\tau_{\gamma})$, i.e. $\sigma = \sigma_{\gamma'}$ in the above notation. One has

$$\gamma'^2 - \operatorname{tr}(\gamma)\gamma' + 1 = \sigma(\tau_\gamma^2 - \operatorname{tr}(\gamma)\tau_\gamma + 1) = 0,$$

which shows that γ and γ' have the same eigenvalues. Thus, γ' lies in \mathcal{O}^1 and the respective lengths l_{γ} and $l_{\gamma'}$ are equal. Hence

$$m(l_{\gamma}) \geq \sum_{\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma} \subset \mathfrak{o} \subset \mathfrak{o}_{L}} m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^{1}),$$

which concludes the proof.

Let us restrict our attention to maximal orders. We first observe that the embedding numbers may vanish in a few cases:

Theorem 3.5.3. Let L be a quadratic extension of F such that L embeds into \mathcal{A} . Let \mathfrak{o} be an order in L containing \mathfrak{o}_F . Then every maximal order in \mathcal{A} contains a conjugate of \mathfrak{o} , unless both of the following conditions hold:

- 1. The extension L/F and the quaternion algebra \mathcal{A} are unramified at all finite places and ramified at exactly the same set of real places.
- 2. Any prime ideal of F, which divides the relative discriminant $d(\mathfrak{o})$ of \mathfrak{o} , is split in L/F.

Proof. [60, Thm. 12.4.2]

Definition 3.5.4. An order σ satisfying the conditions of the above theorem is said to be *selective*. Otherwise, it is called non-selective.

Remark 3.5.5. The first condition in Theorem 3.5.3 can only be met for our quaternion algebra \mathcal{A} , if $n = [F : \mathbb{Q}]$ is odd, since $\operatorname{Ram}(\mathcal{A})$ has even cardinality. If n is odd, there are, up to isomorphism, only n possibilities for our quaternion algebra \mathcal{A} over F, for which selectivity could occur. Furthermore, there are only finitely many unramified quadratic extensions of F. In this sense, we regard selectivity as an exceptional phenomenon. Still, selectivity does occur for certain quaternion algebras (cf. Exercise 6 in [60, §12.5]).

Remark 3.5.6. Sometimes it may also happen that no embedding of a certain order \mathfrak{o} is optimal. This depends on the ramification set of the quaternion algebra \mathcal{A} and is discussed in more detail in Appendix B.

With these considerations in mind we now express the embedding number $m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^1)$ in terms of arithmetic data:

Theorem 3.5.7. Let \mathcal{O} be a maximal order. Then there exists a number $s(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}) \in \{0, 1, 2\}$ such that

$$m(\mathbf{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^1) = \frac{s(\mathbf{o}, \mathcal{O})h(\mathbf{o})2^{1+|\Omega_i(L)|}}{h_F[N_{L/F}(\mathbf{o}^{\times}):(\mathbf{o}_F^{\times})^2]},$$
(3.3)

where $\Omega_i(L)$ is the subset of finite places in $\operatorname{Ram}(\mathcal{A})$, which stay inert in the extension L.

This result is essentially known in the literature and a derivation based on [98] can be found in Appendix B. For the moment we only notice that $s(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O})$ does not depend on the maximal order \mathcal{O} , whenever \mathfrak{o} is non-selective. A well-known application of (3.3), due to Vignéras [97], is the construction of pairs of isospectral Riemann surfaces, which are not isometric (see also [60, §12.4]).

3.6 Quadratic Orders

By Lemma 3.5.2 only orders \mathfrak{o} in a quadratic extension $L = F(e^{l_{\gamma}/2})$ with $\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma} \subset \mathfrak{o} \subset \mathfrak{o}_L$ could yield a contribution to the multiplicity of some length $l = l_{\gamma}$ in the length spectrum. In this section we will describe a way to parametrize these orders by studying the following more general class of orders:

Definition 3.6.1. A quadratic \mathfrak{o}_F -order \mathfrak{o} is an order in a relative quadratic extension L/F such that \mathfrak{o} is a module over \mathfrak{o}_F .

In our exposition, we closely follow [69], although we need to be more explicit in some places. Most of the results can also be found in the more recent article [13]. Let us recall some terminology and standard facts from the theory of modules over Dedekind domains. The presented material can for example be found in [70, §1.3]. In the following R is always a Dedekind domain and F its field of fractions. Any arrow between R-modules will be implicitely assumed to be a morphism of R-modules.

Definition 3.6.2. An R-module M is called *projective* if every diagram of the form



with exact row and arbitrary R-modules A and B can be extended to a commutative diagram



Proposition 3.6.3. Any non-zero fractional ideal I of R is projective.

Proof. [70, Prop. 1.36]

Theorem 3.6.4. Let M be a finitely generated R-module and let Z be the submodule of M consisting of all torsion-elements of M, i.e. of elements $x \in M$, which for some non-zero $r \in R$ satisfy rx = 0. Then M can be written as a direct sum

$$M \cong R^k \oplus I \oplus Z,$$

where k is a non-negative integer and I is some ideal of R.

Proof. [70, Theorem 1.32]

Theorem 3.6.5. Let M_1, M_2 be finitely generated, torsion-free R-modules with

$$M_1 = I_1 \oplus \ldots \oplus I_s, \ M_2 = J_1 \oplus \ldots \oplus J_t,$$

where the $I_i J_j$ are non-zero fractional ideals of R. Then M_1 and M_2 are isomorphic if and only if s = t and there exists some $a \in F$ such that

$$I_1 \cdots I_s = aJ_1 \cdots J_t$$

holds.

Proof. [70, Thm. 1.39]

We now specialize to the case of R being the ring of integers \mathfrak{o}_F of some number field F and M some quadratic \mathfrak{o}_F -order \mathfrak{o} . We have the following short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathfrak{o}_F \xrightarrow{\iota} \mathfrak{o} \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathfrak{o}/\mathfrak{o}_F \longrightarrow 0 \tag{3.4}$$

where ι is the inclusion map and π is the projection map. Since $\mathfrak{o}/\mathfrak{o}_F$ is a finitely-generated torsion-free \mathfrak{o}_F -module, Theorem 3.6.4 yields an isomorphism

 $\mathfrak{o}/\mathfrak{o}_F \cong \mathfrak{o}_F^k \oplus \mathfrak{b}$

for some fractional ideal \mathfrak{b} of \mathfrak{o}_F and some $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Comparing the ranks of both modules over \mathbb{Z} yields k = 0 and thus $\mathfrak{o}/\mathfrak{o}_F \cong \mathfrak{b}$. Theorem 3.6.5 shows that the ideal class of \mathfrak{b} is uniquely determined by \mathfrak{o} . Let us choose \mathfrak{b} such that $\mathfrak{o}_F \subset \mathfrak{b}$. With this choice we have $1 \in \mathfrak{b}$. Let us fix an isomorphism $\phi : \mathfrak{b} \to \mathfrak{o}/\mathfrak{o}_F$ and let $\pi : \mathfrak{o} \to \mathfrak{o}/\mathfrak{o}_F$ be the projection map. By Proposition 3.6.3 any non-zero fractional ideal is a projective \mathfrak{o}_F -module so that the inspection of the diagram



yields an \mathfrak{o}_F -morphism $\psi : \mathfrak{o}/\mathfrak{o}_F \to \mathfrak{o}$ with $\pi \circ \psi = \text{Id.}$ Hence, the exact sequence (3.4) splits and the map

$$h: \mathfrak{o}_F \oplus \mathfrak{o}/\mathfrak{o}_F \to \mathfrak{o}, \qquad (x_1, x_2) \mapsto \iota(x_1) + \psi(x_2)$$

constitutes an isomorphism. We therefore get isomorphisms

$$\mathfrak{o}_F \oplus \mathfrak{b} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Id} \oplus \phi} \mathfrak{o}_F \oplus \mathfrak{o}/\mathfrak{o}_F \xrightarrow{h} \mathfrak{o}, \qquad (3.5)$$

which yields

$$\mathfrak{o} = \mathfrak{o}_F \oplus \psi(\phi(\mathfrak{b})).$$

For $x \in \mathfrak{o}_F$ with $x\mathfrak{b} \subset \mathfrak{o}_F$ we have

$$x\psi(\phi(\mathfrak{b})) = \psi(\phi(x\mathfrak{b})) = x\mathfrak{b}\psi(\phi(1))$$

so that

$$\mathfrak{o} = \mathfrak{o}_F \oplus \mathfrak{b}\theta \tag{3.6}$$

with $\theta = \psi(\phi(1))$. Applying this procedure to the ring of integers \mathfrak{o}_L of a relative quadratic extension L/F we find the decomposition $\mathfrak{o}_L = \mathfrak{o}_F \oplus \mathfrak{b}_L \theta$ for some fractional ideal \mathfrak{b}_L of \mathfrak{o}_F .

Definition 3.6.6. The element $[\mathfrak{b}_L]$ of the ideal class group is called the *Steinitz* class of the extension L/F. We denote it by $\operatorname{st}(L/F)$.

The Steinitz classes of relative quadratic extensions are known:

Lemma 3.6.7. Let $L = F(\sqrt{a})$ be a relative quadratic extension of F. Then $\mathfrak{d}_{L/F}a^{-1} = \mathfrak{b}^2$ for some fractional ideal \mathfrak{b} of F with $[\mathfrak{b}] = \operatorname{st}(L/F)$.

Proof. [27, Thm. 2.2].

For the relative quadratic extension $L = F(\sqrt{d_{\gamma}})$, we always choose \mathfrak{b}_L such that

$$\mathfrak{b}_L^2 = \mathfrak{d}_{L/F} d_\gamma^{-1}. \tag{3.7}$$

With the Steinitz class fixed, we can parametrize quadratic \mathfrak{o}_F -orders in terms of integral ideals of \mathfrak{o}_F :

Proposition 3.6.8. Let \mathfrak{o} be a quadratic \mathfrak{o}_F -order sitting in a quadratic extension L/F. Then there exists an integral ideal $\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{o}}$ of F such that

$$\mathfrak{o} = \mathfrak{o}_F \oplus \mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{o}} \mathfrak{b}_L \theta. \tag{3.8}$$

Conversely, for any integral ideal \mathfrak{c} the set $\mathfrak{o}_{\mathfrak{c}} = \mathfrak{o}_F \oplus \mathfrak{cb}_L \theta$ defines a quadratic \mathfrak{o}_F -order.

Proof. The set $\mathfrak{l} := \{x \in \mathfrak{b}_L \mid x\theta \in \mathfrak{o}\}$ defines a fractional ideal of F contained in \mathfrak{b}_L and one may quickly check that $\mathfrak{o} = \mathfrak{o}_F \oplus \mathfrak{l}\theta$. By [70, Prop. 1.13], we have that $\mathfrak{l} \subset \mathfrak{b}_L$ implies the existence of a fractional ideal $\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{o}}$ such that $\mathfrak{l} = \mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{o}}\mathfrak{b}_L$. From $\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{o}} = \mathfrak{l}\mathfrak{b}_L^{-1}$ we get $\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{o}} \subset \mathfrak{o}_F$ and hence that $\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{o}}$ is integral.

The algebraic number θ is a zero of a quadratic polynomial

$$p_{\theta}(x) = x^2 + a_1 x + a_2 \tag{3.9}$$

with $a_1, a_2 \in F$. Let $d_{\theta} = a_1^2 - 4a_2$ be the discriminant of θ . We note the following formula for the discriminant of an order (cf. [69, Lemma 1.6]):

Lemma 3.6.9. Let $\mathfrak{o} = \mathfrak{o}_F \oplus \mathfrak{b}\theta$ be a quadratic order with \mathfrak{b} some fractional ideal of F and θ an algebraic integer. Then the discriminant of \mathfrak{o} is given by

$$d(\mathfrak{o}) = d_F^2 N(\mathfrak{b}^2 d_\theta).$$

3.7 Plancherel Convergence for Congruence Surfaces

Proof of Theorem 3.1.1. For Γ_j a congruence subgroup we let $X_j = \Gamma_j \setminus \mathcal{H}$ be the associated hyperbolic surface and abbreviate $V_j = \operatorname{vol}(X_j)$. The strategy of the proof is to confirm the condition of Proposition 2.11.6, i.e. we show that for each $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists j_{ε} so that

$$\frac{1}{V_j} \sum_{l_\gamma \le c} m(l_\gamma, \Gamma_j) \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{\sinh(l_\gamma/2)} < \varepsilon$$
(3.10)

for each $j \ge j_{\varepsilon}$, where the sum runs over the lengths in $\operatorname{Spec}_L(X_j)$. The proof of (3.10) will take up the rest of this section.

Let us consider an arbitrary congruence subgroup Γ of covolume $V = \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H})$ with invariant trace field F of degree n and invariant quaternion algebra \mathcal{A} . Let \mathcal{O} be a maximal order so that $\Gamma \subset P_{\sigma_1} \mathcal{O}^1$. In view of

$$\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma \backslash \mathcal{H}) = [\Gamma : P_{\sigma_1} \mathcal{O}^1] \operatorname{vol}(P_{\sigma_1} \mathcal{O}^1 \backslash \mathcal{H})$$
(3.11)

and

$$m(l_{\gamma}, \Gamma) \leq [\Gamma : P_{\sigma_1} \mathcal{O}^1] m(l_{\gamma}, P_{\sigma_1} \mathcal{O}^1), \qquad (3.12)$$

we first concentrate on the case of maximal orders. From $\lim_{x\to 0} x/\sinh(x) = 1$ one may derive

$$\frac{1}{\sinh(l_{\gamma}/2)} \le c_0 \max\{1, l_s^{-1}\}$$
(3.13)

for some sufficiently large constant c_0 and $l_s = l_s(X)$ the systole of $X = \Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$. Applying Theorem 3.3.3 to (3.13) yields

$$\frac{1}{\sinh(l_{\gamma}/2)} \le c_D c_0 \log(n)^3.$$
(3.14)

Next we want to estimate

$$\sum_{l_{\gamma} \leq c} m(l_{\gamma}, \Gamma) l_{\gamma_0} = \sum_{l_{\gamma} \leq c} \left(\sum_{\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma} \subset \mathfrak{o} \subset \mathfrak{o}_L} m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^1) l_{\gamma_0} \right).$$
(3.15)

According to Theorem 3.5.7 we have

$$m(\mathbf{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^1) \le 4 \frac{h(\mathbf{o}) 2^{|\Omega_i(L)|}}{h_F}.$$
(3.16)

Consider the well-known formula for the class number

$$h(\mathbf{o}) = \frac{h_L}{[\mathbf{o}_L^{\times} : \mathbf{o}^{\times}]} \frac{\varphi_{\mathbf{o}_L}(\mathfrak{f}_{\mathbf{o}})}{\varphi_{\mathbf{o}}(\mathfrak{f}_{\mathbf{o}})}, \qquad (3.17)$$

where $\varphi_{\mathfrak{o}_L}(\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{o}})$ is the number of units in $\mathfrak{o}_L/\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{o}}$ and $\varphi_{\mathfrak{o}}(\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{o}})$ is the number of units in $\mathfrak{o}/\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{o}}$ (see [71, Thm. 12.12]). Applying the crude estimate

$$\varphi_{\mathfrak{o}_L}(\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{o}}) \le |\mathfrak{o}_L/\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{o}}| = N(\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{o}}) \tag{3.18}$$

to (3.17) shows

$$h(\mathfrak{o}) \le h_L N(\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{o}}). \tag{3.19}$$

Plugging (3.19) into (3.16) yields

$$m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^1) \le 4 \frac{h_L 2^{|\Omega_i(L)|} N(\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{o}})}{h_F}.$$
(3.20)

We note the following

Lemma 3.7.1. Let \mathfrak{o} be a quadratic order in L with $\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma} \subset \mathfrak{o}$. Then one has $N_{L/\mathbb{Q}}(\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{o}}) \leq N_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(d_{\gamma})$.

Proof. Since $\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma} \subset \mathfrak{o}$, one has by definition $\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma}} \subset \mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{o}}$ and hence

$$N_{L/\mathbb{Q}}(\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{o}}) \le N_{L/\mathbb{Q}}(\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma}}). \tag{3.21}$$

It is $known^3$ (cf. [89, Cor. III.6.1]) that

$$(d_{\gamma}) = N_{L/F}(\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma}})\mathfrak{d}_{L/F} \tag{3.22}$$

holds. Using $N_{F/\mathbb{Q}}\circ N_{L/F}=N_{L/\mathbb{Q}}$ one may conclude from (3.21) and (3.22) that

$$N_{L/\mathbb{Q}}(\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{o}}) \leq N_{L/\mathbb{Q}}(\mathfrak{f}_{\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma}}) = N_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(d_{\gamma})N_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(\mathfrak{d}_{L/F})^{-1} \leq N_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(d_{\gamma}).$$

By applying the above lemma to (3.20) we get

$$m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^1) \le 4 \frac{h_L 2^{|\Omega_i(L)|} N(d_\gamma)}{h_F}.$$
(3.23)

Now, regarding l_{γ_0} we note that Theorem 3.2.6 guarantees the existence of $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ with

$$l_{\gamma_0} = k_0 2^{2-n} u \frac{h_F}{h_L} \mathcal{L}'(0,\chi), \qquad (3.24)$$

where $u \in \{1, 2\}$. We get

$$k_0 \le \frac{c}{l_s} \le c_D c \log(n)^3 \tag{3.25}$$

from another application of Theorem 3.3.3. The inequalities (3.23),(3.24) and (3.25) together yield

$$m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^1) l_{\gamma_0} \le c_1 2^{-n} \log(n)^3 N(d_\gamma) 2^{|\Omega_i(L)|} \mathcal{L}'(0, \chi),$$
(3.26)

where $c_1 = 64c_Dc$. Applying the bounds from Theorem 3.4.1 to (3.26) leads to

$$m(\mathfrak{o},\mathcal{O};\mathcal{O}^1)l_{\gamma_0} \le c_2 \frac{\log(n)^3(1+\delta)^n}{2^n} 2^{|\Omega_i(L)|} \mathcal{L}'(0,\chi),$$
(3.27)

³Here, one also needs a well-known relation between the relative discriminant $\mathfrak{d}_{L/F}$ and the so-called different of an extension L/F, see e.g. [89, Prop. III.3.6].

where $c_2 = c_1 c_{\delta}$ and $\delta > 0$ is sufficiently small. Hence, we have

$$\sum_{\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma}\subset\mathfrak{o}\subset\mathfrak{o}_{L}}m(\mathfrak{o},\mathcal{O};\mathcal{O}^{1})l_{\gamma_{0}}\leq c_{2}\frac{\log(n)^{3}(1+\delta)^{n}}{2^{n}}2^{|\Omega_{i}(L)|}\mathcal{L}'(0,\chi)\left(\sum_{\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma}\subset\mathfrak{o}\subset\mathfrak{o}_{L}}1\right).$$
(3.28)

In view of (3.28) we note the following

Lemma 3.7.2. For $\delta > 0$ sufficiently small one has

$$\left(\sum_{\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma}\subset\mathfrak{o}\subset\mathfrak{o}_{L}}1\right)\leq c_{3}(1+\delta)^{2n},$$

where $c_3 = c_{\delta,2}c_{\delta}$.

Proof. We first claim that

$$N(d_{\theta}) = N(d_{\gamma}) \tag{3.29}$$

holds. This readily follows from Lemma 3.6.9 and our choice of the fractional ideal \mathfrak{b}_L made in (3.7), since

$$d_F^2 N(\mathfrak{d}_{L/F}) = d_{\mathfrak{o}_L} = d_F^2 N(\mathfrak{b}_L^2 d_\theta) = d_F^2 N(\mathfrak{d}_{L/F} d_\gamma^{-1} d_\theta),$$

where we used that $L = F(\sqrt{d_{\gamma}})$. According to Lemma 3.6.8 we may write any order with $\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma} \subset \mathfrak{o} \subset \mathfrak{o}_{L}$ in the form $\mathfrak{o} = \mathfrak{o}_{F} + \mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{o}}\mathfrak{b}_{L}\theta$ with $\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{o}}$ an integral ideal of F. Since $\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma} \subset \mathfrak{o}$ we have by definition of the discriminant that $d(\mathfrak{o}) \leq d(\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma})$. Again applying Lemma 3.6.9 shows

$$d_F^2 N(\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{o}}^2 \mathfrak{b}_L^2 d_\theta) = d(\mathfrak{o}) \le d(\mathfrak{o}_\gamma) = d_F^2 N(d_\gamma), \tag{3.30}$$

which in combination with (3.29) yields

$$N(\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{o}})^{2} \leq N(\mathfrak{b}_{L}^{-2}) = N(\mathfrak{d}_{L/F})^{-1}N(d_{\gamma}) \leq N(d_{\gamma}).$$
(3.31)

We therefore get

$$\left(\sum_{\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma} \subset \mathfrak{o} \subset \mathfrak{o}_{L}} 1\right) = \sum_{\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{o}} \subset \mathfrak{o}_{F}} 1 = \sum_{\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{o}} \subset \mathfrak{o}_{F}} N(\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{o}})^{-2} N(\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{o}})^{2} \leq \zeta_{F}(2) N(d_{\gamma}),$$

where the sums in the middle run over all integral ideals $\mathfrak{c}_{\mathfrak{o}}$ coming from a quadratic order $\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma} \subset \mathfrak{o} \subset \mathfrak{o}_L$ as in Lemma 3.6.8. This gives the desired claim in view of the bounds from Theorem 3.4.1.

Applying the above lemma to (3.28) shows

$$\sum_{\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma} \subset \mathfrak{o} \subset \mathfrak{o}_{L}} m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^{1}) l_{\gamma_{0}} \leq c_{4} \frac{\log(n)^{3} (1+\delta)^{3n}}{2^{n}} 2^{|\Omega_{i}(L)|} |\mathcal{L}'(0, \chi)|.$$
(3.32)

with $c_4 = c_2 c_3$. Let us now deal with $|\mathcal{L}'(0, \chi)|$:

Lemma 3.7.3. For any $\delta > 0$ sufficiently small there exists a constant c'_{δ} so that

$$|\mathcal{L}'(0,\chi)| \le c_{\delta}'(1+\delta)^{3n} \pi^{-n} d_F^{(1+\delta)/2}.$$

Proof. The completion $\Lambda(s,\chi)$ of $\mathcal{L}(s,\chi)$ is given by

$$\Lambda(s,\chi) = \left(\pi^{-n/2} d_F N(\mathfrak{d}_{L/F})\right)^s \Gamma\left(\frac{s}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(\frac{s+1}{2}\right)^{n-1} \mathcal{L}(s,\chi),$$

(see e.g. [56, p. 299]), where $\Gamma(s)$ is the Gamma function. We therefore have

$$\Lambda(0,\chi) = \Gamma(\frac{1}{2})^{n-1} \left(\lim_{s \to 0} \Gamma\left(\frac{s}{2}\right) \mathcal{L}(s,\chi) \right).$$
(3.33)

Inserting $\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}) = \sqrt{\pi}$ and $\lim_{s \to 0} s\Gamma(s) = 1$ into (3.33) shows

$$\Lambda(0,\chi) = 2\pi^{(n-1)/2} \left(\lim_{s \to 0} \frac{\mathcal{L}(s,\chi)}{s} \right).$$
(3.34)

Since

$$\lim_{s \to 0} \frac{\mathcal{L}(s, \chi)}{s} = \lim_{s \to 0} \frac{s^{-r_L} \zeta_L(s)}{s^{-r_F} \zeta_F(s)} = \frac{h_L R_L}{h_F R_F} = \mathcal{L}'(0, \chi),$$
(3.35)

where for the last equality we used Theorem 2.9.3 and the Taylor expansion of ζ_L and ζ_F at s = 0 from (2.17), we have

$$\Lambda(0,\chi) = 2\pi^{(n-1)/2} \mathcal{L}'(0,\chi).$$
(3.36)

Let $\delta_0 > 0$ be a real number with $0 < \delta_0 < 1$. Next, we want to apply the Phragmen-Lindelöf principle (cf. Appendix C) to $\Lambda(s, \chi)$ on the vertical strip

$$U = \{ z = x + iy \in \mathbb{C} : -\delta_0 < x < 1 + \delta_0 \}$$

to derive a bound for $\Lambda(0,\chi)$. We therefore have to estimate $\Lambda(s,\chi)$ on the extended boundary $\partial_{\infty}U = \partial U \cup \{\infty\}$ of U. Since $|\Gamma(\sigma + it)| \leq \Gamma(\sigma)$ for $\sigma > 0$ and $t \in \mathbb{R}$, we have

$$|\Lambda(1+\delta_0+it,\chi)| \le \pi^{-n(1+\delta_0)/2} d_F^{(1+\delta_0)/2} N(\mathfrak{d}_{L/F})^{(1+\delta_0)/2} \Gamma\left(\frac{1+\delta_0}{2}\right) \Gamma\left(1+\frac{\delta_0}{2}\right)^{n-1} \zeta_F(1+\delta_0)^{n-1} \zeta_F(1+\delta$$

Using the bounds from Theorem 3.4.1 yields

$$|\Lambda(1+\delta_0+it)| \le c_{\delta_0}^2 \Gamma(\frac{1+\delta_0}{2})(1+\delta_0)^{2n} \pi^{-n/2} d_F^{(1+\delta_0)/2} \Gamma(1+\frac{\delta_0}{2})^{n-1}.$$

Now, the functional equation for the completed $\Lambda(s,\chi)$ is given by

$$W(\chi)\Lambda(s,\chi) = \Lambda(1-s,\overline{\chi})$$

(see [56, Corollary XIV.8.2]) with some constant $W(\chi)\in\mathbb{C}$ such that $|W(\chi)|=1.$ Hence, we get

$$|\Lambda(-\delta_0 + it, \chi)| = |\Lambda(1 + \delta_0 + it, \chi)| \le c_{\delta_0}^2 \Gamma(\frac{1 + \delta_0}{2}) (1 + \delta_0)^{2n} \pi^{-n/2} d_F^{(1 + \delta_0)/2} \Gamma(1 + \frac{\delta_0}{2})^{n-1}.$$

Finally, we have

$$\limsup_{s \to \infty} |\Lambda(s, \chi)| = 0$$

as any automorphic L-functions is of finite order (cf. [50, Lemma 5.2]). Hence, the Phragmen-Lindelöf principle yields

$$|\Lambda(s,\chi)| \le c_{\delta_0}^2 \Gamma(\frac{1+\delta_0}{2})(1+\delta_0)^{2n} \pi^{-n/2} d_F^{(1+\delta_0)/2} \Gamma(1+\frac{\delta_0}{2})^{n-1}$$

for all $s \in U$. In view of (3.36) this gives

$$|\mathcal{L}'(0,\chi)| \le \frac{\sqrt{\pi}c_{\delta_0}^2 \Gamma(\frac{1+\delta_0}{2})}{2} (1+\delta_0)^{2n} \pi^{-n} d_F^{(1+\delta_0)/2} \Gamma(1+\frac{\delta_0}{2})^{n-1}.$$

Since $\Gamma(1) = 1$, choosing δ_0 sufficiently small gives the claimed bound for $|\mathcal{L}'(0,\chi)|$ with

$$c_{\delta}' = \frac{\sqrt{\pi}c_{\delta_0}^2 \Gamma(\frac{1+\delta_0}{2})}{2\Gamma(1+\frac{\delta_0}{2})}.$$

Plugging the bound from Lemma 3.7.3 into (3.32) gives

$$\sum_{\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma} \subset \mathfrak{o}_{\subset}\mathfrak{o}_{L}} m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^{1}) l_{\gamma_{0}} \leq c_{5} \frac{\log(n)^{3} (1+\delta)^{6n}}{(2\pi)^{n}} 2^{|\Omega_{i}(L)|} d_{F}^{(1+\delta)/2},$$
(3.37)

where $c_5 = c_4 c'_{\delta}$. We clearly have $|\Omega_i(L)| \leq |\operatorname{Ram}(\mathcal{A})|$ and therefore

$$\sum_{\mathfrak{o}_{\gamma} \subset \mathfrak{o} \subset \mathfrak{o}_{L}} m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^{1}) l_{\gamma_{0}} \leq c_{5} \frac{\log(n)^{3}(1+\delta)^{6n}}{(2\pi)^{n}} 2^{|\operatorname{Ram}(\mathcal{A})|} d_{F}^{(1+\delta)/2}.$$
(3.38)

Note that the right-hand side of (3.38) does only depend on the invariant trace field F and the invariant quaternion algebra \mathcal{A} .

Returning to (3.15), we note that we still have to estimate the counting function

$$N_{\Gamma}(c) = \sum_{l_{\gamma} \le c} 1, \tag{3.39}$$

where the lengths in $\operatorname{Spec}_L(\Gamma)$ are counted without multiplicities.

Lemma 3.7.4. For $\delta > 0$ sufficiently small, there exists a constant c''_{δ} so that

$$N_{\Gamma}(c) \le c_{\delta}'' \log(n)^3 2^n (1+\delta)^{2n} \zeta_F(2).$$

Proof. To any length $l = l_{\gamma}$ in the length spectrum of Γ we may associate⁴ the principal ideal $J_l = (d_l)$ generated by $d_l = (e^{l/2} + e^{-l/2})^2 - 4$. We want to use

⁴Note that we still silently identify the number field F with its image in \mathbb{R} under the embedding σ_1 .

the resulting map $J : \operatorname{Spec}_L(\Gamma) \to I(\mathfrak{o}_F)$ to estimate $N_{\gamma}(c)$. Let us first show that

$$|J^{-1}(J_l)| \le 4cc_D \log(n)^3 2^n.$$
(3.40)

Assume that $J_{l'} = J_l$ for two different lengths $l, l' \in \operatorname{Spec}_L(\Gamma)$. Then there exists a unit $v' \in \mathfrak{o}_F^{\times}$ with $d_l = v'd_{l'}$. By Dirichlet's unit theorem, we can choose a set of representatives $v_1, \ldots, v_{2^{n+1}}$ for $\mathfrak{o}_F^{\times}/(\mathfrak{o}_F^{\times})^2$, so that we may write any unit $v \in \mathfrak{o}_F^{\times}$ in the form $v = v_j w^2$ with $w \in \mathfrak{o}_F^{\times}$. Assume that we have two different lengths l', l'' such that

$$v_j(w')^2 d_{l'} = d_l = v_j(w'')^2 d_{l''}.$$
(3.41)

for some $j \in \{1, ..., 2^{n+1}\}$ and $w', w'' \in \mathfrak{o}_F^{\times}$. Then the extensions $L' = F(\sqrt{d_{l'}})$ and $L'' = F(\sqrt{d_{l''}})$ agree. In particular, $\tau_{l''} = e^{l''/2}$ defines a Salem number in L'. By Corollary 3.2.7, we have $\tau_{l''} = \tau_s^{k/2}$ for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and τ_s the Stark unit in L'. By using Theorem 3.3.3, we have

$$c \ge \frac{k}{2} \log \tau_s \ge \frac{k}{2} c_D^{-1} \log(n)^{-3}$$

so that

$$k \leq 2cc_D \log(n)^3$$
.

This establishes (3.40), since there are at most k possibilities for the equality (3.41) to occur. But then

$$N_{\Gamma}(c) \leq 4cc_{D}\log(n)^{3}2^{n}\sum_{J_{l}:l\leq c} 1$$

$$\leq 4cc_{D}\log(n)^{3}2^{n}\sum_{J_{l}:l\leq c} N(J_{l})^{2}N(J_{l})^{-2}$$

$$\leq 4cc_{D}c_{\delta}^{2}\log(n)^{3}2^{n}(1+\delta)^{2n}\zeta_{F}(2),$$

where the sums run over the principal ideals (d_l) with $l \leq c$. Note that we again utilized the bounds from Theorem 3.4.1. This yields the claimed inequality with

$$c_{\delta}'' = 4cc_D c_{\delta}^2$$

Using Lemma 3.7.4 together with (3.38) shows

$$\sum_{l_{\gamma} \le c} m(l_{\gamma}) l_{\gamma_0} \le c_6 \frac{\log(n)^6 (1+\delta)^{8n}}{\pi^n} 2^{|\operatorname{Ram}(\mathcal{A})|} d_F^{(1+\delta)/2} \zeta_F(2).$$
(3.42)

with $c_6 = c_5 c''_{\delta}$. But then (3.14) shows

$$\sum_{l_{\gamma} \le c} m(l_{\gamma}) \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{\sinh(l_{\gamma}/2)} \le c_7 \frac{\log(n)^9 (1+\delta)^{8n}}{\pi^n} 2^{|\operatorname{Ram}(\mathcal{A})|} d_F^{(1+\delta)/2} \zeta_F(2)$$
(3.43)

with $c_7 = c_6 c_D c_0$. Using the expression for the volume of the maximal order from Lemma 2.10.6, we arrive at

$$\frac{1}{V}\sum_{l_{\gamma}\leq c}m(l_{\gamma})\frac{l_{\gamma_{0}}}{\sinh(l_{\gamma}/2)}\leq c_{8}\frac{\log(n)^{9}(1+\delta)^{8n}(4\pi)^{n}}{\prod_{\mathfrak{p}\mid\mathfrak{d}_{\mathcal{A}}}\left(\frac{N(\mathfrak{p})-1}{2}\right)d_{F}^{1-\frac{\delta}{2}}}$$
(3.44)

with $c_8 = c_7/(4\pi^2)$. We note that $N(\mathfrak{p}) - 1 = 1$ is only possible, if $\mathfrak{p} \mid 2$. Hence, if we let $\mathfrak{d}_{\mathcal{A}}^*$ be the product over all prime ideals in Ram(\mathcal{A}), which do not divide 2, we get

$$\frac{1}{V} \sum_{l_{\gamma} \le c} m(l_{\gamma}) \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{\sinh(l_{\gamma}/2)} \le c_8 \frac{\log(n)^9 (1+\delta)^{8n} (8\pi)^n}{\prod_{\mathfrak{p} \mid \mathfrak{d}_{\mathcal{A}}^*} \left(\frac{N(\mathfrak{p})-1}{2}\right) d_F^{1-\frac{\delta}{2}}}.$$
(3.45)

Let us now fix some $\delta > 0$ with $\delta \leq \frac{1}{500}$. Using Odlyzko's bound [75, eq. (2.5)] for the discriminant,

$$d_F \ge 60.8^n$$

for n large enough, we see that

$$\frac{(1+\frac{1}{500})^{8n}(8\pi)^n}{d_F^{1-1/1000}} \le \left(\frac{(1+\frac{1}{500})^8(8\pi)}{(60.8)^{5/6-1/1000}}\right)^n \frac{1}{d_F^{1/6}} \le 0.84^n \frac{1}{d_F^{1/6}}$$

This guarantees the existence of a constant c_9 such that

$$\frac{\log(n)^9 (1 + \frac{1}{500})^{8n} (8\pi)^n}{d_F^{1-1/1000}} \le c_9 \frac{1}{d_F^{1/6}}$$
(3.46)

for any totally real number field F. Plugging this into (3.45), we finally end up with

$$\frac{1}{V}\sum_{l_{\gamma}\leq c}m(l_{\gamma})\frac{l_{\gamma_{0}}}{\sinh(l_{\gamma}/2)}\leq c_{10}\frac{1}{d_{F}^{1/6}\prod_{\mathfrak{p}\mid\mathfrak{d}_{\mathcal{A}}^{*}}\left(\frac{N(\mathfrak{p})-1}{2}\right)},$$
(3.47)

where $c_{10} = c_8 c_9$. Now, let $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of torsion-free non-conjugate congruence subgroups and let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given. Let $F_j = F(\Gamma_j)$ and $\mathcal{A}_j = \mathcal{A}(\Gamma_j)$ be the respective invariant trace fields and invariant quaternion algebras. It is a well-known result that there exist only finitely many number fields of bounded discriminant, so that

$$\frac{1}{V}\sum_{l_{\gamma} \le c} m(l_{\gamma}) \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{\sinh(l_{\gamma}/2)} > \varepsilon$$
(3.48)

is only possible for finitely many invariant trace fields $F_1, ..., F_s$. According to the classification of quaternion algebras (see e.g. [60, Thm. 7.3.6]), inequality (3.47) also shows that there only finitely many invariant quaternion algebras $\mathcal{A}_1, ..., \mathcal{A}_t$ over these fields $F_1, ..., F_s$, for which we possibly could have (3.48). In these invariant quaternion algebras, there are, up to conjugacy, only finitely many maximal orders $\mathcal{O}_1, ..., \mathcal{O}_u$ (cf. [60, §6.7]). Hence, all congruence subgroups, for which (3.48) could hold, lie in finitely many arithmetic Fuchsian groups $P_{\sigma_1}\mathcal{O}_1^1, ..., P_{\sigma_1}\mathcal{O}_u^1$. Let $(\Gamma_{j_k})_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ be the subsequence of $(\Gamma_j)_{j\in}$ consisting of those congruence subgroups contained in $P_{\sigma_1}\mathcal{O}_1^1, ..., P_{\sigma_1}\mathcal{O}_u^1$. This sequence is uniformly discrete and known to be Benjamini-Schramm convergent (see [1, Thm. 1.12]). In particular, $(\Gamma_{j_k})_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is Plancherel convergent by Theorem 2.11.5 and we can find k_0 such that

$$\frac{1}{V_{j_k}} \sum_{l_{\gamma} \le c} m(l_{\gamma}, \Gamma_{j_k}) \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{\sinh(l_{\gamma}/2)} \le \varepsilon$$
(3.49)

for all $k \geq k_0$. This shows

$$\frac{1}{V_j} \sum_{l_\gamma \le c} m(l_\gamma, \Gamma_j) \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{\sinh(l_\gamma/2)} \le \varepsilon$$
(3.50)

for $j \ge j_{k_0}$, which concludes the proof.

Chapter 4

Plancherel Convergence and Zeta Functions

4.1 Summary

In the previous sections we have discussed basic properties of Plancherel-convergent sequences and have many examples. Now, a natural question is how this form of convergence is reflected by secondary metric invariants such as the Selberg zeta function. One first result in this direction stems from Deitmar (see [31, Thm. 3.2]):

Theorem 4.1.1. Let $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of torsion-free cocompact lattices in $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ and Λ_j be the logarithmic derivative of the Selberg zeta function for $X_j = \Gamma_j \setminus \mathcal{H}$.

1. If the sequence $(\Gamma_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ is uniformly discrete and Plancherel, then

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\Lambda_j(s)}{\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \setminus G)} = 0$$

for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$.

2. If for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$ one has

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\Lambda_j(s)}{\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \backslash G)} = 0$$

then the sequence $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is Plancherel.

In [31, §4] it is asked whether the condition of uniform discreteness is actually necessary in the first part of the statement. This condition was needed to avoid the possible accumulation of eigenvalues in fixed intervals caused by short geodesics (cf. [17, §8.4]). We will see in Section 4.3 that a careful analysis of the accumulation rate of eigenvalues in Plancherel sequences allows one to remove

the assumption of uniform discreteness from Theorem 4.1.1.

Next, Deitmar [31, §4] also considered the limits $\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \setminus G)^{-1} \Lambda_j(s)$ for $s \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re}(s) \leq 1$. The functional equation [31, Prop. 3.4] for the logarithmic derivative of the Selberg zeta function allows one to deal with $s \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathscr{P}$ such that $\operatorname{Re}(s) < 0$ (cf. Section 4.4). It remains to determine what happens for s sitting inside the critical strip

$$S = \{ s \in \mathbb{C} \mid 0 \le \operatorname{Re}(s) \le 1 \}.$$

In Section 4.4 we will use a formula of McKean for the logarithmic derivative of the Selberg zeta function to compute the limit of $\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \backslash G)^{-1} \Lambda_j(s)$ for all s sitting in

$$U_1 = \{ s \in \mathbb{C} \mid \operatorname{Re}(s) > 1/2, \ \operatorname{Re}(s(s-1)) > -\frac{1}{4}, \ s \notin \mathscr{P} \}.$$

For $s \in \mathbb{C} \smallsetminus \mathscr{P}$ we let

$$F(s) = \begin{cases} 0, \ \operatorname{Re}(s) > \frac{1}{2}, \\ (s - \frac{1}{2}) \cot(\pi s), \ \operatorname{Re}(s) < \frac{1}{2}. \end{cases}$$

Then the final result is

Theorem 4.1.2. Let $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of torsion-free cocompact lattices in $G = SL_2(\mathbb{R})$. The following two statements are equivalent:

- 1. The sequence $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is Plancherel.
- 2. For each $s \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathscr{P}$ such that either $s \in U_1$, $\operatorname{Re}(s) < 0$ or $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$ one has

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\Lambda_j(s)}{\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \setminus G)} = F(s).$$

The values $s \in \mathbb{C}$, for which the behaviour of the logarithmic derivative of the Selberg zeta function is known, are sketched in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1: The values $s \in \mathbb{C}$ from Theorem 4.1.2

4.2 Tools from Spectral Geometry

In this section we extend our discussion of the Laplace operator to manifolds with boundary and collect some standard tools from spectral geometry, which can be used to estimate the counting function of the Laplace operator. Further details can be found in [22, §1.5].

Let X be a smooth compact manifold (possibly with boundary) equipped with a Riemannian metric h and let Δ be the corresponding Laplace operator. One can study solutions $\phi \in C^2(X)$ of the eigenvalue equation

$$\Delta \phi = \lambda \phi \tag{4.1}$$

by introducing the Sobolev space $\mathscr{H}(X).$ On the Sobolev space $\mathscr{H}(X)$ one may use the Dirichlet integral

$$D[f,h] = (\operatorname{grad} f, \operatorname{grad} h)$$

to give the following weak formulation of (4.1)

$$D[\phi, f] = -\lambda(\phi, f), \qquad \phi \in C^2(\overline{X}), \tag{4.2}$$

valid for certain boundary conditions on X and f sitting in certain closed subspaces of $\mathscr{H}(X)$:

• Closed eigenvalue problem: In this case we assume that X has no boundary. For fixed $\phi \in C^2(X)$ the functional $F_{\phi} = D[\phi, \cdot]$, initially

defined on $C^{\infty}(X)$, can be extended to the whole space $\mathscr{H}(X)$ by using standard arguments from functional analysis. If in this case (4.2) is valid for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ and all $f \in \mathscr{H}(X)$, we call λ a *(closed) eigenvalue*.

- Neumann eigenvalue problem: Here, one considers (4.2) under the assumption that $\phi \in C^2(\overline{X})$ and $\nu \phi = 0$ on ∂X , where ν is the outward unit normal vector field on the boundary of X. Then F_{ϕ} can again be extended to $\mathscr{H}(X)$ and the solutions λ of (4.2) will be called *Neumann* eigenvalues.
- Dirichlet eigenvalue problem In this case one considers $\phi \in C^2(\overline{X})$ satisfying $\phi = 0$ on ∂X . Then F_{ϕ} can be extended to the completion of $C_c^{\infty}(X)$ in $\mathscr{H}(X)$ and solutions λ of (4.2) will be referred to as *Dirichlet* eigenvalues.

Given each of the above eigenvalue problems we define the space of *admissible* functions $\mathfrak{H}(X)$ to be $\mathscr{H}(X)$ in the case of closed and Neumann eigenvalues and to be the completion of $C_c^{\infty}(X)$ in $\mathscr{H}(X)$ in the case of Dirichlet eigenvalues. It is well-known (see e.g. [22, Thm. 1.3.1]) that for each of the above eigenvalue problems the solutions λ of (4.2) form an increasing sequence

$$0 \leq \lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \dots \leq \lambda_k \to \infty \text{ as } k \to \infty,$$

where each eigenvalue appears with finite multiplicity. The function, which counts the eigenvalues in the interval [0, x] will be denoted N(X, x) in the case of closed eigenvalues and $N_N(X, x)$ or $N_D(X, x)$ for Neumann eigenvalues and Dirichlet eigenvalues respectively. The characterization (4.2) allows for a variational formulation of the eigenvalue problem:

Theorem 4.2.1 (Max-Min principle). Let $v_1, ..., v_{k-1} \in L^2(X)$ and for non-zero $f \in \mathfrak{H}(X)$ let

$$\mathcal{R}(f) = \frac{D[f, f]}{||f||^2}$$

be the so-called Rayleigh-Ritz quotient. Then for any of the above eigenvalue problems one has

$$\inf \mathcal{R}(f) \le \lambda_k,\tag{4.3}$$

where the infimum varies over non-zero functions f orthogonal to the span of $v_1, ..., v_{k-1}$ in $L^2(M)$. If $v_1, ..., v_{k-1}$ form an orthonormal basis of eigenfunctions for the eigenvalues $\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_{k-1}$, we have equality in (4.3).

Proof. [22, §1.5]

From the Max-Min principle one immediately gets various monotonicity properties of eigenvalues (cf. [51, §3]):

• Domain monotonicity: Let $\Omega_1, ..., \Omega_m$ be pairwise disjoint regular¹ domains in X with $X = \overline{\Omega_1} \cup ... \cup \overline{\Omega_m}$, whose boundaries, when intersecting

¹A subset of Ω of a smooth manifold is called a regular domain, if Ω is connected, has compact closure and non-empty smooth boundary.

 ∂X , do so transversally². Given an eigenvalue problem on X with respective eigenvalues $(\lambda_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$, consider for each q = 1, ..., m the eigenvalue problem on Ω_q obtained by requiring either Dirichlet or Neumann boundary conditions for all q = 1, ..., m and leaving original data on $\partial \Omega_q \cap \partial X$ unchanged. Arrange all the eigenvalues of $\Omega_1, ..., \Omega_m$ in an increasing sequence, where each eigenvalue is repeated according to its multiplicity. We will denote this sequence by $(\omega_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ in the case of Dirichlet boundary conditions and $(\kappa_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ for Neumann boundary conditions.

Lemma 4.2.2. With the notation as above, one has

$$\kappa_k \leq \lambda_k \leq \omega_k, \quad \text{for all } k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Proof. [22, §1.5]

• Boundary condition monotonicity: Let P be an operator in divergence form on an interval [a, b],

$$P = \partial_r \left(f(r)\partial_r \right) - V(r), \ a \le r \le b$$

with $f \in C^{\infty}([a, b])$ such that f(r) > 0. Then one can compare eigenvalues for Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions as follows:

Lemma 4.2.3. Let $(\omega_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ and $(\kappa_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ be the solutions of

 $Pu(r) + \lambda u(r) = 0$

with respect to Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions respectively. Then for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$ one has

$$\kappa_k \leq \omega_k \leq \kappa_{k+2}.$$

Proof. This is a direct consequence of Corollary 1 in $[101, \S3]$.

• Potential monotonicity: Let $V : [a, b] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a continuous function³. We collect the following result for the operator $\partial_r^2 - V(r)$ acting on functions on some interval [a, b]:

Lemma 4.2.4. Let $P_1 = -\partial_r^2 + V_1(r)$ and $P_2 = -\partial_r^2 + V_2(r)$ be two operators over a compact interval [a,b] with $V_1, V_2 \in C([a,b])$ so that $V_1(r) \geq V_2(r)$ for all $r \in [a, b]$. Then the eigenvalues of P_1 are larger than the corresponding eigenvalues of P_2 with respect to either Dirichlet or Neumann boundary conditions.

Proof. [51, Lemma 3.3]

57

²Two regular domains Ω and Ω' intersect transversally in a point p if the tangent space $T_p X$ is generated by the vectors in $T_p \Omega$ and $T_p \Omega'$.

³In this context, V is usually called a potential in formal analogy with the Hamilton operator from quantum mechanics.

4.3 Bounds for the Accumulation Rate

For X a smooth closed hyperbolic surface there are, roughly speaking, two geometric quantities, which control the number of Laplace eigenvalues lying in a fixed interval [0, x]: These are the lengths of short geodesics in X and the volume of X. In [31] Deitmar imposed the condition of uniform discreteness to avoid the accumulation of Laplace eigenvalues caused by short geodesics. More precisely, he used uniform discreteness to derive the bound

$$N(\Gamma_j \backslash \mathcal{H}, x) \le C \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \backslash \mathcal{H}) x \tag{4.4}$$

with C > 0 some absolute constant. We will show that the bound (4.4) automatically holds for any Plancherel sequence $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$. Since the bound (4.4) is the only reason, why uniform discreteness was needed in the proof of [31, Thm. 3.2], one can remove this condition.

Theorem 4.3.1. For each Plancherel sequence $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ of torsion-free cocompact lattices in $PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$ there exists a positive constant c_A such that

$$N(\Gamma_i \setminus \mathcal{H}, x) \le c_A \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_i \setminus \mathcal{H})(1+x).$$

$$(4.5)$$

The proof of this theorem will take up the rest of this section. We note that our approach of proving Theorem 4.3.1 is heavily inspired by the works [23, 51] on degenerating sequences of hyperbolic surfaces and three-manifolds and we will use many of their ideas.

Let $X = \Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$ be a smooth closed hyperbolic surface with m_X closed geodesics of length ≤ 1 . Recall the thick-thin decomposition $X = X' \cup X''$ from Section 2.3, where

$$X' = \bigcup_{i=1}^{m_X} T'_{\gamma_i}, \qquad X'' = X \smallsetminus X'.$$



Figure 4.2: The thick-thin decomposition of a surface with a single short geodesic.

Then domain monotonicity for Neumann boundary conditions implies

$$N(X,x) \le N_N(X',x) + N_N(X'',x).$$
(4.6)

We will estimate the counting functions on the right-hand side of (4.6) separately. We start with the thin part X'. Note that the next proof is particularly close to the proof of [51, Thm. 1.4].

Lemma 4.3.2. There exists a constant $c_{12} > 0$, which does not depend on X, such that for each $x > \frac{1}{4}$ one has

$$N_N(X', x) \le c_{12} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m_X} w_i \right) (1+x),$$

where w_i is the width of the tube T_{γ_i} .

Proof. By domain monotonicity for Neumann boundary conditions one has

$$N_N(X', x) \le \sum_{i=1}^{m_X} N_N(T'_{\gamma_i}, x).$$

To prove the lemma it therefore suffices to show that for a closed geodesic γ in X of length $l \leq 1$ there exists some constant $c_{12} > 0$ such that

$$N_N(T'_{\gamma}, x) \le c_{12} w_l(1+x), \tag{4.7}$$

where w_l is the width of the tube T_{γ} . According to Theorem 2.3.1 we can represent the truncated tube T'_{γ} by Fermi coordinates

$${(r,t) \in \mathbb{R}^2 \mid 1 - w_l \le r \le w_l - 1, \ 0 \le t \le 1}/{(r,0)} \sim (r,1),$$

in which the metric takes the form

$$ds^2 = dr^2 + l^2 \cosh^2 r \ dt^2.$$

In these coordinates the Laplace operator reads⁴

$$-\Delta = \partial_r^2 + \tanh r \ \partial_r + \frac{1}{l^2 \cosh^2 r} \ \partial_t^2.$$
(4.8)

To estimate the Neumann spectrum of Δ on the truncated tube T'_{γ} , we want to make use of its rotational symmetry. Thus, consider the Δ -invariant decomposition

$$L^{2}(T_{\gamma}') = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} L^{2}_{n}(T_{\gamma}'),$$

⁴We note that in equation (2.2) on page 272 of [51] there is a misprint. There should be a "+" in front of $\tanh r\partial_r$.

where $L_n^2(T'_{\gamma})$ consists of smooth, square-integrable functions $v: T'_{\gamma} \to \mathbb{C}$ of the form $v(r,t) = u(r)e^{2\pi i n t}$. Let Δ_n be the restriction of Δ to $L_n^2(T'_{\gamma})$. This operator is given by

$$\Delta_n = -\partial_r^2 - \tanh r \ \partial_r + \frac{4\pi^2 n^2}{l^2 \cosh^2 r}.$$
(4.9)

Let κ_n be an eigenvalue of Δ_n for Neumann boundary conditions and ϕ_n be the corresponding eigenfunction, i.e.

$$\frac{1}{l\cosh r} \partial_r (l\cosh r \ \partial_r \phi_n) - \frac{4\pi^2 n^2}{l^2\cosh^2 r} \phi_n + \kappa_n \phi_n = 0$$
(4.10)

and

$$\partial_r \phi_n(1 - w_l, t) = \partial_r \phi_n(w_l - 1, t) = 0.$$
(4.11)

If we multiply (4.10) by $l \cosh r \ \phi_n(r,t)$ and integrate the resulting expression over $[1 - w_l, w_l - 1]$, we get by using (4.11) that

$$\kappa_n \int_{1-w_l}^{w_l-1} l \cosh r \ \phi_n^2(r,t) dr - \int_{1-w_l}^{w_l-1} l \cosh r \ (\partial_r \phi_n(r,t))^2 dr$$
$$= 4\pi^2 n^2 \int_{1-w_l}^{w_l-1} \frac{1}{l^2 \cosh^2 r} l \cosh r \ \phi_n^2(r,t) dr.$$

Since the function

$$f_l: [-w_l, w_l] \to \mathbb{R}, \ f_l(r) = (l \cosh r)^{-2}$$

assumes its minima for $r \in \{-w_l, w_l\}$ and

$$\lim_{l \to 0} f_l(w_l) = \frac{1}{4},$$

there exists an absolute constant $c_{11} > 0$ such that

$$(l\cosh r)^{-2} \ge c_{11},$$
 for all $l \in (0,1], r \in [1-w_l, w_l-1].$

Plugging this into the above equality yields

$$\kappa_n \int_{1-w_l}^{w_l-1} l \cosh r \ \phi_n^2(r,t) dr - \int_{1-w_l}^{w_l-1} l \cosh r \ (\partial_r \phi_n(r,t))^2 dr$$

$$\geq 4\pi^2 n^2 c_{11} \int_{1-w_l}^{w_l-1} l \cosh r \ \phi_n^2(r,t) dr,$$

which shows

$$\kappa_n \ge 4\pi^2 n^2 c_{11}. \tag{4.12}$$

Thus, only those $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ with

$$|n| \le \sqrt{\frac{x}{4\pi^2 c_{11}}} \tag{4.13}$$

have to be accounted for to estimate $N_N(T'_{\gamma}, x)$. Assume *n* to be fixed. We will abuse notation and also write Δ_n for the differential operator given by the right-hand side of (4.9) acting on smooth functions $u : [1 - w_l, w_l - 1] \to \mathbb{C}$. We are left with estimating the number of solutions of the (one-dimensional) problem

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_n u = \lambda u, \\ u'(1 - w_l) = u'(w_l - 1) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(4.14)

For this, we will consider the conjugate operator

$$\begin{aligned} \widetilde{\Delta}_n &= \cosh^{1/2} r \, \Delta_n \cosh^{-1/2} r \\ &= -\partial_r^2 + \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{4} \tanh^2 r + \frac{4\pi^2 n^2}{l^2 \cosh^2 r}\right) \\ &= -\partial_r^2 + \left(\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{4 \cosh^2 r} + \frac{4\pi^2 n^2}{l^2 \cosh^2 r}\right). \end{aligned}$$

Unfortunately, this conjugation does not respect Neumann boundary conditions. However, it does preserve Dirichlet boundary conditions. For this reason, we switch to Dirichlet boundary conditions by applying boundary condition monotonicity and now consider the Dirichlet problem

$$\begin{cases} u'' - \left(\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{4\cosh^2 r} + \frac{4\pi^2 n^2}{l^2 \cosh^2 r}\right) u + \lambda u = 0, \\ u(1 - w_l) = u(w_l - 1) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(4.15)

Potential monotonicity shows that the counting function of (4.15) is bounded by the counting function of the problem

$$\begin{cases} u'' - \frac{1}{4}u + \lambda u = 0, \\ u(1 - w_l) = u(w_l - 1) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(4.16)

Problem (4.16) can be exactly solved and its solutions are given by

$$u_k(r) = a \sin\left(\frac{k\pi(r-1+w_l)}{2w_l-2}\right), \ \lambda_k = \frac{1}{4} + \left(\frac{k\pi}{2w_l-2}\right)^2, \quad \text{for } k \in \mathbb{Z}, \ a \in \mathbb{C}.$$

Since

$$|\{\lambda_k \mid \lambda_k \le x\}| \le \frac{4(w_l - 1)}{\pi} \sqrt{x - \frac{1}{4}}$$

we get in view of (4.13) and the earlier mentioned boundary condition monotonicity that

$$N_N(T'_{\gamma}, x) \le 2\sqrt{\frac{x}{4\pi^2 c_{11}}} \left(\frac{4(w_l - 1)}{\pi}\sqrt{x - \frac{1}{4}} + 2\right).$$

This shows

$$N_N(T'_{\gamma}, x) \le c_{12}w_l(1+x)$$

with

$$c_{12} = \frac{4}{\pi \sqrt{c_{11}}}.$$

We continue with the thick part. The proof of the following lemma is an adaptation of [23, Lemma 3.6]:

Lemma 4.3.3. There exists an absolute constant c_{16} such that for any x > 1/4one has

$$N_N(X'', x) \le c_{16} \operatorname{vol}(X)(1+x).$$
(4.17)

Proof. Let us fix⁵ $\delta = \frac{1}{2}$ and set $X_1 = X \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{m_X} T_{\gamma_i}$. By the fourth statement of Theorem 2.3.1 each point $p \in X_1$ satisfies $r_p(X) > \delta$. Take a maximal set \mathcal{P} of points $p \in X_1$ of pairwise distances greater than or equal to δ . Since balls of radius $\delta/2$ with center at $p \in \mathcal{P}$ are disjoint, we have

$$|\mathcal{P}| \le \operatorname{vol}(B_{\delta/2}(p))^{-1} \operatorname{vol}(X), \tag{4.18}$$

where $p \in \mathcal{P}$ is arbitrary⁶. Consider the covering \mathcal{U} of X'' consisting of δ -balls $B_{\delta}(p)$ centered at $p \in \mathcal{P}$ and annuli $\Omega_i = T_{\gamma_i} \smallsetminus T'_{\gamma_i}$, $i = 1, ..., m_X$. We claim that there exists an absolute constant $c_{13} > 0$ such that for every $p_0 \in X''$ the number m_0 of sets $U \in \mathcal{U}$ containing p_0 is at most c_{13} : By the second statement of Theorem 2.3.1 the tubes $T_{\gamma_i}, i = 1, ..., m_X$ are disjoint, so that p_0 can sit in at most one tube at the same time. If p_0 is contained in some δ -ball $B_{\delta}(p_1)$ with $p_1 \in \mathcal{P}$, we already have $\operatorname{dist}(p_0, p_1) = \delta$ by the choice of \mathcal{P} and therefore $B_{\delta}(p_1) \subset B_{2\delta}(p_0)$. Again, the balls of radius $\delta/2$ with center at $p \in \mathcal{P}$ are disjoint, so that

$$m_0 \le \frac{\operatorname{vol}(B_{2\delta}(p_0))}{\operatorname{vol}(B_{\delta/2}(p_1))} + 1.$$
 (4.19)

One may check from the fifth statement of Theorem 2.3.1 that

$$r_{p_0}(X) > \operatorname{arcsinh}(\cosh(1/2)\cosh(1) - \sinh(1)) > 0.53 > \frac{\delta}{2}$$

and hence $\operatorname{vol}(B_{\delta/2}(p_0)) = \operatorname{vol}(B_{\delta/2}(p_1))$. Plugging this into (4.19) yields

$$m_0 \le \frac{\operatorname{vol}(B_{2\delta}(p_0))}{\operatorname{vol}(B_{\delta/2}(p_0))} + 1.$$
 (4.20)

A standard volume comparison estimate (see e.g. [47, eq. (2.2.2)]) then shows

$$\frac{\operatorname{vol}(B_{2\delta}(p_0))}{\operatorname{vol}(B_{\delta/2}(p_0))} \le 16e^{2\delta}\delta^2 \tag{4.21}$$

⁵We use the notation $\delta = \frac{1}{2}$ for conceptual clarity and to aid future generalizations of the above argument to any semisimple Lie group G of non-compact type, where the value of δ depends on the Margulis constant of G. ⁶We are using here that $\operatorname{vol}(B_{\delta}(p))$ does not depend on p, since $r_p(X) > \delta$.

and hence $m_0 \leq c_{13}$ with

$$c_{13} = 1 + 16e^{2\delta}\delta^2. \tag{4.22}$$

We now prove the desired inequality (4.17). Let $(\kappa_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ be the sequence obtained by arranging all Neumann eigenvalues of all sets $U \in \mathcal{U}$ in increasing order into a single sequence and let $(\kappa'_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ be the sequence of Neumann eigenvalues of X''. Let us show that

$$\kappa_k' \ge \kappa_k / c_{13}. \tag{4.23}$$

For this consider the Hilbert spaces $\mathscr{H}(X'')$ and $H = \bigoplus_{U \in \mathcal{U}} H^1(U)$ and the restriction map $F : f \mapsto (f|_U)_{U \in \mathcal{U}}$. Then the eigenvalues $(\kappa'_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ have a Max-Min characterization in terms of the Rayleigh-Ritz quotient

$$\mathcal{R}(f) = \frac{\int_{X''} |\operatorname{grad}(f)|^2}{\int_{X''} |f|^2}$$

Similarly, the $(\kappa_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ are critical values of

(

$$\mathcal{R}_1(f) = \frac{\sum_{U \in \mathcal{U}} \int_U |\operatorname{grad}(f_U)|^2}{\sum_{U \in \mathcal{U}} \cdot \int_U |f_U|^2}.$$

One verifies easily

$$1/c_{13}$$
) $\mathcal{R}_1(F(f)) \leq \mathcal{R}(f),$

which shows (4.23) in view of the Max-Min principle. From (4.23) we get

$$N_N(X'', x) \le |\mathcal{P}| N_N(B_{\delta}(p_0), c_{13}x) + \sum_{i=1}^{m_X} N_N(\Omega_i, c_{13}x), \qquad (4.24)$$

where $p_0 \in \mathcal{P}$ is arbitrary. Arguing exactly as in Lemma 4.3.2, one may derive for any x > 1/4 the bound

$$N_N(\Omega_i, x) \le c_{14}(1+x), \qquad i = 1, ..., m_X,$$
(4.25)

for some absolute constant $c_{14} > 0$. Furthermore, [47, Thm. 1.2.6] shows for any x > 0 that

$$N_N(B_\delta(p_0), x) \le c_{15}(1+x) \tag{4.26}$$

with $c_{15} > 0$ some absolute constant. Plugging inequalities (4.18), (4.25) and (4.26) into (4.24) gives

$$N_N(X'', x) \le \frac{c_{15}}{\operatorname{vol}(B_{\delta/2}(p_0))} \operatorname{vol}(X)(1 + c_{13}x) + c_{14}m_X(1 + c_{13}x).$$

By the first statement of Theorem 2.3.1 we have

$$m_X \le 3g - 3 < 4\pi(g - 1) = \operatorname{vol}(X) \tag{4.27}$$

and therefore

$$N_N(X'', x) \le c_{16} \operatorname{vol}(X)(1+x)$$

with

$$c_{16} = \frac{c_{13}c_{15}}{\operatorname{vol}(B_{\delta/2}(p_0))} + c_{13}c_{14}.$$

Finally, we also need a lower bound for the counting function:

Lemma 4.3.4. For x > 1/2 one has

$$N(X,x) \ge \frac{4}{\pi} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m_X} (w_i - 1) \right) \sqrt{x - \frac{1}{2}} - 2m_X.$$
(4.28)

Proof. By domain monotonicity for Dirichlet boundary conditions one has

$$N(X,x) \ge N_D(X'',x) + \sum_{i=1}^{m_X} N_D(T'_{\gamma_i},x).$$
(4.29)

Let the notation be as in the proof of Lemma 4.3.2. It suffices to consider the operator

$$\widetilde{\Delta}_0 = \partial_r^2 - \left(\frac{1}{4} + \frac{1}{4\cosh^2 r}\right). \tag{4.30}$$

Since $\cosh^{-2} r \leq 1$, an application of potential monotonicity to the Dirichlet problem for the operator (4.30) shows that $N_D(T'_{\gamma}, x)$ is bounded from below by the counting function of the problem

$$\begin{cases} u'' - \frac{1}{2}u + \lambda u = 0, \\ u(1 - w_l) = u(w_l - 1) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(4.31)

Problem (4.31) can exactly be solved and the solutions are given by

$$u_k(r) = a \sin\left(\frac{k\pi(r-1)}{2w_l-2}\right), \ \lambda_k = \frac{1}{2} + \left(\frac{k\pi}{2w_l-2}\right)^2, \ \text{for } k \in \mathbb{Z}, \ a \in \mathbb{C}.$$

Hence, for x > 1/2 we have

$$N_D(T'_{\gamma}, x) \ge \frac{4}{\pi} (w_l - 1) \sqrt{x - \frac{1}{2}} - 2,$$

which in view of (4.29) gives the desired inequality (4.28).

Proof of Theorem 4.3.1. Let m_j be the number of closed geodesics of length smaller than or equal to 1 in $X_j = \Gamma_j \setminus \mathcal{H}$. From (4.6) and the upper bounds for the counting function given in Lemma 4.3.2 and Lemma 4.3.3, we get

$$N(X_j, x) \le \left[c_{12} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m_j} w_i \right) + c_{16} \operatorname{vol}(X_j) \right] (1+x)$$
(4.32)

Now, fix some $x_0 > 1/2$ and let 1_I be the characteristic function of the interval $I = [-x_0, x_0]$. By [82, Lemma 1] there exists an even function h on \mathbb{R} , whose Fourier transform is of compact support and such that $1_I \leq h$. Fix some $\varepsilon > 0$. Since $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is Plancherel-convergent, we have for j large enough that

$$|\mu_{\Gamma_j}(h) - \operatorname{vol}(X_j)\mu_{\operatorname{Pl}}(h)| \le \varepsilon \operatorname{vol}(X_j).$$
(4.33)

Combining Lemma 4.3.4 and (4.33) shows

$$\frac{4}{\pi} \left(\sum_{i=1}^{m_j} (w_i - 1) \right) \sqrt{x_0 - \frac{1}{2}} - 2m_j \leq N(X_j, x_0) \\ \leq \mu_{\Gamma_j}(h) \\ \leq (\mu_{\mathrm{Pl}}(h) + \varepsilon) \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \backslash \mathcal{H}).$$

As before, we have $m_j \leq \operatorname{vol}(X_j)$ (cf. (4.27)), so that we may derive from the above inequality that

$$\sum_{i=1}^{m_j} w_i \le c_{17} \operatorname{vol}(X_j) \tag{4.34}$$

holds with

$$c_{17} = \left(1 + \frac{\pi}{4\sqrt{x_0 - \frac{1}{2}}}(\mu_{\rm Pl}(h) + \varepsilon + 2)\right).$$

After plugging (4.34) into (4.32), we end up with

$$N(X_j, x) \le c_A \operatorname{vol}(X_j)(1+x)$$

where

$$c_A = c_{12}c_{17} + c_{16}.$$

This concludes the proof.

As a corollary to Theorem 4.3.1 we obtain

Theorem 4.3.5. Let $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of torsion-free cocompact lattices in $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ and Λ_j be the logarithmic derivative of the Selberg zeta function of $X_j = \Gamma_j \setminus \mathcal{H}$. The sequence $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is Plancherel convergent if and only if

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\Lambda_j(s)}{\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \setminus G)} = 0$$

for all $s \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$.

4.4 Convergence inside the Critical Strip

Let $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a Plancherel-convergent sequence of torsion-free cocompact lattices in $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{R})$. Theorem 4.1.1 deals with the behaviour of $\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \setminus G)^{-1} \Lambda_j(s)$ in the half-plane $\{s \in \mathbb{C} \mid \operatorname{Re}(s) > 1\}$. The restriction to this particular domain was necessary in the proof to ensure the convergence of the Euler product representing the Selberg zeta functions $\zeta_{\Gamma_j}(s)$, $j \in \mathbb{N}$. It is natural to ask what happens for other values of s. One may use the functional equation of ζ_{Γ_j} to deal with $s \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathscr{P}$ such that $\operatorname{Re}(s) < 0$:

Proposition 4.4.1. Let Γ be a torsion-free cocompact lattice. For $s \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathscr{P}$ one has

$$\Lambda_{\Gamma}(s) + \Lambda_{\Gamma}(1-s) = \left(s - \frac{1}{2}\right) \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma \backslash G) \operatorname{cot}(\pi s).$$

Proof. [31, Prop. 3.4]

Corollary 4.4.2. Let $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a Plancherel-convergent sequence of torsionfree cocompact lattices. Then for $s \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathscr{P}$ with $\operatorname{Re}(s) < 0$ we have

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\Lambda_j(s)}{\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \setminus G)} = \left(s - \frac{1}{2}\right) \cot(\pi s).$$

Proof. This directly follows from Theorem 4.1.1 and Proposition 4.4.1. \Box

It remains to work out the case of $s \in \mathbb{C}$ lying in the critical strip

$$S = \{ s \in \mathbb{C} \mid 0 \le \operatorname{Re}(s) \le 1 \}$$

If $s \in \mathscr{P}$, we may have that s is a pole of Λ_j for some $j \in \mathbb{N}$, in which case $\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \setminus G)^{-1}\Lambda_j(s)$ would not even be defined. We therefore restrict our attention to those s sitting outside \mathscr{P} . Central to our treatment of these values will be McKean's formula [65, p.239] for the logarithmic derivative of the Selberg zeta function:

Proposition 4.4.3 (McKean's formula). Let $X = \Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$ be a smooth closed hyperbolic surface, $(\lambda_k)_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ the Laplace eigenvalues of X and Λ_{Γ} be the logarithmic derivative of the Selberg zeta function. Let s be a complex number sitting in

$$U_0 = \{ s \in \mathbb{C} \mid \operatorname{Re}(s) > 1, \ \operatorname{Re}(s(s-1)) > 0 \}.$$

Then one has

$$\Lambda_{\Gamma}(s) = (2s-1) \int_0^\infty e^{-t\xi} (\theta(t) - \varphi_0(t) \operatorname{vol}(X)) dt, \qquad (4.35)$$

where $\theta(t) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} e^{-t\lambda_k}$ is the trace of the heat kernel, $\varphi_0(t) = (4\pi)^{-1} \mu_{\text{Pl}}(e^{-t\lambda})$ is the fundamental solution of the heat equation at the origin and $\xi = s(s-1)$.

Proof. Fix some $s \in U_0$ and let $\xi = s(s-1)$. Let us first check that the integral on the right-hand side of (4.35) is absolutely convergent. Since both $\theta(t)$ and $\varphi_0(t)$ are monotonically decreasing positive functions, the integrand is $O(e^{-t \operatorname{Re}(\xi)})$ for $t \to \infty$. For $t \to 0$ one has the known small-time asymptotics (see e.g. [66])

$$\theta(t) \sim \frac{\operatorname{vol}(X)}{4\pi t} + O(1), \ \varphi_0(t) \sim \frac{1}{4\pi t} + O(1),$$
(4.36)

which shows that $\theta(t) - \varphi_0(t) \operatorname{vol}(X)$ stays bounded as $t \to 0$. Thus, we have

$$\int_0^\infty |e^{-t\xi}(\theta(t) - \varphi_0(t)\operatorname{vol}(X))| dt < \infty.$$
(4.37)

Let us evaluate this integral. Recall from (2.14) that

$$\sum_{[\gamma]} \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{e^{l_{\gamma}/2} - e^{-l_{\gamma}/2}} \frac{e^{-t/4 - l_{\gamma}^2/4t}}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} = \theta(t) - \varphi_0(t) \operatorname{vol}(X)$$
(4.38)

holds. We also need the well-known Laplace transform [74, p.41]

$$\int_0^\infty e^{-tz} \frac{e^{-a^2/4t}}{\sqrt{4\pi t}} dt = \frac{1}{2} \frac{e^{-a\sqrt{z}}}{\sqrt{z}}, \quad \text{for } \operatorname{Re}(z) > 0, \ \operatorname{Re}(a) \ge 0,$$

where for $\sqrt{z} = \exp(\frac{1}{2}\log(z))$ one takes the logarithm with branch cut at the non-positive real numbers. Multiplying (4.38) with $e^{-t\xi}$ and integrating over $[0,\infty)$ yields

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t\xi} (\theta(t) - \varphi_{0}(t) \operatorname{vol}(X)) dt = \sum_{[\gamma]} \frac{l_{\gamma_{0}}}{e^{l_{\gamma}/2} - e^{-l_{\gamma}/2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-t(\xi+1/4)} \frac{e^{-l_{\gamma}^{2}/4t}}{\sqrt{4\pi t}}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2s-1} \sum_{[\gamma]} \frac{l_{\gamma_{0}}}{e^{l_{\gamma}/2} - e^{-l_{\gamma}/2}} e^{-l_{\gamma}(s-1/2)}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2s-1} \Lambda_{\Gamma}(s)$$

where we used the expression (2.16) for the logarithmic derivative of the Selberg zeta function, which is valid for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$. Note that interchanging the integral and the infinite sum in the first step is allowed, since (4.37) permits us to use Fubini's theorem. This concludes the proof.

McKean's formula expresses Λ_{Γ} as a Laplace transform in the variable ξ . The poles in the range $-\frac{1}{4} < \xi \leq 0$ correspond to the small eigenvalues $0 \leq \lambda_k < \frac{1}{4}$ of $\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$. Wolpert [102, p.285] realized that after subtracting the contributions coming from small eigenvalues,

$$\frac{\Lambda_{\Gamma}(s)}{2s-1} - \sum_{0 \le \lambda_k < \frac{1}{4}} \frac{1}{s(s-1) + \lambda_k} = \int_0^\infty e^{-t\xi} (\theta^*(t) - \varphi_0(t) \operatorname{vol}(X)) dt, \quad (4.39)$$

where $\theta^*(t) = \sum_{\lambda_k \geq \frac{1}{4}} e^{-t\lambda_k}$, the remaining integral on the right-hand side of (4.39) stays finite on the larger domain $\operatorname{Re}(\xi) > -1/4$. It is essentially this observation, which allows us to extend Theorem 4.1.1 into the critical strip S:

Theorem 4.4.4. Let $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a Plancherel sequence. For s sitting in

$$U_1 = \{ s \in \mathbb{C} \mid \operatorname{Re}(s) > 1/2, \ \operatorname{Re}(s(s-1)) > -\frac{1}{4}, \ s \notin \mathscr{P} \}.$$

one has

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\Lambda_j(s)}{\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \setminus \mathcal{H})} = 0.$$

Proof. For $j \in \mathbb{N}$ let $X_j = \Gamma_j \setminus \mathcal{H}$ be the smooth closed hyperbolic surface associated to the lattice Γ_j and $(\lambda_{j,k})_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ be the Laplace eigenvalues of X_j . For $s \in U_0$ we have by McKean's formula

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\Lambda_j(s)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} &= (2s-1) \int_0^1 e^{-t\xi} \left(\frac{\theta_j(t)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} - \varphi_0(t) \right) dt \\ &+ (2s-1) \int_1^\infty e^{-t\xi} \left(\frac{\theta_j^*(t)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} - \varphi_0(t) \right) dt \\ &+ \frac{(2s-1)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} \int_1^\infty e^{-t\xi} \left(\sum_{0 \le \lambda_{j,k} < \frac{1}{4}_1} e^{-t\lambda_{j,k}} \right) dt \\ &=: I_{1,j}(s) + I_{2,j}(s) + I_{3,j}(s), \end{aligned}$$

where $\theta_j^*(t) = \sum_{\lambda_{j,k} \ge \frac{1}{4}} e^{-t\lambda_{j,k}}$. Let us first check that the equality

$$\frac{\Lambda_j(s)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} = I_{1,j}(s) + I_{2,j}(s) + I_{3,j}(s)$$
(4.40)

can be extended to U_1 . Starting with $I_{3,j}$ we observe that

$$I_{3,j}(s) = \frac{2s-1}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} \sum_{0 \le \lambda_{j,k} < \frac{1}{4}} \frac{e^{-(\xi + \lambda_{j,k})}}{\xi + \lambda_{j,k}},$$
(4.41)

which shows that $I_{3,j}$ extends to a holomorphic function on U_1 . Regarding $I_{2,j}(s)$ we claim that the integral defining $I_{2,j}(s)$ converges absolutely for $s \in U_1$. To see this we write $T_k = \lambda_{j,k} - \frac{1}{4}$ and let k_0 be the smallest natural number so that $T_{k_0} \geq 0$. Then we have

$$\frac{\theta_{j}^{*}(t)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_{j})} = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(X_{j})} \sum_{k=k_{0}}^{\infty} m(X_{j}, \lambda_{j,k}) e^{-t\lambda_{j,k}} \\
= \frac{e^{-t/4}}{\operatorname{vol}(X_{j})} \sum_{k=k_{0}}^{\infty} m(X_{j}, T_{k} + 1/4) e^{-tT_{k}} \\
\leq \frac{e^{-t/4}}{\operatorname{vol}(X_{j})} \sum_{T=0}^{\infty} e^{-tT} \left(\sum_{T \leq T_{k} \leq T+1} m(X_{j}, T_{k} + 1/4) \right) \\
\leq \frac{e^{-t/4}}{\operatorname{vol}(X_{j})} \sum_{T=0}^{\infty} e^{-tT} N(X_{j}, T + 5/4) \\
\leq c_{A} \left(\sum_{T=0}^{\infty} e^{-tT} (T + 9/4) \right) e^{-t/4}.$$

Since

$$\phi_0(t) = (4\pi)^{-1} \left(\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-tr^2} r \tanh(\pi r) dr \right) e^{-t/4},$$

and $b(t) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-tr^2} r \tanh^2(\pi r) dr$ is monotonically decreasing on $[1, \infty)$, we get for $t \ge 1$

$$\left|\frac{\theta_{j}^{*}(t)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_{j})} - \varphi_{0}(t)\right| \le c_{18}e^{-t/4},\tag{4.42}$$

where

$$c_{18} = c_A \left(\sum_{T=0} e^{-T} (T+9/4) \right) + \frac{b(1)}{4\pi} < \infty.$$

This shows that the integral representing $I_{2,j}(s)$ converges absolutely for $s \in U_1$ and by a standard result on parameter-valued integrals (see e.g. [38, Satz IV.5.6]) we have that the resulting function $I_{2,j}: U_1 \to \mathbb{C}$ is continuous. Next we will prove that $I_{2,j}$ is holomorphic on U_1 by using Morera's theorem. Hence, consider a closed piecewise smooth curve η in U_1 and let

$$f_j(t) = \frac{\theta_j^*(t)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} - \varphi_0(t).$$

Then

$$\begin{aligned} \int_{\eta} I_{2,j}(s) ds &= \int_{\eta} \int_{1}^{\infty} (2s-1) e^{-ts(s-1)} f_j(t) dt ds \\ &= \int_{1}^{\infty} \left(\int_{\eta} (2s-1) e^{-ts(s-1)} ds \right) f_j(t) dt = 0, \end{aligned}$$

and the holomorphy of $I_{2,j}: U_1 \to \mathbb{C}$ follows. In the above computation the application of Fubini's theorem in the second step is justified due to the integrand being absolutely integrable. In the last step we used Cauchy's integral theorem for the analytic function $f(s) = (2s - 1)e^{-ts(s-1)}$ on the simply-connected domain U_1 . For $I_{1,j}(s)$ one notes that the small-time asymptotics (4.36) gives

$$\left|\frac{\theta_j(t)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} - \varphi_0(t)\right| \le c(X_j)$$

for $c(X_j) > 0$ some constant depending on X_j and then proceeds as before to show that $I_{1,j}$ defines a holomorphic function on U_1 . Hence, we have shown that $I_{1,j}(s) + I_{2,j}(s) + I_{3,j}(s)$ is a holomorphic function on U_1 , which by McKean's formula agrees with $vol(X_j)^{-1}\Lambda_j$ on a subset containing an accumulation point. By the identity theorem for holomorphic function this implies (4.40) for $s \in U_1$. Now, we will estimate each of the three contributions in (4.40) separately. Let us start with $I_{3,j}(s)$. We have

$$|I_{3,j}(s)| = \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} \left| \sum_{0 \le \lambda_{j,k} < \frac{1}{4}} \frac{2s - 1}{s(s - 1) + \lambda_{j,k}} \right| \le C_s \frac{N(X_j, \frac{1}{4})}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)}, \quad (4.43)$$

where

$$C_s = \sup_{y \in [0, \frac{1}{4}]} \left| \frac{2s - 1}{s(s - 1) + y} \right| < \infty.$$

Since the small eigenvalues $\{\lambda_{j,k} \mid \lambda_{j,k} < \frac{1}{4}\}$ correspond to either the complementary series representations $\widehat{G}_{\text{comp}}$ or the trivial representation π_1 , we get

$$|I_{3,j}(s)| \le C_s \frac{\mu_{\Gamma_j}(\{\pi_1\} \cup \widehat{G}_{\text{comp}} \cup \{\pi_0^+\})}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)}.$$
(4.44)

Neither the trivial representation nor the complementary series representations are contained in the support of the Plancherel measure, so that Theorem 2.11.3 shows that $I_{3,j}(s)$ converges to zero for $j \to \infty$. Let us turn to $I_{1,j}(s)$. We have for any $x_0 > 0$ that

$$\begin{aligned} |I_{1,j}(s)| &= \left| (2s-1) \int_0^1 e^{-t\xi} \left(\frac{\theta_j(t)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} - \varphi_0(t) \right) dt \right| \\ &\leq |2s-1| \int_0^1 e^{-t\operatorname{Re}(\xi)} \left(\frac{\theta_j(t)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} - \varphi_0(t) \right) dt \\ &\leq |2s-1| e^{x_0} \int_0^1 e^{-t(\operatorname{Re}(\xi) + x_0)} \left(\frac{\theta_j(t)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} - \varphi_0(t) \right) dt \\ &\leq |2s-1| e^{x_0} \int_0^\infty e^{-t(\operatorname{Re}(\xi) + x_0)} \left(\frac{\theta_j(t)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} - \varphi_0(t) \right) dt \end{aligned}$$

where we have used that $\theta_j(t) - \operatorname{vol}(X_j)\varphi_0(t)$ is positive for t > 0, which follows from (4.38). By choosing x_0 so that $\operatorname{Re}(\xi) + x_0 \geq 2$ holds, we get from another application of McKean's formula that

$$|I_{1,j}(s)| \le \left(\frac{|2s-1|e^{x_0}}{5}\right) \frac{\Lambda_j(2)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)}.$$
(4.45)

and the right-hand side of (4.45) converges to 0 for $j \to \infty$ by Theorem 4.3.5. It remains to check that $I_{2,j}(s)$ vanishes in the limit $j \to \infty$. Consider the functions

$$\phi_j(t) = e^{-t\xi} \left(\frac{\theta_j^*(t)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} - \varphi_0(t) \right), \qquad t \in [1, \infty).$$

We want to apply Lebesgue's theorem to derive

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \int_1^\infty \phi_j(t) dt = 0.$$
(4.46)

From (4.42) we see that $\phi(t) = c_{18}e^{-t\delta}$ with $\delta = \operatorname{Re}(\xi) + 1/4 > 0$ is an integrable majorant for the ϕ_j , $j \in \mathbb{N}$. We are left with showing that $\phi_j(t) \to 0$ as $j \to \infty$. Let $\varepsilon > 0$ be some positive real number and

$$h_t(\lambda) = \begin{cases} e^{-t\lambda}, \ \lambda \ge \frac{1}{4}, \\ 0, \text{ else.} \end{cases}$$

Since the trivial representation and the complementary series do not lie in the support of the Plancherel measure, we have

$$\phi_j(t) = e^{-t\xi} \left(\frac{\mu_{\Gamma_j}(h_t)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} - \mu_{\operatorname{Pl}}(h_t) \right).$$
Let $J \subset [0, \infty)$ be a relatively open, bounded interval and 1_J the characteristic function of J. By Sauvageot's density principle [84] one has

$$\left|\frac{\mu_{\Gamma_j}(1_J)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} - \mu_{\operatorname{Pl}}(1_J)\right| \le \varepsilon, \tag{4.47}$$

for j large enough, which clearly extends to any linear combination of such characteristic functions. Standard measure theory [38, Satz III.4.13] allows us to find a sequence of linear combinations $(g_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ of such functions with

$$0 \leq g_i \nearrow h_t$$
, as $i \to \infty$

outside a set of Plancherel measure zero, and therefore by the Theorem of monotone convergence

$$|\mu_{\rm Pl}(g_i) - \mu_{\rm Pl}(h_t)| \le \varepsilon \tag{4.48}$$

for i large enough. The proof of [38, Satz III.4.13] shows that for the function h_t we even have that

$$\Phi_i(T) = \sup_{\lambda \in [T, T+1)} |h_t(\lambda) - g_i(\lambda)|$$
(4.49)

tends to zero as $i \to \infty$. Furthermore,

$$0 \le \mu_{\Gamma_j}(h_t - g_i) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} h_t(\lambda_{j,k}) - g_i(\lambda_{j,k})$$
$$\le \sum_{T=0}^{\infty} \Phi_i(T) \left(N(X_j, T+1) - N(X_j, T) \right)$$
$$\le c_A \operatorname{vol}(X_j) \sum_{T=0}^{\infty} \Phi_i(T) (2T+3),$$

where we made use of Theorem 4.3.1. Since $\Phi_i(T) \leq 2e^{-T}$, we can apply dominated convergence to the last sum to derive

$$|\mu_{\Gamma_j}(h_t) - \mu_{\Gamma_j}(g_i)| \le \varepsilon \operatorname{vol}(X_j) \tag{4.50}$$

for i large enough. Combining the estimates (4.47), (4.48) and (4.50) we end up with

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{\mu_{\Gamma_j}(h_t)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} - \mu_{\operatorname{Pl}}(h_t) \right| &\leq \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} |\mu_{\Gamma_j}(h_t) - \mu_{\Gamma_j}(g_i)| \\ &+ \left| \frac{\mu_{\Gamma_j}(g_i)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} - \mu_{\operatorname{Pl}}(g_i) \right| \\ &+ \left| \mu_{\operatorname{Pl}}(g_i) - \mu_{\operatorname{Pl}}(h_t) \right| \leq 3\varepsilon, \end{aligned}$$

for *i* and *j* sufficiently large. This implies $\lim_{j \to \infty} \phi_j(t) = 0$ for $t \ge 1$.

Chapter 5

Spectral Geometry of Congruence Surfaces and Zeta Functions

5.1 Summary

When describing the behaviour of zeta functions of a Plancherel sequence $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$, we have, until now, always excluded the set

$$\mathscr{P} = \{-k \mid k \in \mathbb{N}\} \cup [0,1] \cup (\frac{1}{2} + i\mathbb{R})$$

from our considerations, as any point in this set could be a pole of the logarithmic derivative of the Selberg zeta function. The goal of this chapter is to close this gap by discussing the expected behaviour of the zeta functions for $s \in \mathscr{P}$. Let us start with considering the critical line $\frac{1}{2} + i\mathbb{R}$. The poles of Λ_j will become dense in $\frac{1}{2} + i\mathbb{R}$ for $j \to \infty$, in the sense that any fixed open subset of $\frac{1}{2} + i\mathbb{R}$ contains a pole of Λ_j for j sufficiently large. If we are given a point $s \in \frac{1}{2} + i\mathbb{R}$, which is not a pole of any of the Λ_j , the literature unfortunately does not offer a way to bound the rate with which the poles are approaching the point s. The author expects the behaviour of $\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \setminus G)^{-1} \Lambda_j(s)$ to be chaotic, even though he is unable to offer any precise results in this direction.

Regarding the set $\{-k \mid k \in \mathbb{N}\}$ we note that according to Theorem 2.8.1 any s = -k with $k \in \mathbb{N}$ is a pole of Λ_j for each $j \in \mathbb{N}$, so that one either completely ignores these points or removes the poles, in which case the asymptotics follow from Theorem 4.1.2 and the functional equation of the Selberg zeta function.

This leaves us with the interval [0,1]. Any pole in [0,1] comes from a small eigenvalue $\lambda \leq \frac{1}{4}$ and these can be controlled in terms of the spectral geometry of the surface in question (cf. [86]). In some arithmetic scenarios, there conjecturally are no non-zero small eigenvalues and using partial results towards this conjecture, we can show the following

Proposition 5.1.1. Let $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of smooth closed congruence surfaces with $\operatorname{vol}(X_j) \to \infty$. Then for $s \in (\frac{39}{64}, 1)$ one has

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\Lambda_j(s)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} = 0$$

Furthermore, for the Euler-Selberg constants one has

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\gamma_{X_j}}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} = 0.$$

The above proposition fails for arbitrary Plancherel sequences:

Proposition 5.1.2. There exist a Plancherel-convergent sequence of smooth closed arithmetic surfaces $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\gamma_{X_j}}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} = l_0$$

for some positive constant $l_0 > 0$.

This suggests that, while one still may get convergence of the (possibly renormalized) zeta functions, the limit is not uniquely fixed by the property of being a Plancherel sequence. The construction of the arithmetic surfaces from Proposition 5.1.2 will be the main content of the following sections. On our way we will demonstrate a technique to construct congruence surfaces containing prescribed Y-pieces. The proofs of the above propositions can be found in Section 5.3.

5.2 Arithmetic and Geometry of Two-Generator Subgroups

The goal of this section is to study a few arithmetic and geometric aspects of two-generator subgroups of $PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$. The first part of this discussion is based on works of Maskit (cf. [62, 63]).

Let us first consider the relationship between certain two-generator subgroups and Y-pieces. Let Y_0 be a Y-piece. Since the signature of Y_0 is (0,3), the associated Fuchsian group Γ with $\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H} \cong Y_0$ is of the form

$$\Gamma = \langle \alpha, \beta, \gamma \mid \alpha \beta \gamma = 1 \rangle \tag{5.1}$$

(cf. [72]), where α , β and γ correspond to loops in Y_0 , which are freely homotopic to the boundary geodesics of Y_0 . Clearly, our presentation of Γ in (5.1) is redundant and we can write $\Gamma = \langle \alpha, \beta \rangle$ for two hyperbolic transformations $\alpha, \beta \in$ PSL₂(\mathbb{R}). The axes A_{α} and A_{β} are disjoint and an elementary computation (see [54, Lemma 1]) shows that¹

$$\operatorname{tr} \alpha \operatorname{tr} \beta \operatorname{tr} \alpha \beta < 0. \tag{5.2}$$

¹Note that the sign of the left-hand side of (5.2) does not depend on the choice of lifts for α, β .

Now, we consider the converse direction and start with a two-generator subgroup $\Gamma = \langle \alpha, \beta \rangle$ of $\text{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ and try to find the right obstructions on α and β so that $\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$ is a surface of signature (0,3) with boundary geodesics given by α, β and $(\alpha\beta)^{-1}$. Let Y_0 be a Y-piece, whose boundary geodesics are given by a, b and c with respective lengths l_a, l_b and l_c . If we cut Y_0 open along the common orthogonals of the boundary geodesics, we get a geodesic hexagon, which can be isometrically embedded into the upper half-plane:



Figure 5.1: A geodesic hexagon in the upper half-plane.

In view of Figure 5.1, it is natural (cf. [63, §3]) to make the following

Definition 5.2.1. A triple $(\alpha, \beta, \gamma) \in PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$ of transformations are called *geometric generators for a pants group* if the following hold:

- 1. The transformations α, β and γ are hyperbolic and the three axes A_{α}, A_{β} and A_{γ} are disjoint.
- 2. The three axes A_{α}, A_{β} and A_{γ} bound a common region D.
- 3. When traversing any of these axes from the repelling fixed point to the attracting point, the region D always lies on the right.
- 4. The group $\Gamma = \langle \alpha, \beta, \gamma \rangle$ has a single defining relation, namely $\alpha \beta \gamma = 1$.

We call $\Gamma = \langle \alpha, \beta \rangle$ a pants group.

Theorem 5.2.2. Let $\alpha, \beta \in PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$ be two hyperbolic transformations. If the axes A_{α}, A_{β} are disjoint and (5.2) holds, the transformations α, β and $(\alpha\beta)^{-1}$ are geometric generators of a pants group.

Proof. [62, Thm. 4.1]

Let us explicitly write down matrices fulfilling the conditions of the above definition. Let us fix $x, y, \mu \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$. If we make the choice (cf. [63, §4])

$$\alpha = \begin{pmatrix} e^x & 0\\ 0 & e^{-x} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \beta = \frac{1}{\sinh \mu} \begin{pmatrix} \sinh(\mu - y) & \sinh y\\ -\sinh y & \sinh(\mu + y) \end{pmatrix}, \tag{5.3}$$

the attracting and repelling fixed point of α are given by 0 and ∞ respectively, while for β the attracting and repelling fixed point are given by $e^{-\mu}$ and e^{μ} respectively. We have

$$\gamma = (\alpha\beta)^{-1} = \frac{1}{\sinh\mu} \begin{pmatrix} e^{-x}\sinh(\mu+y) & -e^x\sinh y\\ e^{-x}\sinh y & e^x\sinh(\mu-y) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (5.4)

It is an elementary exercise to show that one can choose the three parameters x, y and μ in such a way that

$$\operatorname{tr} \alpha = 2 \cosh(l_a/2), \qquad \operatorname{tr} \beta = 2 \cosh(l_b/2), \qquad \operatorname{tr} \gamma = -2 \cosh(l_c/2)$$

holds. By applying Theorem 5.2.2 to α, β we see that $\Gamma = \langle \alpha, \beta \rangle$ is a pants group.

Remark 5.2.3. For the interested reader we note that the quantity μ is related to the distance d between A_{α} and A_{β} via $\coth \mu = \cosh d$.

In summary, we have a bijection between conjugacy classes of pants groups and isometry classes of Y-pieces, where a pants group $\Gamma = \langle \alpha, \beta \rangle$ is mapped to the quotient surface $Y = \Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$ of signature (0,3).

Now, assume we are given a pants group $\Gamma = \langle \alpha, \beta \rangle$ contained in a cocompact torsion-free Fuchsian group Γ' . The next proposition gives a criterion to decide, when the geodesics α, β and $\gamma = (\alpha\beta)^{-1}$ appear as the boundary geodesics of some Y-piece Y_0 in the hyperbolic surface $X = \Gamma' \setminus \mathcal{H}$:

Proposition 5.2.4. Let $X = \Gamma' \setminus \mathcal{H}$ be a smooth closed hyperbolic surface. Let $\alpha, \beta \in \Gamma'$ be geometric generators of a pants group $\Gamma = \langle \alpha, \beta \rangle$. Assume that the geodesics α and β are simple and disjoint. Then the geodesics $\gamma = (\alpha\beta)^{-1}$ is simple and disjoint to both α and β . Furthermore, the three geodesics α, β and γ form the boundary geodesics of a pair of pants Y_0 in X.

Proof. Let us choose a point $z_0 \in X$ and fix an isomorphism $\Gamma' \cong \pi_1(X, z_0)$. A small free homotopy, which is sketched in Figure 5.2, deforms $\gamma = (\alpha\beta)^{-1}$ into a curve μ , which is simple and disjoint to α, β .



Figure 5.2: A small homotopy, which deforms $\gamma = (\alpha \beta)^{-1}$ into a curve disjoint to α, β .

Since γ is the unique geodesic in the free homotopy class of μ , we get from [17, Thm. 1.6.6] that γ is simple and from [17, Thm. 1.6.7] that γ is disjoint to α and β . Now, the Theorem of Baer-Zieschang [17, Thm. A.3] guarantees the existence of a homeomorphism $\phi : X \to X$ such that $\phi(\alpha) = \alpha$, $\phi(\beta) = \beta$ and

 $\phi(\mu) = \gamma$. Since cutting the surface along α, β and μ disconnects the surface X into a surface Y of signature (0,3) and some remainder $X'' = X \setminus Y$, the same must be true for their respective images under ϕ . Therefore, $\phi(Y)$ has signature (0,3).

Remark 5.2.5. The author expects that Proposition 5.2.4 is known to experts, but has not yet seen it in the literature.

Let us turn to the arithmetic side. Let as before $\Gamma = \langle \alpha, \beta \rangle$ be a twogenerator subgroup of $PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$. We call Γ an *arithmetic* two-generator subgroup, if there exists a Fuchsian group Γ_a derived from a quaternion algebra such that $\Gamma \subset \Gamma_a$. If Γ is in addition a pants group, we call it an *arithmetic pants group*. We have the following neat criterion for the arithmeticity of twogenerator subgroups:

Lemma 5.2.6. Let Γ be a two-generator subgroup of $PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$ with invariant trace field $F = F(\Gamma)$ and invariant quaternion algebra $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}(\Gamma)$. Then Γ is arithmetic if the following two conditions are fulfilled:

- 1. F is a totally real number field and the traces tr α , tr β and tr $\alpha\beta$ lie in the ring of integers \mathbf{o}_F of F.
- 2. The invariant quaternion algebra A is unramified at exactly one infinite place of F.

Proof. Let $w(\alpha, \beta)$ be a word in the letters α, β . Then it is a well-known fact (cf. [95]) that there exists a polynomial P_w with integral coefficients such that

$$\operatorname{tr} w(\alpha, \beta) = P_w(\operatorname{tr} \alpha, \operatorname{tr} \beta, \operatorname{tr} \alpha\beta).$$

Therefore, the first condition implies $\operatorname{tr} w(\alpha, \beta) \in \mathfrak{o}_F$ and

$$\{\operatorname{tr}\gamma:\gamma\in\Gamma\}\subset\mathfrak{o}_F\tag{5.5}$$

follows. Using (5.5) one may quickly check that

$$\mathcal{O} = \left\{ \sum a_i \gamma_i \mid a_i \in \mathfrak{o}_F, \gamma_i \in \Gamma \right\}$$
(5.6)

defines an order in \mathcal{A} , where the sums appearing on the right-hand side of (5.6) are assumed to be finite. Since \mathcal{A} is unramified at exactly one infinite place σ_1 of F, we have that $P_{\sigma_1}\mathcal{O}^1$ is a Fuchsian group derived from a quaternion algebra. By construction we have $\Gamma \subset P_{\sigma_1}\mathcal{O}^1$.

Our next goal is to find congruence subgroups, which contain certain prescribed arithmetic two-generator subgroups. For this we recall that for each natural number p one has the well-known homomorphism

$$\Phi_p : \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})$$

given by reducing the matrix entries modulo p, which can be used to classify congruence subgroups² of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$. There exist maps with analogous properties for maximal orders in (most) quaternion algebras:

Proposition 5.2.7. Let \mathcal{O} be a maximal order in a quaternion algebra \mathcal{A} over a field F. Let σ_1 be an infinite place of F with $\sigma_1 \notin \operatorname{Ram}(\mathcal{A})$. Let \mathfrak{p} be a prime of F of norm $N(\mathfrak{p}) = q$ so that $\mathfrak{p} \notin \operatorname{Ram}(\mathcal{A})$. Then there exists a group epimorphism $\varphi_{\mathfrak{p}} : \mathcal{O}^1 \to \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ such that

$$\operatorname{tr}\varphi_{\mathfrak{p}}(x) \equiv \operatorname{trd}(x) \mod \mathfrak{p} \tag{5.7}$$

for each $x \in \mathcal{O}^1$. Furthermore, the ensuing diagram



can be completed to a commutative diagram by a unique group epimorphism $\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}}: P_{\sigma_1}\mathcal{O}^1 \to \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ such that $\ker \Phi_{\mathfrak{p}} = P_{\sigma_1}(\mathcal{O}^1(\mathfrak{p}))$ is a principal congruence subgroup.

Proof. Let $\operatorname{pr}_{\mathfrak{p}} : \mathcal{O} \to \mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}\mathcal{O}$ be the projection map and let us write $[x]_1$ for the equivalence class of $x \in \mathcal{O}$ in $\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}\mathcal{O}$. Let $\pi_{\mathfrak{p}}$ be a uniformizer in $F_{\mathfrak{p}}$. For $y \in \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ we let $[y]_2$ be the equivalence class of y in $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}/\pi_{\mathfrak{p}}\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}$. We claim that

$$f_{\mathfrak{p}}: \mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}\mathcal{O} \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}/\pi_{\mathfrak{p}}\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}, \qquad [x]_1 \mapsto [x]_2$$

defines a vector space isomorphism³. Let us first check that $f_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is well-defined. Let $x' \in \mathcal{O}$ with x' = x + ry, where $r \in \mathfrak{p}$ and $y \in \mathcal{O}$. We may write $r = \pi_{\mathfrak{p}} u$ for $u \in \mathfrak{o}_{F,\mathfrak{p}}$. Then we have $ry = \pi_{\mathfrak{p}}(uy) \in \pi_{\mathfrak{p}}\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ and $[x]_2 = [x']_2$ follows. Thus, the map $f_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is well-defined. The proof of linearity is straightforward and left to the reader. Next, let $x, x' \in \mathcal{O}$ with $[x]_2 = [x']_2$. This implies the existence of $y \in \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ with $x = x' + \pi_{\mathfrak{p}} y$ and hence

$$x - x' = \pi_{\mathfrak{p}} y \in \mathcal{O} \cap (\pi_{\mathfrak{p}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}) = \mathfrak{p} \mathcal{O}.$$

This implies $[x]_1 = [x']_1$. Regarding the surjectivity of $f_{\mathfrak{p}}$ we consider an arbitrary element $y = ry' \in \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ with $r \in \mathfrak{o}_{F,\mathfrak{p}}$ and $y' \in \mathcal{O}$. We can represent r as a power series $r = \sum_j r_j \pi_{\mathfrak{p}}^j$ with $r_j \in \mathfrak{o}_F$. For $x = r_0 y' \in \mathcal{O}$ we get $[x]_2 = [y]_2$. Now, one can utilize linearity of $f_{\mathfrak{p}}$ to prove that $f_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is surjective.

Since \mathcal{A} is unramified at \mathfrak{p} , we have $\mathcal{A}^{\mathfrak{p}} \otimes F_{\mathfrak{p}} \cong M_2(F_{\mathfrak{p}})$. Let us fix this isomorphism. Then $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is a maximal order in $M_2(F_{\mathfrak{p}})$ (see [60, Lemma 6.2.8]), which by [60, Thm. 6.5.3] implies the existence of $g \in M_2(F_{\mathfrak{p}})$ such that

²To classify all congruence subgroups of $PSL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ one clearly needs to consider the homomorphisms Φ_N with N a natural number. For simplicity we restrict ourselves to the case of primes.

³We silently identify the finite fields $\mathfrak{o}_F/\mathfrak{p}$ and $\mathfrak{o}_{F,\mathfrak{p}}/\pi_{\mathfrak{p}}\mathfrak{o}_{F,\mathfrak{p}}$.

 $g\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}g^{-1} = M_2(\mathfrak{o}_{F,\mathfrak{p}})$. Writing $[x]_3$ for the equivalence class of $x \in M_2(\mathfrak{o}_{F,\mathfrak{p}})$ in $M_2(\mathfrak{o}_{F,\mathfrak{p}})/\pi_{\mathfrak{p}}M_2(\mathfrak{o}_{F,\mathfrak{p}})$, we have the well-defined bijection

$$g_{\mathfrak{p}}: \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}/\pi_{\mathfrak{p}}\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}} \to M_2(\mathfrak{o}_{F,\mathfrak{p}})/\pi_{\mathfrak{p}}M_2(\mathfrak{o}_{F,\mathfrak{p}}), \ [x]_2 \mapsto [gxg^{-1}]_3.$$

Since $M_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ is isomorphic to $M_2(\mathfrak{o}_{F,\mathfrak{p}})/\pi_\mathfrak{p}M_2(\mathfrak{o}_{F,\mathfrak{p}})$, we can compose the three maps $\mathrm{pr}_\mathfrak{p}, f_\mathfrak{p}$ and $g_\mathfrak{p}$ to get a map from \mathcal{O} to $M_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$. It is straightforward to check that any of these three maps preserves reduced traces and reduced norms modulo \mathfrak{p} . Since these maps also preserve the unit element and products, we get a group homorphism $\varphi_\mathfrak{p}: \mathcal{O}^1 \to \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ such that (5.7) holds. The surjectivity of $\varphi_\mathfrak{p}$ is a well-known consequence of strong approximation for quaternion algebras (cf. [98, Lemma 28.5.14]). Note that it is possible to apply strong approximation here, because $\sigma_1 \notin \mathrm{Ram}(\mathcal{A})$ holds.

Let $P_{\pm} : \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q) \to \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ be the map given by dividing out $\pm \mathbb{1}_2$. We want to show the existence of a group epimorphism $\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}} : P_{\sigma_1}\mathcal{O}^1 \to \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ such that

$$\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}} \circ P_{\sigma_1} = P_{\pm} \circ \varphi_{\mathfrak{p}}. \tag{5.8}$$

For any $x \in P_{\sigma_1} \mathcal{O}^1$ we fix a lift $\tilde{x} \in \mathcal{O}^1$ and define

$$\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}}(x) = P_{\pm}(\varphi_{\mathfrak{p}}(\widetilde{x})).$$

This map does not depend on the chosen lift, since $\varphi_{\mathfrak{p}}$ preserves $\pm \mathbb{1}_2$. For another element $y \in P_{\sigma_1} \mathcal{O}^1$ with lift $\widetilde{y} \in \mathcal{O}^1$ we see that $\widetilde{x}\widetilde{y}$ is a lift of the product xy. Hence, the map $\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is a group homomorphism. Assume that there exists another group homomorphism $\Phi'_{\mathfrak{p}} : P_{\sigma_1} \mathcal{O}^1 \to \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ such that (5.8) holds. Then for any $x \in P_{\sigma_1} \mathcal{O}^1$ we have

$$\Phi'_{\mathfrak{p}}(x) = \Phi'_{\mathfrak{p}}(P_{\sigma_{1}}(\widetilde{x})) = P_{\pm}(\varphi_{\mathfrak{p}}(\widetilde{x})) = \Phi_{\mathfrak{p}}(P_{\sigma_{1}}(\widetilde{x})) = \Phi_{\mathfrak{p}}(x)$$

and $\Phi'_{\mathfrak{p}} = \Phi_{\mathfrak{p}}$ follows. The surjectivity of $\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}}$ follows from the fact that any element $\widetilde{x} \in \mathcal{O}^1$ appears as a lift of some $x \in P_{\sigma_1} \mathcal{O}^1$ and the surjectivity of $\varphi_{\mathfrak{p}}$. Finally, the identity ker $\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}} = P_{\sigma_1}(\mathcal{O}^1(\mathfrak{p}))$ follows from $\mathcal{O}^1(\mathfrak{p}) = \mathrm{pr}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{-1}([\mathbb{1}_2]_1)$. \Box

Remark 5.2.8. Proposition 5.2.7 should be regarded as well-known, even though the author has not yet seen it in the above form in the literature.

In the following we will sometimes abbreviate $\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}}(x) = \overline{x}$, when the prime ideal \mathfrak{p} is clear from the context. The map $\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}}$ gives a bijection between congruence subgroups containing $P_{\sigma_1}(\mathcal{O}^1(\mathfrak{p}))$ and subgroups of $\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$. The subgroups of $\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ are completely classified:

Theorem 5.2.9. Let p be a rational prime and $q = p^f$ with $f \in \mathbb{N}$. Any subgroup of $PSL_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ is contained on the following list:

- Cyclic groups: $C_k = \langle x \mid x^k = 1 \rangle$ for $k \ge 1$,
- Elementary abelian p-groups: $E_{p^l} = (\mathbb{Z}/p\mathbb{Z})^l$ for $l \in \mathbb{N}$,
- Dihedral groups: $D_m = \langle r, s \mid r^m = s^2 = (rs)^2 = 1 \rangle$ for $m \ge 2$,

- Classical matrix groups: $PSL_2(\mathbb{F}_{p^n})$ and $PGL_2(\mathbb{F}_{p^n})$ for $n \in \mathbb{N}$,
- Permutation groups: A_4, S_4 and A_5 ,
- Semidirect products of cyclic groups with elementary abelian p-groups.

Proof. [49, Thm. 8.27]

Remark 5.2.10. One can even describe the possible parameters k, l, m and n in the above theorem in terms of q. For our purposes it is more than enough to only list the possible types of groups.

Let us now describe the generic image of an arithmetic pants group under the reduction map $\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}}$:

Proposition 5.2.11. Let $\Gamma = \langle \alpha, \beta \rangle$ be an arithmetic pants group. For all but finitely many prime ideals the group $\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}}(\Gamma)$ is a classical matrix group.

Proof. The above proposition essentially follows from observing that Γ_0 is a purely hyperbolic group and that $x \in P_{\sigma_1}(\mathcal{O}^1(\mathfrak{p}))$ implies $\operatorname{trd}(x) \equiv \pm 2 \mod \mathfrak{p}$, or in other words, \mathfrak{p} either divides $\operatorname{trd}(x) - 2$ or $\operatorname{trd}(x) + 2$. Let us go through all possible cases. If $\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}}(\Gamma_0)$ is a cyclic group, the commutator $[\alpha, \beta]$ has trace ± 2 modulo \mathfrak{p} , which can only be the case for finitely many prime ideals. If $\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}}(\Gamma_0)$ is an elementary abelian *p*-group, we can, after possibly conjugating, assume that $\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}}(\Gamma_0)$ is contained in $P_{\pm}(N)$, where

$$N = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 1 & x \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \middle| x \in \mathbb{F}_q \right\} \subset \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$$

and P_{\pm} : $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q) \to \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_q)$ is the usual projection. This implies that $\mathrm{trd}(\alpha) \equiv \pm 2 \mod \mathfrak{p}$, which is only possible for finitely many prime ideals. Next we assume that $\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}}(\Gamma_0)$ is a dihedral group D_m for some $m \geq 2$. We note that D_m can be written in the form

$$D_m = \{1, r, r^2, \dots, r^{m-1}, s, rs, r^2s, \dots, r^{m-1}s\},\$$

where the last m elements all have order 2. There are only finitely many prime ideals, for which the order of α, β could be 2, so that $\overline{\alpha} = r^{k_1}$ and $\overline{\beta} = r^{k_2}$ for some $k_1, k_2 \in \mathbb{N}$ in all but finitely many cases. But then the trace of the commutator $[\alpha, \beta]$ reduces to ± 2 modulo \mathfrak{p} , which is only possible in finitely many cases. Regarding the permutation groups A_4, S_4 and A_5 , we note that there are only finitely many prime ideals, for which the order of $\overline{\alpha}$ is smaller than or equal to $|A_5| = 60$. Finally, let us assume that $\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}}(\Gamma_0)$ is given by a semidirect product of a cyclic group with a elementary abelian *p*-group. After possibly conjugating, we can assume that $\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}}(\Gamma_0)$ is contained in $P_{\pm}(B)$, where

$$B = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} y & x \\ 0 & y^{-1} \end{pmatrix} \middle| x \in \mathbb{F}_q, \ y \in \mathbb{F}_q^{\times} \right\}.$$

This again implies that the trace of $[\alpha, \beta]$ reduces to $\pm 2 \mod \mathfrak{p}$ and we are done.

In the next section we will see an example of an arithmetic two-generator subgroup Γ_0 such that $\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}}(\Gamma_0)$ is a dihedral group.

5.3 Arithmetic Surfaces and Zeta Functions

In this section we first prove Proposition 5.1.1 and then construct the Plancherel sequence needed for Proposition 5.1.2. We begin with the following well-known lower bound for the first non-zero eigenvalue of a congruence surface:

Theorem 5.3.1. Let X_c be a congruence surface. Then one has

$$\lambda_1(X_c) \ge \frac{1}{4} - \left(\frac{7}{64}\right)^2 = 0.238...$$
 (5.9)

Proof. This lower bound follows from bounds towards the generalized Ramanujan conjecture [9], see e.g. [96] for the case $F = \mathbb{Q}$.

The lower bound from Theorem 5.3.1 guarantees large pole-free regions of the logarithmic derivative of the Selberg zeta function:

Proof of Proposition 5.1.1. Let $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of congruence surfaces with $\operatorname{vol}(X_j) \to \infty$ and let Λ_j be the logarithmic derivative of the Selberg zeta function of X_j . Using the notation and results from the proof of Theorem 4.4.4, we have

$$\frac{\Lambda_j(s)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} = I_{1,j}(s) + I_{2,j}(s) + I_{3,j}(s).$$

for any $s \in (\frac{1}{2}, 1)$, which is not a pole of Λ_j . By Theorem 4.4.4 any sequence of smooth closed congruence surfaces $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ with $\operatorname{vol}(X_j) \to \infty$ is Plancherelconvergent, so that we can repeat the proof of Theorem 4.4.4 to show that $I_{1,j}(s)$ and $I_{2,j}(s)$ converge to zero for $s \in (\frac{1}{2}, 1)$. Now, fix a point $s \in (\frac{39}{64}, 1)$ and let $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $s = \frac{39}{64} + \varepsilon$. Since

$$I_{3,j}(s) = \frac{2s-1}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} \sum_{0 \le \lambda_{j,k} < \frac{1}{4}} \frac{e^{-(\xi + \lambda_{j,k})}}{\xi + \lambda_{j,k}},$$

with $\xi = s(s-1)$ we can use the bound from Theorem 5.3.1 to derive

$$|I_{3,j}(s)| \le \frac{1}{\frac{7}{32}\varepsilon + \varepsilon^2} \frac{N(X_j, \frac{1}{4})}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)}.$$
(5.10)

The right-hand side of (5.10) converges to zero by the limit multiplicity property of $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ and

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\Lambda_j(s)}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} = 0$$

for $s \in (\frac{39}{64}, 1)$ follows. The claim regarding the Euler-Selberg constants can be proved analogously.

While congruence surfaces conjecturally do not have any non-trivial small eigenvalues, this is not true for arithmetic surfaces. For the proof of Proposition 5.1.2 we will construct a Plancherel-convergent sequence of arithmetic surfaces $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$, which have a single non-zero eigenvalue converging to $\lambda_0 = 0$. This single eigenvalue will yield a non-trivial contribution to the limit of $\operatorname{vol}(X_j)^{-1}\gamma_{X_j}$. The construction of this sequence will take up the rest of this section.

Let $\tau = e^{l_{\tau}/2}$ be a Salem number of degree 2n with $n \geq 2$ so that $\tau < 1.2$. We additionally assume that τ has been chosen such that it is the smallest Salem number in its degree. Let $L = \mathbb{Q}(\tau)$ be the associated number field. Let $F = \mathbb{Q}(\omega)$ be the totally real subfield of L generated by $\omega = \tau + \tau^{-1}$. Let $\sigma_1, ..., \sigma_n$ be the real embeddings of F, chosen in such a way that $\sigma_1(\omega) > 2$. Let $x, y \in \mathfrak{o}_L$ be non-zero algebraic integers and $m \in \mathbb{N}$. A prime ideal \mathfrak{P} is called a *primitive divisor* of $x^m - y^m$, if $\mathfrak{P} \mid x^m - y^m$ and $\mathfrak{P} \nmid x^k - y^k$ holds for k < m. For primitive divisors, we have the following result by Schinzel and Postnikova [77, Thm. 1]:

Theorem 5.3.2. Let x, y be relatively prime algebraic integers in a number field L such that $\frac{x}{y}$ is not a root of unity. Then there exists a constant $m_0 = m_0(x, y)$ such that $x^m - y^m$ has a primitive divisor for $m \ge m_0$.

Hence, we can find $m_0 = m_0(\tau, 1) \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $\tau^m - 1$ has a primitive divisor for $m \ge m_0$. Let p_0 be a rational prime with $m = 4p_0 > m_0$ and \mathfrak{P}_0 be a primitive divisor of $\tau^{4p_0} - 1$,

$$\mathfrak{P}_0 \mid \tau^{4p_0} - 1, \qquad \mathfrak{P}_0 \nmid \tau^k - 1 \text{ for } k < 4p_0. \tag{5.11}$$

Let $\mathfrak{p}_0 = \mathfrak{P}_0 \cap \mathfrak{o}_F$ be the prime ideal of F lying below \mathfrak{P}_0 . After possibly replacing p_0 by a larger prime, we can assume that \mathfrak{p}_0 is a non-dyadic⁴ prime ideal so that

$$\mathfrak{p}_0 \nmid 4, \qquad \mathfrak{p}_0 \nmid \omega^2 - 4. \tag{5.12}$$

We now want to make a few assumptions on \mathfrak{p}_0 to be able to deal with torsion elements later on. First of all, there are only finitely many cyclotomic extensions $K_1, ..., K_s$ of F with $[K_j : F] = 2$. Furthermore, in each cyclotomic extension K_j there are only finitely many elements $x_{j_1}, ..., x_{j_t}$ of finite order. Let us write m_{j_k} for the order of x_{j_k} and $t_{j_k} = \operatorname{Tr}_{L/F}(x_{j_k})$ for the respective traces. After possibly replacing p_0 we can assume that

$$p_0 \nmid m_{j_k}, \qquad \mathfrak{p}_0 \nmid t_{j_k}^2 - 4, \qquad j = 1, ..., s, \ k = 1, ..., t.$$
 (5.13)

Next, we recall the strong approximation theorem for number fields:

Theorem 5.3.3. Let S_0 be a finite set of places of F and $\mathfrak{q} \in \Omega_F \setminus S_0$. Assume that $x_{\mathfrak{p}}$ is given for $\mathfrak{p} \in S_0$. Then for each $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $x \in F$ such that

- $|x x_{\mathfrak{p}}|_{\mathfrak{p}} < \varepsilon$ for each $\mathfrak{p} \in S_0$,
- $|x_{\mathfrak{p}}|_{\mathfrak{p}} \leq 1$ for each $\mathfrak{p} \in \Omega \setminus (S_0 \cup \mathfrak{q})$.

⁴A prime ideal \mathfrak{p} is called dyadic, if it lies over (2) and called non-dyadic otherwise.

Proof. [73, §33G]

According to Theorem 5.3.3 we can find $\theta \in \mathfrak{o}_F$ so that

$$\sigma_1(\theta) > 2, \qquad \sigma_j(\theta^2 + \omega^2 - 4) < 0, \ j = 2, ..., n, \qquad v_{\mathfrak{p}_0}(\theta) = 1.$$
 (5.14)

Let us choose matrices α_0, β as in Section 5.2 with

$$\operatorname{tr} \alpha_0 = \omega, \qquad \operatorname{tr} \beta = \theta^2 - 2, \qquad \operatorname{tr} \alpha_0 \beta = -\omega.$$
 (5.15)

and let β_0 be the unique in element in the stabilizer G_β of β with $\beta = \beta_0^2$. With this choice we have

$$\operatorname{tr} \alpha_0 = \omega, \qquad \operatorname{tr} \beta_0 = \theta, \qquad \operatorname{tr} \alpha_0 \beta_0 = 0. \tag{5.16}$$

Let $\Gamma_0 = \langle \alpha_0, \beta_0 \rangle$ be the subgroup generated by α_0, β_0 .

Lemma 5.3.4. The group $\Gamma_0 = \langle \alpha_0, \beta_0 \rangle$ is an arithmetic two-generator subgroup. For the corresponding invariant quaternion algebra $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{A}(\Gamma_0)$ we have $\sigma_2, ..., \sigma_n \in \text{Ram}(\mathcal{A})$ and $\sigma_1, \mathfrak{p}_0 \notin \text{Ram}(\mathcal{A})$.

Proof. According to [60, Thm. 3.6.1] we can express the Hilbert symbol of \mathcal{A} by

$$\mathcal{A} = \left(\frac{\theta^2 - 4, \theta^2 + \omega^2 - 4}{F}\right).$$

Since a real quaternion algebra $\mathcal{B} = \begin{pmatrix} a,b \\ \overline{\mathbb{R}} \end{pmatrix}$ ramifies if and only if a, b < 0, we get from (5.14) that $\sigma_1 \notin \operatorname{Ram}(\mathcal{A})$ and $\sigma_2, ..., \sigma_n \in \operatorname{Ram}(\mathcal{A})$. Hence, Lemma 5.2.6 implies that Γ_0 is an arithmetic two-generator subgroup. Regarding the finite place \mathfrak{p}_0 we observe that a quaternion algebra $\mathcal{D} = \begin{pmatrix} a,b \\ \overline{F_p} \end{pmatrix}$ ramifies at \mathfrak{p}_0 if and only if for $a = a_0 \pi_{\mathfrak{p}}^{v_p(a)}$ and $b = b_0 \pi_{\mathfrak{p}}^{v_p(b)}$ one has

$$(-1)^{v_{\mathfrak{p}}(a)v_{\mathfrak{p}}(b)(q_0-1)/2} \left(\frac{a_0}{\mathfrak{p}}\right)^{v_{\mathfrak{p}}(b)} \left(\frac{b_0}{\mathfrak{p}}\right)^{v_{\mathfrak{p}}(a)} = -1,$$

(see [98, Eq. 12.4.10]), where q_0 is the cardinality of the residue class field $k = \mathfrak{o}_F/\mathfrak{p}_0$ and

$$\begin{pmatrix} \underline{a_0} \\ \mathbf{p}_0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{cases} +1, \text{ if } a_0 \in k^{\times 2}, \\ -1, \text{ if } a_0 \in k^{\times} \smallsetminus k^{\times 2} \end{cases}$$

is the Legendre symbol. By (5.12) and (5.14), we have $v_{\mathfrak{p}_0}(\theta^2 - 4) = 0$ and $v_{\mathfrak{p}_0}(\theta^2 + \omega^2 - 4) = 0$, which shows $\mathfrak{p}_0 \notin \operatorname{Ram}(\mathcal{A})$.

Next, we work out the image of Γ_0 under the group homomorphism $\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}_0}$:

Lemma 5.3.5. The group $\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}_0}(\Gamma_0)$ is isomorphic to the dihedral group

$$D_{2p_0} = \langle r, s \mid r^{2p_0} = s^2 = (rs)^2 = 1 \rangle$$

and a group isomorphism $\psi: D_{2p_0} \to \Phi_{\mathfrak{p}_0}(\Gamma_0)$ is given by sending $r \mapsto \overline{\alpha_0}$ and $s \mapsto \overline{\beta_0}$.

Proof. First, we check that $\operatorname{ord}(\overline{\beta_0}) = 2$. By the choice made in (5.16) we have

$$\operatorname{tr}\beta_0 \equiv 0 \mod \mathfrak{p}_0. \tag{5.17}$$

Combining (5.17) with the Cayley-Hamilton theorem gives $\overline{\beta_0}^2 = 1$. Since (5.17) also implies that $\overline{\beta_0}$ cannot have order 1, we get $\operatorname{ord}(\overline{\beta_0}) = 2$. In the same way one may derive $\operatorname{ord}(\overline{\beta_0}\overline{\alpha_0}) = 2$. Next, we show $\operatorname{ord}(\overline{\alpha_0}) = 2p_0$. Recall from (5.11) that

$$\mathfrak{P}_0 \mid (\tau^{2p_0} - 1)(\tau^{2p_0} + 1).$$

Since \mathfrak{P}_0 is a primitive divisor, we get $\mathfrak{P}_0 \mid (\tau^{2p_0} + 1)$. Furthermore, we also have $\mathfrak{P}_0 \mid \tau^{-2p_0} + 1$, as we can write

$$(\tau^{-2p_0} + 1) = \tau^{-2p_0}(\tau^{2p_0} + 1)$$

and τ^{-2p_0} is a unit. This implies

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{L/F}(\tau^{2p_0}+1) = (\tau^{2p_0}+1) + (\tau^{-2p_0}+1) \in \mathfrak{P}_0 \cap F = \mathfrak{p}_0$$

and hence

$$\operatorname{tr} \alpha^{2p_0} \equiv \pm 2 \mod \mathfrak{p}_0. \tag{5.18}$$

Therefore, $\overline{\alpha_0}^{2p_0}$ lies in some elementary abelian p_0 -group $E_{\mathfrak{p}_0} \subset \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{F}_{\mathfrak{p}_0})$. By (5.12) the group $H = \langle \overline{\alpha_0} \rangle$ is not an elementary abelian p_0 -group, so that the Partition Lemma [49, Thm. 8.5] yields

$$\overline{\alpha_0}^{2p_0} \in H \cap E_{\mathfrak{p}_0} = \{1\}.$$

Thus, the order of $\overline{\alpha_0}$ is either $1, 2, p_0$ or $2p_0$. The possibilities $\operatorname{ord}(\overline{\alpha_0}) = 1$ and $\operatorname{ord}(\overline{\alpha_0}) = 2$ can be excluded using (5.12). If $\operatorname{ord}(\overline{\alpha_0}) = p_0$, one either gets $\tau^{p_0} - 1 \in \mathfrak{P}_0$ or $\tau^{p_0} + 1 \in \mathfrak{P}_0$. In both cases we get a contradiction to (5.11) and $\operatorname{ord}(\overline{\alpha_0}) = 2p_0$ follows. Now, it is guaranteed that the assignment

$$r \mapsto \overline{\alpha_0}, \qquad s \mapsto \overline{\beta_0}$$

can be extended to a surjective group homomorphism $\psi: D_{2p_0} \to \Phi_{\mathfrak{p}_0}(\Gamma_0)$. We will prove the injectivity of ψ by showing

$$|\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}_0}(\Gamma_0)| = 4p_0 = |D_{2p_0}|. \tag{5.19}$$

We claim that two elements $\overline{\beta_0}^{\varepsilon_1} \overline{\alpha_0}^{k_1}$ and $\overline{\beta_0}^{\varepsilon_2} \overline{\alpha_0}^{k_2}$ with $\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2 \in \{0, 1\}$ and $k_1, k_2 \in \{0, 1, ..., 2p_0 - 1\}$ can only be equal if $\varepsilon_1 = \varepsilon_2$ and $k_1 = k_2$ holds. Assume that this is not case, i.e.

$$1 = (\overline{\beta_0}^{\varepsilon_2} \overline{\alpha_0}^{k_2})^{-1} \overline{\beta_0}^{\varepsilon_1} \overline{\alpha_0}^{k_1} = \overline{\alpha_0}^{-k_2} \overline{\beta_0}^{\varepsilon_1 - \varepsilon_2} \overline{\alpha_0}^{k_1}$$
(5.20)

with either $k_1 \neq k_2$ or $\varepsilon_1 \neq \varepsilon_2$. If $\varepsilon_1 - \varepsilon_2 \equiv 0 \mod 2$, equation (5.20) reads $\overline{\alpha_0}^{k_1-k_2} = 1$. If $k_1 \neq k_2$, we get a contradiction to $\operatorname{ord}(\overline{\alpha_0}) = 2p_0$, since

 $|k_1 - k_2| < 2p_0$. In the case $\varepsilon_1 - \varepsilon_2 \equiv 1 \mod 2$ we may apply the relation $\overline{\beta_0 \overline{\alpha_0}} = \overline{\alpha_0}^{-1} \overline{\beta_0}$, which follows from $\operatorname{ord}(\overline{\beta_0} \overline{\alpha_0}) = 2$ and $\operatorname{ord}(\overline{\beta_0}) = 2$, to derive

$$\overline{\alpha_0}^{k_1+k_2} = \overline{\beta_0}.\tag{5.21}$$

This again yields a contradiction, since

$$\overline{\beta_0}\overline{\alpha_0}\overline{\beta_0}^{-1} = \overline{\alpha_0}^{-1} \neq \overline{\alpha_0} = \overline{\alpha_0}^{k_1 + k_2}\overline{\alpha_0} \ \overline{\alpha_0}^{-(k_1 + k_2)}.$$
(5.22)

This shows $|\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}_0}(\Gamma_0)| \ge 4p_0$. The surjectivity of ψ implies $|\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}_0}(\Gamma_0)| \le 4p_0$ and (5.19) follows. This concludes the proof.

From now on, we fix the isomorphism ψ and write $D_{2p_0} = \Phi_{\mathfrak{p}_0}(\Gamma_0)$. Let us consider the normal subgroup $N = \langle r^2 \rangle$ of D_{2p_0} . Writing $\Gamma_c = \Phi_{\mathfrak{p}_0}^{-1}(N)$ and $\Gamma_1 = \Phi_{\mathfrak{p}_0}^{-1}(D_{2p_0})$, we clearly have $\Gamma_c \leq \Gamma_1$. The quotient group $\Gamma_c \backslash \Gamma_1$ is the Klein four group and can be presented as

$$V_4 = \{1, [\alpha_0], [\beta_0], [\alpha_0 \beta_0]\}.$$

We have an action of $V_4 = \Gamma_c \setminus \Gamma_1$ on the quotient space $X_c = \Gamma_c \setminus \mathcal{H}$ via

$$[\gamma].(\Gamma_c z) = \Gamma_c(\gamma.z)$$

Let us denote

$$\alpha = \alpha_0^2, \qquad \delta = \beta_0 \alpha \beta_0^{-1}, \qquad \eta = \delta^{-1} \alpha^{-1} = (\beta_0 \alpha_0^{-1})^2, \qquad \rho = \alpha_0 \eta \alpha_0^{-1}.$$

Let us also write $\eta_0 = \beta_0 \alpha_0^{-1}$. We make the following observations:

- The involution $[\alpha_0]$ preserves the geodesics α, δ and interchanges η, ρ .
- The involution $[\eta_0]$ preserves the geodesics η, ρ and interchanges α, δ .

Our next goal is to utilize the symmetry group V_4 to study the geometry of our surface:



Figure 5.3: The geometric configuration of the four geodesics α, δ, η and ρ .

Lemma 5.3.6. The quotient space $X_c = \Gamma_c \setminus \mathcal{H}$ is a smooth closed congruence surface. The four geodesics corresponding to α, β, η and ρ are simple and pairwise disjoint. Let Y_η be the Y-piece with boundary geodesics α, δ, η and Y_ρ be the Y-piece with boundary geodesics α, δ, ρ . Then we have $Y_\eta^\circ \cap Y_\rho^\circ = \emptyset$. Proof. The group Γ_c is a congruence subgroup, since by Proposition 5.2.7 it contains $P_{\sigma_1}(\mathcal{O}^1(\mathfrak{p}_0))$. From $F \neq \mathbb{Q}$ it follows that X_c is closed (cf. [53, Thm. 5.4.1] and [53, Thm. 5.2.6]). Regarding the smoothness of X_c we need to prove that Γ_c is torsion-free. Assume to the contrary that there exists a torsionelement $x_t \in \Gamma_c$ of order $m_t > 1$. By the second assumption made in (5.13) the element $\overline{x_t} \in N$ has order m_t . But any non-trivial element in N has order p_0 , so that we get a contradiction to the first assumption made in (5.13). Thus, Γ_c is torsion-free.

Next, we show that the geodesic α is simple. Since its length $l_{\alpha} = 4 \log \tau$ is smaller than 1, we get from [17, Thm. 4.2.1] that α is the power of some simple geodesic α' , i.e. $\alpha = (\alpha')^{k_0}$ for some $k_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$. If we let $\tau' = e^{l_{\alpha'}/2}$ and $L' = F[\tau']$, then $\tau = (\tau')^{k_0}$ and $L \subset L'$ follows. Since $[L : \mathbb{Q}] = 2n = [L' : \mathbb{Q}]$, we have L = L' and the minimality assumption on τ implies $|k_0| = 1$. In particular, the geodesic α is simple. The same argument proves that δ is simple.

Let us check that α and δ are disjoint. Assume to the contrary that δ intersects α . As the width w_{δ} of the tube T_{δ} around δ is greater than 1 and $l_{\alpha} < 1$, the geodesic α is completely contained in T_{δ} . This tube contains exactly two simple closed geodesics, namely δ and δ^{-1} . Then Proposition 2.2.3 guarantees the existence of an element $x_0 \in \Gamma_c$ with $\delta = x_0 \alpha x_0^{-1}$. From $\delta = \beta_0 \alpha \beta_0^{-1}$ we get

$$x_0^{-1}\beta_0 \in G_\alpha \cap P_{\sigma_1}\mathcal{O}^1 = \{\alpha_0^k \mid k \in \mathbb{Z}\}.$$

If we let $x_0^{-1}\beta_0 = \alpha_0^{k_0}$ and $\overline{x_0} = \overline{\alpha_0}^{2k_1}$ for some $k_0, k_1 \in \mathbb{Z}$, we get

$$\overline{\beta_0} = \Phi_{\mathfrak{p}_0}(x_0 \alpha_0^{k_0}) = \overline{\alpha_0}^{k_0 + 2k}$$

in contradiction to Lemma 5.3.5. Hence, the geodesics α and δ are disjoint. From the choice of the matrices representing α and δ one can check that $\Gamma = \langle \alpha, \delta \rangle$ is a pants group. Therefore, we can employ Proposition 5.2.4 to conclude that η and ρ are simple geodesics and that they are disjoint to α and δ .

It remains to show that η and ρ are disjoint. First, we claim that η and ρ intersect in at most finitely many points. Assume that this is not the case. Then η and ρ agree as point sets and applying Proposition 2.2.3 guarantees the existence of $x_0 \in \Gamma_c$ with $\rho = x_0 \eta x_0^{-1}$. From $\rho = \alpha_0 \eta \alpha_0^{-1}$ we get

$$x_0^{-1}\alpha_0 \in G_\eta \cap \Gamma_1.$$

We claim that

$$G_{\eta} \cap \Gamma_1 = \{\eta_0^k \mid k \in \mathbb{Z}\}.$$
(5.23)

Otherwise, there would be an element $\eta'_0 \in \Gamma_1$ with $\eta_0 = (\eta'_0)^k$ for some $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ with |k| > 1. In consequence, $[\eta'_0]$ would be an element in $\Gamma_c \setminus \Gamma_1$ of order greater than 2, which is a contradiction to $\Gamma_c \setminus \Gamma_1$ being the Klein four group. From (5.23) we get

$$x_0^{-1}\alpha_0 = \eta_0^{k_0} \tag{5.24}$$

for some $k_0 \in \mathbb{Z}$. Let $\overline{x_0} = \overline{\alpha_0}^{2k_1}$ for some $k_1 \in \mathbb{Z}$. We can apply the map $\Phi_{\mathfrak{p}_0}$ to (5.24) to derive

$$\overline{\alpha_0}^{1-2k_1} = (\overline{\beta_0}\overline{\alpha_0}^{-1})^{k_0}.$$
(5.25)

If in (5.24) the number k_0 is even, say $k_0 = 2k_2$ for $k_2 \in \mathbb{N}$, we get

$$\alpha_0 = x_0 \eta^{k_1} \in \Gamma_c$$

which is a contradiction. If k_0 is odd, we see that the element on the left-hand side of (5.24) has order p_0 , while the one on the right-hand of (5.24) side either has order 1 or 2. This is a contradiction. Thus, η and ρ differ as point sets and can only intersect in finitely many points.

Now, assume that η and ρ intersect in the points $z_1, ..., z_{n_0}$. We note that these points come in pairs $(z, [\alpha_0\beta_0].z)$, since the symmetry $[\eta_0]$ preserves η, ρ and acts non-trivially on η . Let us first assume that we have at least 4 (non-identical) points of intersection $z_1, ..., z_4, ...,$ where the ordering is chosen according to the order in which η passes through ρ . Let r be the common orthogonal in Y_{ρ} between α and δ . We let η_{12} be the subarc of η in Y_{ρ} between z_1 and z_2 and η_{34} be the subarc of η in Y_{ρ} between z_3 and z_4 . We will lead this to a contradiction by sketching a few homotopies. For the construction of these it is important to note that we know the local geometry around points on the boundary of Y_{ρ} , as one of the half-tubes $T_{\rho,h}$ is not contained in Y_{ρ} (see Figure 5.4).



Figure 5.4: The Y-piece Y_{ρ} .

Now, both of the subarcs η_{12} and η_{34} pass through r, as otherwise we can find a loop η' in the free homotopy class of η such that η' does not intersect ρ in either z_1, z_2 or z_3, z_4 (cf. Figure 5.5). This is a contradiction, since by [17, Thm. 1.6.7] this would imply that η and ρ intersect in at most $n_0 - 2$ points.



Figure 5.5: A homotopy of η , which decreases the intersection number of η and ρ .

Now, there exists a free homotopy (sketched in Figure 5.6), which moves η_{34} on top of η_{12} .



Figure 5.6: A homotopy of η , which moves η_{34} on top of η_{12} .

Again, we can employ [17, Thm. 1.6.7] to derive that η and ρ intersect in at most $n_0 - 2$ points, which is a contradiction. Hence, there exists at most one pair of intersection points (z_1, z_2) . Cutting Y_{ρ} along η_{12} disconnects it into two connected components Y_{ρ}^+ and Y_{ρ}^- . We claim that at least one of these components is contained in Y_{η} . To see this we note that removing α, δ and η disconnects X_c into two connected components, one of which is Y_{η} . The Y-piece Y_{η} contains one of the half-tubes $T_{\eta,h}$. Since Y_{ρ}^+ touches one of the half-tubes around η , while Y_{ρ}^- touches the other half of the tube, one of the components Y_{ρ}^+ and Y_{ρ}^- is contained in Y_{η} . Without loss of generality we assume that $Y_{\rho}^+ \subset Y_{\eta}$. Now, we claim that Y_{ρ}^- is the image of Y_{ρ}^+ under the involution $[\eta_0]$. To see this we first note that Y_{ρ} is fixed by the involution $[\eta_0]$, i.e.

$$[\eta_0].Y_{\rho} = Y_{\rho}.$$
 (5.26)

This follows from observing that $[\eta_0]$ maps the triple of geodesics (α, δ, ρ) to the triple (δ, α, ρ) and hence leaves the decomposition of X_c into Y_{ρ} and $X_c \\ Y_{\rho}$ invariant. The geodesic arc $[\eta_0].\eta_{12}$ runs from z_2 and z_1 and by (5.26) is contained in Y_{ρ} . If it were different from η_{12} , the geodesic η would be nonsimple. Hence, we get

$$[\eta_0].\eta_{12} = \eta_{12}. \tag{5.27}$$

Now, by (5.26) and (5.27) the component Y_{ρ}^+ is mapped to a connected component of $Y_{\rho} \smallsetminus \eta$. Hence, either Y_{ρ}^+ is mapped to itself or to Y_{ρ}^+ . We can exclude the former case by noting that under $[\eta_0]$ the geodesic α is mapped to δ . This implies

$$[\eta_0].Y_{\rho}^+ = Y_{\rho}^-. \tag{5.28}$$

Arguing as before we see that $[\eta_0]$ also maps Y_η to itself. This implies $Y_\rho^- \subset Y_\eta$ and $Y_\rho \subset Y_\eta$ follows. Since Y_η does not contain a simple geodesic in its interior, we see by comparing lengths that η and ρ need to be equal as point sets. We have already seen that this is not a case and we arrive at a contradiction

It remains to show that Y_{η} and Y_{ρ} only intersect in the boundary. By [17, Thm. 4.1.1] we can find simple closed geodesics $\gamma_5, ..., \gamma_{3g-3}$ such that the geodesics $\alpha, \delta, \eta, \rho, \gamma_5, ..., \gamma_{3g-3}$ are pairwise disjoint and removing them disconnects X_c into 2g - 2 pairs of pants $Y_1, ..., Y_{2g-2}$, so that $Y_j^{\circ} \cap Y_k^{\circ} = \emptyset$. After removing the first three geodesics α, δ and η we get from Proposition 5.2.4 that one of the connected components of $X_c \setminus (\alpha \cup \delta \cup \eta)$ is given by Y_{η} . Since Y_{η} does not contain any further simple geodesics, which could possibly disconnect it, it has to appear in the list $Y_1, ..., Y_{2g-2}$. Without loss of generality we may assume $Y_1 = Y_{\eta}$. Repeating the same argument with ρ in place of η shows that $Y_{\rho} = Y_k$ for some k = 1, ..., 2g - 2. Since Y_{η} and Y_{ρ} have different boundary geodesics, we have $k \neq 1$ and $Y_{\eta}^{\circ} \cap Y_{\rho}^{\circ} = \emptyset$ follows.

Let us write $Z = Y_{\eta} \cup Y_{\rho}$. Let ξ be the unique simple geodesic running around the hole of Z, which intersects α in one point. Let us abbreviate $g = g(X_c)$ and fix some point $z_0 \in X_c$. We choose a canonical dissection of X_c (cf. [17, §6.7] and the references given there) consisting of loops $a_1, b_1, ..., a_g, b_g$ with base point z_0 such that the unique geodesic in the free homotopy class of a_1 is ξ and the unique geodesic in the free homotopy class of b_1 is α . Then Γ_c can be written in terms of generators and relations as (cf. [48, p.51])

$$\Gamma_c = \langle a_1, b_1, ..., a_g, b_g \mid [a_1, b_1] ... [a_g, b_g] = 1 \rangle,$$
(5.29)

where we have fixed an isomorphism between Γ_c and $\pi_1(X_c, z_0)$. For j = 1, ..., 2gwe write e_j for the vector in \mathbb{R}^{2g} with 1 in the *j*th place and zeroes elsewhere. Then we have the well-known group homomorphism

$$\varphi_H: \Gamma_c \to H_1(X_c) \cong \mathbb{Z}^{2g}, \tag{5.30}$$

into the first homology group of X_c defined by $\varphi_H(a_j) = e_{2j-1}$ and $\varphi_H(b_j) = e_{2j}$. We let $\Gamma_a = \varphi_H^{-1}(2\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}^{2g-1})$ and $X_a = \Gamma_a \setminus \mathcal{H}$ be the corresponding arithmetic surface. We claim that X_a gets disconnected by removing δ and $\xi \delta \xi^{-1}$. This follows from the following **Lemma 5.3.7.** Let X_c^+ be the surface of signature (g-1,2) obtained by cutting X_c along δ and $p^+ : X_c^+ \to X_c$ be the projection map. Let X_c^- be an isometric copy of X_c^+ with projection map $p^- : X_c^- \to X_c$. Let the boundary curve of X_c^- , which under the aforementioned isometry is mapped to δ , be denoted by δ^- . Then X_a is isometric to a surface obtained by gluing X_c^+ and X_c^- along their boundary curves in such a way that δ^- is identified with $\xi\delta\xi^{-1}$.

Proof. Let $p: X_a \to X_c$ be the covering map of degree 2 given by mapping $\Gamma_a z \mapsto \Gamma_c z$ and let $X'_a = \Gamma'_a \backslash \mathcal{H}$ be the surface obtained by gluing X_c^+ and X_c^- along their boundaries without twisting such that δ^- is identified with $\xi \delta \xi^{-1}$. Then we have a covering map $p' : X'_a \to X_c$ of degree 2 given by mapping any point $z \in X_c^{\pm}$ to $p^{\pm}(z)$. Fix points $\tilde{z_0} \in X_a$ and $\tilde{z_0}' \in X'_a$ with $p(\tilde{z}_0) = p'(\tilde{z}_0) = z_0$. Furthermore, fix isomorphisms $\Gamma_a \cong \pi_1(X_a, \tilde{z}_0)$ and $\Gamma'_a \cong \pi_1(X'_a, \widetilde{z_0}')$. Let $p_*: \Gamma_a \to \Gamma_c$ and $p'_*: \Gamma'_a \to \Gamma_c$ be the push-forwards of the covering maps p and p' respectively. By a standard result of algebraic topology (see [48, Prop. 1.32]) we have that $p'_*(\Gamma'_a)$ is a subgroup of Γ_c of index 2. We claim that $p'_*(\Gamma'_a) \subset \Gamma_a$. For this we observe that the loops $a_1, b_1^2, a_2, b_2, ..., a_g, b_g$ all lie in the image of p'_* , while a quick proof by contradiction shows that b_1 is not contained in $p'_*(\Gamma'_a)$. Hence, we have $\varphi_H(p'_*(\Gamma'_a)) = 2\mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}^{2g-1}$ and $p'_*(\Gamma'_a) \subset \Gamma_a$ follows. Since both groups Γ_a and $p'_*(\Gamma'_a)$ are of index 2 in Γ_c we get $\Gamma_a = p'_*(\Gamma'_a)$. In an analogous manner, one may derive $p_*(\Gamma_a) = \Gamma_a$. Hence, we arrive at $p_*(\Gamma_a) = p'_*(\Gamma'_a)$. By the Galois theory of coverings this guarantees the existence of a homeomorphism $f: X_a \to X'_a$ such that $p = p' \circ f$ (see [48, Prop. 1.37]). We claim that f is a local isometry. Consider an arbitrary point \tilde{z} in X_a and let $z = p(\tilde{z})$ be the corresponding point in X_c . Since p' is a local isometry there exists a ball $B_r(z)$ of radius r > 0 around z such that $(p')^{-1}: B_r(z) \to X'_a$ exists and is a local isometry. Hence, we have $f = (p')^{-1} \circ p$ on $B_r(\tilde{z})$ and f is a local isometry. But any homeomorphism of Riemannian manifolds, which is a local isometry, is a (global) isometry. Hence, X_a and X'_a are isometric.

This arithmetic surface has the interesting feature that it has a single Laplace eigenvalue close to zero, while the remaining non-zero eigenvalues stay uniformly away from $\lambda_0 = 0$:

Lemma 5.3.8. The first eigenvalue $\lambda_1(X_a)$ of the arithmetic surface X_a can be bounded from above and below by

$$\frac{c_{19}l_{\tau}}{\operatorname{vol}(X_a)} \le \lambda_1(X_a) \le \frac{c_{20} \ l_{\tau}}{\operatorname{vol}(X_a)},\tag{5.31}$$

where c_{19} and c_{20} are absolute positive constants. Furthermore, there exists an absolute positive constant c_{21} such that

$$\lambda_k(X_a) \ge c_{21} \tag{5.32}$$

whenever $k \geq 2$.

Proof. For the proof of the upper bound in (5.31) we recall the Buser-Cheeger inequality

$$\lambda_1(X_a) \le 2h(X_a) + 10h^2(X_a).$$
(5.33)

From Lemma 5.3.7 we see that X_a gets disconnected by removing δ and $\xi \delta \xi^{-1}$, where each of the resulting connected components has two-dimensional volume given by $\operatorname{vol}(X_c) = \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{vol}(X_a)$. This implies

$$h(X_a) \le \frac{8l_\tau}{\operatorname{vol}(X_a)}.\tag{5.34}$$

Combining (5.33) and (5.34) gives the right-hand side of (5.31) with

$$c_{20} = 656.$$

For the left hand-side of (5.31) we recall from [35, Thm. 1.3] the strengthened Cheeger inequality for 2-covers

$$\lambda_1(X_a) \ge \frac{1}{4} \sqrt{\lambda_1(X_c)} \ h(X_a). \tag{5.35}$$

Since τ is the smallest Salem number of degree 2n, the length of any geodesic in X_a is bounded from below by l_{τ} . This implies

$$h(X_a) \ge \frac{2l_{\tau}}{\operatorname{vol}(X_a)}.$$
(5.36)

Plugging (5.36) into (5.35) gives the left-hand side of (5.31) with

$$c_{19} = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{1}{4} - \left(\frac{7}{64}\right)^2}.$$

Regarding the lower bound (5.32) we apply domain monotonicity (cf. Section 4.2) to $X_a = X_c^+ \cup X_c^-$ to derive

$$\lambda_2(X_a) \ge \kappa_1(X_c^+),\tag{5.37}$$

where $\kappa_1(X_c^+)$ is the first Neumann eigenvalue of X_c^+ . The Cheeger inequality (cf. Section 2.4) also holds for the first Neumann eigenvalue (see [18, Thm. 1.6]),

$$\kappa_1(X_c^+) \ge \frac{1}{4} h_N(X_c^+)$$
(5.38)

with

$$h_N(X_c^+) = \inf_u \frac{l(u)}{\min\{\operatorname{vol}(A_u), \operatorname{vol}(B_u)\}}$$

where u ranges over the set of all finite unions of piecewise smooth curves on X_c^+ , which separate X_c^+ into two disjoint subsets A_u and B_u . We claim that

$$h_N(X_c^+) > 0.01,$$
 (5.39)

which implies

$$\lambda_2(X_a) \ge c_{21}$$

with

$$c_{21} = 0.000025.$$

Assume to the contrary that

$$h_N(X_c^+) \le 0.01.$$
 (5.40)

Then we can find a finite union of piecewise smooth curves $u = u_1 \cup ... \cup u_s$, which decomposes X_c^+ into two disjoint subsets A_u and B_u with $\operatorname{vol}(A_u) \leq \operatorname{vol}(B_u)$ such that

$$\frac{l_u}{\operatorname{vol}(A_u)} \le 0.02. \tag{5.41}$$

For the sake of simplicity we will only deal with the case that u is a single curve, but the careful reader may check that the full argument extends to finite unions of curves. Applying the Buser-Cheeger inequality to the closed surface X_c we may derive

$$h(X_c) \ge 0.08.$$
 (5.42)

Now, if we cut the closed surface X_c along u and δ , it gets disconnected into two disjoint subsets, which are isometric to A_u and B_u . Thus, using (5.42) we get

$$\frac{l_u}{\operatorname{vol}(A_u)} + \frac{2l_\tau}{\operatorname{vol}(A_u)} \ge 0.08 \tag{5.43}$$

Combining (5.41) and (5.43) gives

$$\frac{1}{\text{vol}(A_u)} \ge \frac{0.03}{l_{\tau}}.$$
(5.44)

If u is a loop, we have $l_u \ge l_{\tau}$ by Theorem 3.2.5 and the minimality of τ . If we plug this into (5.44), we arrive at

$$\frac{l_u}{\operatorname{vol}(A_u)} \ge 0.03$$

which is a contradiction to (5.41). If u is not a closed curve, it touches the boundary of X_c^+ at both endpoints. If u is contained in a single half-tube around one of the boundary geodesics, we can use the argument from the second case in [86, p.281] to derive

$$h_N(X_c^+) \ge 0.5.$$

If it leaves the half-tubes around the boundary, we have by Theorem 2.3.1 that $l_u \geq 1$ and hence

$$\frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(A_u)} \le \frac{l_u}{\operatorname{vol}(A_u)} \le 0.02.$$
(5.45)

Combining (5.45) with (5.43) and noting that $2l_{\tau} \leq 1$, we get

$$\frac{l_u}{\operatorname{vol}(A_u)} \ge 0.06$$

which is a contradiction to (5.41).

We can finally turn our attention to Proposition 5.1.2:

Proof of Proposition 5.1.2. Let $(\mathfrak{p}_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of prime ideals in F with $N(\mathfrak{p}_j) \to \infty$ as $j \to \infty$, which fulfill the assumptions made for \mathfrak{p}_0 . Replacing \mathfrak{p}_0 by any of these prime ideals gives a sequence of congruence subgroups $\Gamma_{c,j}$ and arithmetic Fuchsian groups $\Gamma_{a,j} \subset \Gamma_{c,j}$ such that the estimates from Lemma 5.3.8 hold for any of the arithmetic surfaces $X_j = \Gamma_{a,j} \setminus \mathcal{H}$. We claim that $(X_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ is Plancherel convergent. We first observe that by Theorem 3.1.1 we have that $(\Gamma_{c,j})_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a Plancherel sequence. Now, the bound

$$|\Lambda_{\Gamma_{a,j}}(s)| \le 2\Lambda_{\Gamma_{c,j}}(\operatorname{Re}(s)),$$

valid for $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$, together with Theorem 1.1.2 implies Plancherel convergence of $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$.

Using the notation of the proof of Theorem 4.4.4 we write

$$\frac{\gamma_{X_j}}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} = I_{1,j}(1) + I_{2,j}(1) + \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} \sum_{0 < \lambda_{j,k} < \frac{1}{4}} \frac{e^{-\lambda_{j,k}}}{\lambda_{j,k}}.$$
 (5.46)

We note that, as before, the first two summands on the right-hand side of (5.46) converge to zero for $j \to \infty$, so that we are left with estimating

$$\frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} \sum_{0 < \lambda_{j,k} < \frac{1}{4}} \frac{e^{-\lambda_{j,k}}}{\lambda_{j,k}} = \frac{e^{-\lambda_{j,1}}}{\lambda_{j,1} \operatorname{vol}(X_j)} + \frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} \sum_{\lambda_{j,1} < \lambda_{j,k} < \frac{1}{4}} \frac{e^{-\lambda_{j,k}}}{\lambda_{j,k}} \quad (5.47)$$

The second term on the right-hand side of (5.47) converges to zero by the same argument as in the proof of Proposition 5.1.1. From Lemma 5.3.8 we get the existence of positive constants C_0 and C_1 such that

$$C_0 \le \frac{\lambda_{j,1}^{-1}}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} \le C_1.$$
 (5.48)

Thus, after possibly replacing $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ by a subsequence, we can assume that

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\lambda_{j,1}^{-1}}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} = l_0 \tag{5.49}$$

for some constant l_0 with $C_0 \leq l_0 \leq C_1$. Hence, we end up with

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\gamma_{X_j}}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} = l_0 > 0.$$

Chapter 6

Discussion and Further Projects

6.1 Plancherel Convergence of Non-compact Congruence Subgroups

In Chapter 3 we showed that any sequence of cocompact torsion-free congruence subgroups $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ in $G = \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ with $\mathrm{vol}(\Gamma_j \setminus G) \to \infty$ is Plancherel convergent. Here the author only excluded torsion elements for simplicity. Raimbault and Fraczyk showed in [44] that there is no need to exclude congruence subgroups with torsion. The author expects that the methods from Chapter 3 should also be sufficient to deal with torsion elements. We now want to consider congruence subgroups of $\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R})$, which are not cocompact. For Γ a cofinite lattice in $\mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ we have a decomposition of the form (see [57])

$$L^{2}(\Gamma \backslash G) = L^{2}_{\text{disc}}(\Gamma \backslash G) \oplus L^{2}_{\text{ac}}(\Gamma \backslash G)$$

where $L^2_{\text{disc}}(\Gamma \setminus G)$ is the maximal subspace of $L^2(\Gamma \setminus G)$ on which the right regular representation R decomposes discretely. Again, we let

$$L^2_{\text{disc}}(\Gamma \backslash G) = \bigoplus_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} N_{\Gamma}(\pi) H_{\pi},$$

and consider the spectral measure

$$\mu_{\Gamma} = \sum_{\pi \in \widehat{G}} N_{\Gamma}(\pi) \delta_{\pi}.$$

This allows one to extend the definition of Plancherel convergence to cofinite lattices. Now, any non-cocompact congruence subgroup Γ of $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ is contained in (a conjugate of) $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$. In particular, any non-cocompact principal congruence subgroup is of the form

$$\Gamma(N) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \middle| \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \mod N \right\}$$

for some $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and congruence subgroups are in bijective correspondence with subgroups of the groups $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}/N\mathbb{Z})$, $N \in \mathbb{N}$. The only new ingredient in the trace formula for these groups is the appearance of poles of the determinant $\phi_{\Gamma}(s) = \det C_{\Gamma}(s)$ of the scattering matrix C_{Γ} . For principal congruence subgroups Sarnak [82] was able to link the poles of $\phi_{\Gamma(N)}$ to zeroes of certain L-functions and then estimate the number of these zeroes by standard methods from number theory. One possible starting point for the non-principal congruence subgroups is the work of Reznikov [79], where the determinant of the scattering matrix is expressed as a ratio of automorphic L-functions.

6.2 Plancherel Convergence and Zeta Functions

In the preceding chapters we analyzed, in what way Plancherel convergence of a sequence $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ of lattices in $\text{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R})$ is reflected by their respective zeta functions. There still remain a few open questions (cf. [31, §4]):

• Convergence inside the critical strip: Let $(\Gamma_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of cocompact torsion-free lattices in $G = \mathrm{PSL}_2(\mathbb{R})$. In Section 4.4, we did show that $\mathrm{vol}(\Gamma_j \backslash G)^{-1} \Lambda_j(s)$ converges for s sitting inside a certain subset U_1 of the critical strip. At the same time the examples constructed in Section 5.3 suggest that there should be no uniform behaviour for $s \in \mathscr{P}$. These problems are caused by the poles the logarithmic derivative of the zeta functions and we expect they can be avoided by staying sufficiently far away from the poles. Recalling the notation from Theorem 4.1.2 we therefore make the following

Conjecture 6.2.1. Let $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of torsion-free cocompact lattices in $G = PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$. The following two statements are equivalent:

- 1. The sequence $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is Plancherel convergent.
- 2. For each $s \in \mathbb{C} \smallsetminus \mathscr{P}$ one has

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\Lambda_j(s)}{\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \setminus G)} = F(s)$$

• General rank one groups: In our discussion we exclusively considered lattices sitting in $G = PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$. Now, let G be a semisimple Lie group of rank one with Iwasawa decomposition G = ANK. Let M be the centralizer of A in K. For $\sigma \in \widehat{M}$ and $\Gamma \subset G$ a cocompact torsion-free lattice one can define a (twisted) Selberg zeta function $\zeta_{\Gamma}(s,\sigma)$ (cf. [15]). It is natural to try to extend Theorem 4.1.2 to these zeta functions. By generalizing the arguments of [31] one can prove¹

¹Here we have normalized the zeta functions in such a way that the axis of absolute convergence lies at Re(s) = 1.

Theorem 6.2.2. Let $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of torsion-free cocompact lattices in a semisimple Lie group G = ANK of rank one and $M = Z_K(A)$. Let $\Lambda_j(s, \sigma)$ be the logarithmic derivative of the Selberg zeta function $\zeta_{\Gamma_j}(s, \sigma)$. Then the following holds:

1. If the sequence $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is uniformly discrete and Plancherel, then

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\Lambda_j(s, \sigma)}{\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \setminus G)} = 0$$

holds for any $\sigma \in \widehat{M}$ and any $s \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$.

2. If

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\Lambda_j(s, \sigma)}{\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \setminus G)} = 0$$

holds for any $\sigma \in \widehat{M}$ and any $s \in \mathbb{C}$ with $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 1$, the sequence $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is Plancherel-convergent.

The proof is completely analogous to the proof of [31, Thm. 3.2]. Again, one might try to remove the condition of uniform discreteness from Theorem 6.2.2 using the methods from Section 4.3. While the author believes that these methods should also work for semisimple Lie groups of rank one, there are the following two problems, which need to be adressed:

- 1. In Section 4.3 we applied methods from spectral geometry to the thick-thin decomposition of a hyperbolic surface to estimate the counting function of the Laplace operator. For these methods to work it is necessary that the boundary of the thin part is smooth. This can fail for any rank one group G, which is not a cover of either $PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$ or $PSL_2(\mathbb{C})$ (cf. [20]). A possible way of approaching this problem is to apply quasi-isometries as in [20] to the thin part to get a sufficiently well-behaved boundary, while changing the Laplace spectrum only by a controlled amount.
- 2. In the case of a hyperbolic surface X, we controlled the thin part $X' = \bigcup_{i=1}^{m_X} T'_{\gamma_i}$ by using the explicit formulae for the Riemannian metric

$$ds^{2} = dr^{2} + l_{i}^{2} \cosh^{2} r dt^{2}$$
(6.1)

on the tubes T'_{γ_i} and the asymptotic formula

$$w_i \sim \log\left(\frac{2}{l_i}\right)$$
 (6.2)

for the widths of the tubes T_{γ_i} . While the analogue of (6.1) for semisimple Lie groups of rank one is either known (see e.g. [18, eq. (4.17)] for the group G = SO(n, 1)) or can be quickly worked out, the analogue of (6.2) seems to require some effort. We only note here that for $G = PSL_2(\mathbb{C})$ one can find useful bounds in [39, p.50], which allow one to prove the analogue of Theorem 4.3.1 for the group $PSL_2(\mathbb{C})$.

6.3 Benjamini-Schramm Convergence and Limit Multiplicities

We have seen in Section 2.11 that any Plancherel convergent sequence $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ has the limit multiplicity property. Now, if the sequence $(\Gamma_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is only Benjamini-Schramm convergent, do we still get the limit multiplicity property for certain subsets $M \subset \hat{G}$, i.e. do we have

$$\lim_{j \to \infty} \frac{\mu_j(A)}{\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_j \setminus G)} = \mu_{\operatorname{Pl}}(A) \tag{6.3}$$

for any Jordan-measurable subset $A \subset M$? For the sake of simplicity we will restrict the following discussion to the group $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$. Recall the classification of unitary representations of $SL_2(\mathbb{R})$ from Theorem 2.6.1:

• Discrete series representations: The multiplicities for (limits of) discrete series representations are explicitly known (cf. e.g. [99, p.174]),

$$N_{\Gamma}(\delta_n^{\pm}) = \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma \backslash G) \ \mu_{\operatorname{Pl}}(\{\delta_n^{\pm}\}), \qquad n \ge 3, \tag{6.4}$$

and

$$N_{\Gamma}(\delta_2^{\pm}) = \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma \backslash G) \ \mu_{\operatorname{Pl}}(\{\delta_2^{\pm}\}) + 1, \qquad N_{\Gamma}(\{\delta_1^{\pm}\}) = 0.$$
(6.5)

From (6.4) and (6.5) it is clear that we have the limit multiplicity property for $\widehat{G}_{\text{disc}}$ as long as $\operatorname{vol}(\Gamma_i \setminus G) \to \infty$.

- Principal series representations: The author expects that the limit multiplicity property for principal series representations is what distinguishes Plancherel convergent sequences from those sequences, which are only BS-convergent. Unfortunately, the author is not aware of a BS-convergent sequence in $PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$, which is not Plancherel-convergent. However, in Appendix D we construct a sequence of smooth closed hyperbolic surfaces, which might be a candidate.
- Complementary series representations: In contrast to principal series representations, the number of complementary series representations in the decomposition $L^2(\Gamma \setminus G)$ can be bounded in terms of the topology of the surface $\Gamma \setminus \mathcal{H}$ alone (cf. [17, Thm. 8.1.1]), i.e. we have an absolute constant c_B such that

$$\mu_{\Gamma}(G_{\text{comp}}) \le c_B \operatorname{vol}(\Gamma \backslash G). \tag{6.6}$$

Now, there are sequences of smooth closed hyperbolic surfaces for which the number of complementary series representations grows linear in the volume (cf. [19, §8.4]), but these are not Benjamini-Schramm convergent (see Example 2.11.8). The intuition behind these examples is that for each small eigenvalue of a surface X there should exist a subdomain of X with small isoperimetric quotient (cf. [17, §8.1]). Benjamini-Schramm convergence may be sufficient to show that the number of these subdomains can only grow sublinear in the volume. As a starting point one may consider [86], where the relationship between small eigenvalues and the geometry of the surface is discussed in more detail.

Appendix

A Limit Points of Salem Numbers

Let \mathcal{T} be the set of Salem numbers. In this section we briefly discuss the set of limit points $\mathcal{T}^{(1)}$ of \mathcal{T} and review what is known about it. Our main reference is [12].

Let us introduce the following class of algebraic integers:

Definition A.1. A Pisot-Vijayaraghavan number is a real algebraic integer $\theta > 1$ such that all conjugates of θ lie in the unit disk $\{z \mid |z| < 1\}$.

We denote the set of Pisot-Vijayaraghavan numbers by S. An example of a Pisot-Vijayaraghavan number is the plastic number $\theta_0 = 1.32471...$, which is the unique real root of the polynomial $p_0(x) = x^3 - x - 1$. For a polynomial $p(x) = a_0 + ... + a_n x^n$ we let $p^*(x) = a_n + + a_0 x^n$ be its reciprocal polynomial. One can show that $S \subset T^{(1)}$ by the following construction (see [81, §7]): Start with a Pisot-Vijayaraghavan number θ and let P_{θ} be the minimal polynomial. Then for large enough $n \in \mathbb{N}$, the polynomial

$$R_n(x) = x^n P_\theta(x) \pm P_\theta^*(x) \tag{A.1}$$

splits into a product of cyclotomic polynomials and a Salem polynomial². This defines a sequence $(\tau_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ of Salem numbers, which converges to θ for $n \to \infty$. In Section 3.4.1 we used the sequence of Salem numbers defined by taking the minimal polynomial $P_{\theta}(x) = x^3 - x - 1$ of the plastic number³. For example, we produced τ_{10} by factorizing

$$R_{10}(x) = x^{10}(x^3 - x - 1) + (x^3 + x^2 - 1).$$
(A.2)

into

$$R_{10}(x) = (x-1)(x^2 + x + 1)(x^{10} - x^8 - x^5 - x^2 + 1),$$
 (A.3)

where the last factor on the right-hand side of (A.3) gives a Salem polynomial. For the interested reader we note that Boyd speculates in [12] that one might have $\mathcal{T}^{(1)} = \mathcal{S}$. But, to the best knowledge of the author, this has not yet been shown.

 $^{^2\}mathrm{We}$ call a polynomial a Salem polynomial, if it is the minimal polynomial of a Salem number.

³Note that for small $n \in \mathbb{N}$ the polynomial from (A.1) does not produce Salem numbers. Still, to avoid any confusion we do not change the indexing of the sequence.

B Length Multiplicity

Throughout this section F is a totally real field, \mathcal{A} is a quaternion algebra over F unramified at exactly one infinite place of F and \mathcal{O} is a maximal order in \mathcal{A} . Furthermore, we let \mathfrak{o} be some order in a relative quadratic extension L/F, such that L embeds into \mathcal{A} . For $\mathfrak{p} \in \Omega$ we let $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}} = \mathcal{O} \otimes \mathfrak{o}_{F,\mathfrak{p}}$ and $\mathfrak{o}_{\mathfrak{p}} = \mathfrak{o} \otimes \mathfrak{o}_{F,\mathfrak{p}}$ the localizations of \mathcal{O} and \mathfrak{o} at \mathfrak{p} . The central goal of this section is to prove

Theorem B.1. The embedding numbers $m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^1)$ can be expressed as

$$m(\mathbf{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^1) = \frac{s(\mathbf{o}, \mathcal{O})h(\mathbf{o})2^{1+|\Omega_i(L)|}}{h_F[N_{L/F}(\mathbf{o}^{\times}):(\mathbf{o}_F^{\times})^2]},$$
(B.1)

where $\Omega_i(L)$ is the subset of finite places in $\operatorname{Ram}(\mathcal{A})$, which stay inert in the extension L.

Further definitions and facts can be found in [98] (see in particular Sections §17, §30 and §31). We first remark that we can reduce the computation of $m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^1)$ to the computation of $m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^{\times})$:

Lemma B.2. If Γ is a group with $\mathcal{O}^1 \subset \Gamma \subset \mathcal{O}^{\times}$, then

$$m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \Gamma) = m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^{\times})[\operatorname{nrd}(\mathcal{O}^{\times}) : \operatorname{nrd}(\Gamma) \operatorname{nrd}(\mathfrak{o}^{\times})].$$

Proof. [98, Lemma 30.3.14]

The embedding numbers $m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^{\times})$ will be determined using local-global methods. We collect the following definitions from [98]:

An *ideal* $I \subset \mathcal{A}$ is an \mathfrak{o}_F -module such that $FI = \mathcal{A}$. An ideal I comes with two orders

$$\mathcal{O}_L(I) = \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{A} : \alpha I \subset I \}, \qquad \mathcal{O}_R(I) = \{ \alpha \in \mathcal{A} : I\alpha \subset I \}.$$

An ideal I is said to be *invertible*, if there exists an ideal $J \subset \mathcal{A}$ such that

$$IJ = \mathcal{O}_L(I) = \mathcal{O}_R(J), \ JI = \mathcal{O}_L(J) = \mathcal{O}_R(I).$$

I is called *two-sided*, if $\mathcal{O}_L(I) = \mathcal{O}_R(I)$. The set of all two-sided ideals I sitting in \mathcal{O} is denoted by Idl(\mathcal{O}). If I is of the form $I = \alpha \mathcal{O}$ for some $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}^{\times}$, then I is called a *principal two-sided ideal* and the set of principal two-sided ideals in \mathcal{O} is denoted by PIdl(\mathcal{O}). We say that two ideals $I, J \subset \mathcal{A}$ are *in the same right class* and write $I \sim_R J$, if there exists $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}^{\times}$ such that $\alpha I = J$. The right class of an ideal I is written as $[I]_R$. The *right class set* of \mathcal{O} is given by

$$\operatorname{Cls}_R \mathcal{O} = \{ [I]_R : I \subset \mathcal{A} \text{ invertible and } \mathcal{O}_R(I) = \mathcal{O} \}.$$

One may define the left class set $\operatorname{Cls}_L \mathcal{O}$ analogously. Since the standard involution on \mathcal{A} induces a bijection between the right and left class set, we will simply write $\operatorname{Cls} \mathcal{O}$ instead of $\operatorname{Cls}_R \mathcal{O}$. This set is always finite [98, Thm. 17.7.1] and

its cardinality $h(\mathcal{O})$ is called the *class number* of \mathcal{O} . Next, consider two orders \mathcal{O}' and \mathcal{O}'' in \mathcal{A} . We say that \mathcal{O}' and \mathcal{O}'' are of the same type, if there exists $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}^{\times}$ such that $\mathcal{O}' = \alpha^{-1}\mathcal{O}\alpha$. According to the Skolem-Noether theorem two orders \mathcal{O}' and \mathcal{O}'' are of the same type if and only if they are isomorphic as rings. We say that \mathcal{O}' is *connected* to \mathcal{O}'' , if there exists an invertible ideal I with $\mathcal{O}_L(I) = \mathcal{O}'$ and $\mathcal{O}_R(I) = \mathcal{O}''$. Since invertible ideals are locally principal [98, Thm. 16.6.1], two orders will be connected if and only if they are *locally* of the same type (i.e. locally isomorphic as rings). The genus of \mathcal{O} is the set Gen \mathcal{O} of orders in \mathcal{A} locally isomorphic to \mathcal{O} . The type set Typ \mathcal{O} of \mathcal{O} is the set of \mathfrak{o}_F -isomorphism classes of orders in the genus of \mathcal{O} . Now, consider the localizations \mathfrak{o}_p and \mathcal{O}_p at a finite place \mathfrak{p} of F. Let us denote

$$s_1(\mathfrak{o}, \mathfrak{p}) = \begin{cases} 1, \text{ if } \mathfrak{o}_{\mathfrak{p}} \text{ is integrally closed} \\ 0, \text{ else.} \end{cases}$$

and

$$s_1(\mathfrak{o}) = \prod_{\mathfrak{p}\in \operatorname{Ram}(\mathcal{A})} s_1(\mathfrak{o},\mathfrak{p}).$$

We define the local embedding number $m(\mathfrak{o}_{\mathfrak{p}}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}; \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\times})$ as the number of optimal embeddings of $\mathfrak{o}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ into $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ modulo the action of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\times}$. These local embedding numbers are explicitly known for maximal orders \mathcal{O} :

Proposition B.3. One has

$$m(\mathfrak{o}_{\mathfrak{p}}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}; \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\times}) = \begin{cases} s_1(\mathfrak{o}, \mathfrak{p}) \left(1 - \left(\frac{L}{\mathfrak{p}}\right)\right), & \text{if } \mathfrak{p} \in \operatorname{Ram}(\mathcal{A}), \\ 1, & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

Proof. [98, Prop. 30.5.3]

The above proposition shows in particular that the product

$$m(\widehat{\mathfrak{o}}, \widehat{\mathcal{O}}; \widehat{\mathcal{O}}^{\times}) := \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in \Omega_f} m(\mathfrak{o}_{\mathfrak{p}}, \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}; \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{p}}^{\times}) = s_1(\mathfrak{o}) 2^{|\Omega_i(L)|}$$
(B.2)

is finite. The relevant result linking global embedding numbers to their local counterpart is given by

Theorem B.4. We have

$$\sum_{[I]\in \operatorname{Cls} \mathcal{O}} m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}_L(I); \mathcal{O}_L(I)^{\times}) = h(\mathfrak{o})m(\widehat{\mathfrak{o}}, \widehat{\mathcal{O}}; \widehat{\mathcal{O}}^{\times}).$$
(B.3)

Proof. [98, Thm. 30.4.7]

The above theorem allows the evaluation of $m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^{\times})$ by the next result:

Theorem B.5. Assume that $m(\hat{\mathfrak{o}}, \widehat{\mathcal{O}}; \widehat{\mathcal{O}}^{\times}) \neq 0$. Then the following holds:

- If o does not embed optimally into O, we have Σ(o, O') ≠ Ø for precisely half of the types [O'] ∈ Typ O.
- 2. One has

$$m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}'; \mathcal{O}'^{\times}) = m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^{\times})$$

for $\mathcal{O}' \in \operatorname{Gen} \mathcal{O}$, whenever both sides are non-zero.

Proof. [98, Thm. 31.1.7]⁴

We note that the vanishing of $m(\hat{\mathfrak{o}}, \widehat{\mathcal{O}}; \widehat{\mathcal{O}}^{\times})$ already implies by (B.3) that $m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^{\times}) = 0$. Hence, from now on we will only consider the case $m(\hat{\mathfrak{o}}, \widehat{\mathcal{O}}; \widehat{\mathcal{O}}^{\times}) \neq 0$, which is equivalent to $s_1(\mathfrak{o}) = 1$.

Corollary B.6. Suppose that $m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}'; \mathcal{O}'^{\times}) \neq 0$ for all $\mathcal{O}' \in \text{Gen } \mathcal{O}$. Then

$$m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^{\times}) = \frac{h(\mathfrak{o})}{h(\mathcal{O})} m(\widehat{\mathfrak{o}}, \widehat{\mathcal{O}}; \widehat{\mathcal{O}}^{\times}).$$

Proof. If I is an ideal in \mathcal{A} with $[I]_R \in \operatorname{Cls} \mathcal{O}$, we have by definition $\mathcal{O}_L(I) \in \operatorname{Gen} \mathcal{O}$. One may then apply the second statement of Theorem B.5 to Theorem B.4 and use (B.2).

If \mathfrak{o} does embed optimally into \mathcal{O} , but $m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}'; \mathcal{O}'^{\times})$ vanishes for some other order $\mathcal{O}' \in \text{Gen } \mathcal{O}$, we still have that \mathfrak{o} does embed into precisely half of the types $[\mathcal{O}'] \in \text{Typ } \mathcal{O}$. If we want to apply (B.3) in this case, we need to understand the fibers of the surjective map

$$\phi : \operatorname{Cls} \mathcal{O} \to \operatorname{Typ} \mathcal{O}, \qquad [I] \mapsto \mathcal{O}_L(I).$$

Proposition B.7. The map $I \mapsto [I]$ induces a bijection

$$\operatorname{PIdl}(\mathcal{O}) \setminus \operatorname{Idl}(\mathcal{O}) \to \{ [I] \in \operatorname{Cls} \mathcal{O} \mid \mathcal{O}_L(I) \cong \mathcal{O} \}$$

Proof. [98, Prop. 18.5.10]

Hence the number of elements in a single fiber of the map ϕ is equal to the cardinality $|\operatorname{PIdl}(\mathcal{O}) \setminus \operatorname{Idl}(\mathcal{O})|$. This number luckily does not depend on \mathcal{O} :

Proposition B.8. Let \mathcal{O} and \mathcal{O}' be locally isomorphic orders in \mathcal{A} . Then

$$|\operatorname{PIdl}(\mathcal{O}) \setminus \operatorname{Idl}(\mathcal{O})| = |\operatorname{PIdl}(\mathcal{O}') \setminus \operatorname{Idl}(\mathcal{O}')|$$

holds.

Proof. [98, Prop. 28.9.7]

Let us define a number $s_2(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O})$ by

⁴For the careful reader we note that the assumption $m(\hat{\mathfrak{o}}, \hat{\mathcal{O}}; \hat{\mathcal{O}}^{\times}) \neq 0$ is not contained in the statement of Theorem 31.1.7 itself, but has been made in Paragraph 31.1.4.

- $s_2(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}) = 0$, if \mathfrak{o} does not embed optimally into \mathcal{O} ,
- $s_2(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}) = 1$, if $m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}'; \mathcal{O}'^{\times}) \neq 0$ for all $\mathcal{O}' \in \text{Gen } \mathcal{O}$,
- $s_2(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}) = 2$, else.

and let $s(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}) = s_1(\mathfrak{o})s_2(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}).$

Corollary B.9. One has

$$m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^{\times}) = s(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}) \frac{h(\mathfrak{o})}{h(\mathcal{O})} 2^{|\Omega_i(L)|}$$

Proof. The case $s(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}) = 0$ is trivial and the case $s(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}) = 1$ has already been dealed with in Corollary B.6. Let us now assume that \mathfrak{o} embeds optimally into \mathcal{O} , but there exists $[\mathcal{O}''] \in \text{Gen } \mathcal{O}$ such that \mathfrak{o} does not embed optimally into \mathcal{O}'' . We first note that

$$\sum_{[I]\in \operatorname{Cls}\mathcal{O}} m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}_L(I); \mathcal{O}_L(I)^{\times}) = \sum_{\mathcal{O}'\in \operatorname{Typ}\mathcal{O}} |\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{O}')| m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}'; \mathcal{O}'^{\times}).$$
(B.4)

If we let $(\operatorname{Typ} \mathcal{O})_*$ be the subset of $\operatorname{Typ} \mathcal{O}$ consisting of those $[\mathcal{O}']$ such that \mathfrak{o} embeds into \mathcal{O}' , we can apply the second statement of Theorem B.5 to (B.4) to deduce

$$\sum_{\mathcal{O}' \in \mathrm{Typ}\,\mathcal{O}} |\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{O}')| m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}'; \mathcal{O}'^{\times}) = m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^{\times}) \sum_{\mathcal{O}' \in (\mathrm{Typ}\,\mathcal{O})_*} |\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{O}')|. \quad (B.5)$$

Combining Proposition B.7 and Proposition B.8 yields $|\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{O}')| = |\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{O})|$ for $\mathcal{O}' \in \text{Typ }\mathcal{O}$ and therefore we can apply Theorem B.5 to (B.5) to derive

$$m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^{\times}) \sum_{\mathcal{O}' \in (\operatorname{Typ} \mathcal{O})_*} |\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{O}')| = m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^{\times}) |\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{O})| \frac{|\operatorname{Typ} \mathcal{O}|}{2}$$

Since $h(\mathcal{O}) = |\phi^{-1}(\mathcal{O})|| \operatorname{Typ} \mathcal{O}|$, we get

$$\sum_{[I]\in\operatorname{Cls}\mathcal{O}} m(\mathfrak{o},\mathcal{O}_L(I);\mathcal{O}_L(I)^{\times}) = \frac{1}{2}m(\mathfrak{o},\mathcal{O};\mathcal{O}^{\times})h(\mathcal{O}),$$

which concludes the proof in view of Theorem B.4.

Proof of Theorem B.1. In view of Corollary B.9 and Lemma B.2 we have

$$m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^1) = s(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O})h(\mathfrak{o})2^{|\Omega_i(L)|} \frac{[\operatorname{nrd}(\mathcal{O}^{\times}) : \operatorname{nrd}(\mathfrak{o}^{\times})]}{h(\mathcal{O})}$$
(B.6)

By an application of the third group isomorphism theorem we get

$$[\operatorname{nrd}(\mathcal{O}^{\times}):(\mathfrak{o}_F^{\times})^2] = [\operatorname{nrd}(\mathcal{O}^{\times}):\operatorname{nrd}(\mathfrak{o}^{\times})][\operatorname{nrd}(\mathfrak{o}^{\times}):(\mathfrak{o}_F^{\times})^2].$$
(B.7)

. ____

Next, combining [98, Cor. 31.1.11], [98, Lemma 39.4.7] and [98, Lemma 28.5.17] shows

$$[\operatorname{nrd}(\mathcal{O}^{\times}):(\mathfrak{o}_{F}^{\times})^{2}] = 2\frac{h(\mathcal{O})}{h_{F}}.$$
(B.8)

Plugging equations (B.7) and (B.8) into (B.6) finally gives

$$m(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O}; \mathcal{O}^1) = \frac{s(\mathfrak{o}, \mathcal{O})h(\mathfrak{o})2^{1+|\Omega_i(L)|}}{h_F[N_{L/F}(\mathfrak{o}^{\times}): (\mathfrak{o}_F^{\times})^2]},$$

where we used that the reduced norm on \mathcal{A} agrees with the relative norm $N_{L/F}$, when restricted to L.

C The Phragmen-Lindelöf Principle

The Phragmen-Lindelöf principle is a substitute for the maximum modulus theorem for analytic functions $f: U \to \mathbb{C}$ on an unbounded domain U. There exist different versions of it. We will use it in the form stated in [28]. Any further details and proofs can be found in [28].

The extended complex plane \mathbb{C}_{∞} is the one-point compactification of \mathbb{C} , i.e. it is the topological space $\mathbb{C}_{\infty} = \mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}$, whose topology consists of open sets $U \subset \mathbb{C}$ together with all sets $V = (\mathbb{C} \setminus K) \cup \{\infty\}$, where K is a compact subset of \mathbb{C} . For a subset $U \subset \mathbb{C}$ we let $\partial_{\infty} U$ be the boundary of U in \mathbb{C}_{∞} and call it the extended boundary of U. We have that $\partial_{\infty} U = \partial U$ if U is bounded and $\partial_{\infty} U = \partial U \cup \{\infty\}$ if U is unbounded.

Definition C.1. Let U be an open subset of \mathbb{C} and \overline{U} be its closure in the standard topology of \mathbb{C} . If $f: U \to \mathbb{R}$ and $x \in \overline{U}$ or $x = \infty$, then the *limit superior* of f(s) as s approaches x, denoted by $\limsup f(s)$ is defined by

$$\limsup_{s\to x} f(s) = \lim_{r\to 0^+} \sup\{f(s): s\in U\cap B(x,r)\},$$

where B(x, r) is the ball of radius r centered around x with respect to the standard metric of \mathbb{C} .

Theorem C.2. Let $U \subset \mathbb{C}$ be a simply connected region and let f be an analytic function on U. Suppose there is an analytic function $\varphi : U \to \mathbb{C}$, which never vanishes and is bounded on U. If M is a constant and $\partial_{\infty}U = X \cup Y$ such that

1. for every x in X, $\limsup_{s \to x} |f(s)| \le M$;

2. for every y in Y and $\eta > 0$, $\limsup |f(s)||\varphi(s)|^{\eta} \le M$;

then $|f(s)| \leq M$ for all $s \in U$.

Proof. [28, Thm. 4.1]

D A Degenerating Plancherel sequence

Before starting the construction of a Plancherel-convergent sequence, which is not uniformly discrete, we need to extent our discussion of Y-pieces from Section 2.3 to possibly non-compact surfaces. The material can be found for example in $[17, \S4.4]$.

One can paste together two degenerate hexagons, which are hexagons with either one, two or three points at infinity to get a *degenerate* Y-piece (or *degenerate* pair of pants). We will refer to the points at infinity as punctures. We will extend the notation Y_{l_1,l_2,l_3} to degenerate Y-pieces by writing $l_i = 0$ for any boundary component, which is a puncture. A degenerate Y-piece contains around each puncture a neighborhood C, which is isometric to $(-\infty, \log 2] \times \mathbb{S}^1$ equipped with the Riemannian metric

$$ls^2 = dr^2 + e^{2r}dt^2.$$

Such a neighborhood is called a *cusp* and depicted in Figure 1.



Figure 1: A cusp around a puncture.

A Y-piece has signature (0, p; q) if it has p boundary geodesics and q cusps. A cofinite hyperbolic surface of genus g is said to have signature (g, p; q), if it has p boundary geodesics and q cusps.

Theorem D.1. Let X be a (possibly) non-compact smooth hyperbolic surface of signature (g, 0; q). Let $\gamma_1, ..., \gamma_m$ be pairwise disjoint simple closed geodesics on X. Then the following hold

- 1. $m \leq 3g 3 + q$,
- 2. There exist simple closed geodesics $\gamma_{m+1}, ..., \gamma_{3g-3+q}$, which together with $\gamma_1, ..., \gamma_m$ decompose X into Y-pieces.
- 3. The tubes T_{γ_i} , i = 1, ..., 3g 3 + q and the cusps $C^1, ..., C^q$ are all pairwise disjoint.

Proof. [17, Thm. 4.4.6]

Now, if we take a smooth hyperbolic surface X and pinch a simple closed geodesic γ on X, i.e. we let $l_{\gamma} \to 0$, then we intuitively expect that the tube T_{γ} around γ converges in a suitable sense to (two copies of) a cusp C. To give this a precise meaning we need some additional terminology (cf. [21]). Let Y_{l_1,l_2,l_3} be a Y-piece and let $r_0 \in (0,\infty)$. The horocycles

$$h_{r_0} = \{ p \in \mathcal{C} \mid \operatorname{dist}(p, \partial \mathcal{C}) = r_0 \}$$

for a cusp \mathcal{C} in Y_{l_1,l_2,l_3} and the curves

$$\gamma^{r_0} = \{ p \in X \mid \operatorname{dist}(p, \gamma) = r_0 \}$$

for γ a boundary geodesic of Y_{l_1,l_2,l_3} and $0 < r_0 < w_{\gamma}$ are called *equidistant* curves. Now, select in each half-tube or cusp an equidistant curve β_i of length λ_i . Then the closure of the connected component of $Y_{l_1,l_2,l_3} \setminus (\beta_1 \cup \beta_2 \cup \beta_3)$ not containing any of the boundary geodesics of Y_{l_1,l_2,l_3} or punctures is called a restricted Y-piece and denoted $Y_{l_1,l_2,l_3}^{\lambda_1,\lambda_2,\lambda_3}$. Let us also write Y_{l_1,l_2}^c instead of $Y_{l_1,l_2,c}^{l_1,l_2,c}$. A homeomorphism $\phi: Y \to Y'$ of possibly restricted Y-pieces is called boundary-coherent, if for corresponding boundary curves α_i of Y and α'_i of Y' in standard parametrization one has

$$\phi(\alpha_i(t)) = \alpha'_i(t), \qquad \forall t \in [0, 1].$$

For each boundary length $l_i \ge 0$ we let

$$P_{i} = \{ p \in Y_{l_{1}, l_{2}, l_{3}} \mid \operatorname{dist}(p, \gamma_{i}) < \log(\frac{2}{l_{i}}) \}$$
(D.1)

if $0 < l_i < 2$ and $P_i = \emptyset$ for $l_i \ge 2$. In the degenerate case, we let P_i be the set of points that lie outside of the horocycle of length 1. Then

$$\widehat{Y}_{l_1, l_2, l_3} = Y_{l_1, l_2, l_3} \smallsetminus (P_1 \cup P_2 \cup P_3)$$

is called a *reduced Y-piece*. Finally, let us recall that a piecewise smooth⁵ mapping $\Psi : M \to N$ of Riemannian manifolds M and N is called a *quasi-isometry*, if there exists d > 0 such that for any tangent vector v of M we have

$$\frac{1}{d}||v||_{M} \le ||D\Psi(v)||_{N} \le d||v||_{M}$$
(D.2)

The infimum over all the d such that (D.2) holds is called the *length distortion* F and denoted d_{Ψ} .

Theorem D.2. Let $0 \le l_1, l_2$ and $0 < \varepsilon < \frac{1}{2}$. Set $\varepsilon^* = \frac{2}{\pi}\varepsilon$. Then there exists a boundary-coherent homeomorphism

$$\phi: Y_{l_1, l_2, \varepsilon} \to Y_{l_1, l_2}^{\varepsilon^*}$$

such that

1.
$$\phi(\hat{Y}_{l_1,l_2,\varepsilon}) = \hat{Y}_{l_1,l_2,0}$$

 $^{{}^{5}}$ By a piecewise smooth mapping we mean a homeomorphism, which is smooth on the complement of a finite number of curves.

2. The restriction of ϕ to $\widehat{Y}_{l_1,l_2,\varepsilon}$ is boundary-coherent and has length distortion $d_{\phi} \leq 1 + \frac{5}{4}\varepsilon^2$.

Proof. [21, Thm. 5.1]

Remark D.3. Theorem D.2 can be extended in an obvious manner to Y-pieces with more than one degenerating boundary geodesic.

Now, we can finally construct a Plancherel-convergent sequence of smooth hyperbolic surfaces $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$, which is not uniformly discrete. For this we adapt an example from [19]. Let us recall a few facts about the principal congruence subgroups

$$\Gamma(N) = \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \in \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \middle| \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} \equiv \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \mod N \right\}.$$

We denote by $X(N) = \Gamma(N) \setminus \mathcal{H}$ the congruence surface of level N. Let us write g_N for the genus of X(N) and b_N for the number of boundary components of X(N).

Theorem D.4. The principal congruence subgroup $\Gamma(N)$ is torsion-free for $N \geq 3$. All boundary components of X(N) are punctures and we have

$$g_N = 1 + \frac{d_N(N-6)}{24N}, \qquad b_N = \frac{d_N}{2N},$$
 (D.3)

where d_N is given by $d_2 = 12$ and $d_N = N^3 \prod_{p \mid N} (1 - 1/p^2)$ for $N \ge 3$.

Proof. [90]

Note that the number of cusps of X(N) always is even for $N \ge 3$. The systole $l_{s,N}$ of X(N) is given by (cf. [85, Lemma 2])

$$2\cosh(l_{s,N}/2) = (N^2 - 2). \tag{D.4}$$

Now, decompose X(N) into pairs of pants. The boundary components of the pants are either geodesics or punctures. We keep the boundary geodesics and replace each puncture by a geodesic of length t. Let us reassemble these pieces using the old identifications. Since the number of cusps of X(N) is even, we can identify the remaining geodesics in pairs. This yields a smooth closed hyperbolic surface $X_t(N)$. By counting the number of Y-pieces involved one can show $g(X_t(N)) \ge g_N$. We also note that the surface $X_t(N)$ contains $b_N/2$ disjoint simple closed geodesics γ_i , $i = 1, ..., b_N/2$ of length t. Now, let $(N_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of natural numbers $N_j \ge 3$ with $N_j \to \infty$ as $j \to \infty$ and $(t_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of positive real numbers converging towards zero. Let us write $b_j = b_{N_j}/2$ and $g_j = g_{N_j}$. Let $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of smooth closed hyperbolic surfaces defined by $X_j = X_{t_j}(N_j)$.

Lemma D.5. The sequence $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is Plancherel convergent if and only if t_j^{-1} grows subexponentially in N_j .
Proof. Let us fix some c > 0. We will first describe all closed geodesics in X_j of length smaller than or equal to c for j sufficiently large. Let γ be a simple closed geodesic in some X_j , which is not freely homotopic to some power of one of the geodesics $\gamma_1, ..., \gamma_{b_j}$. If γ intersects any of the geodesics γ_i , $i = 1, ..., b_j$ we get from [17, Cor. 4.1.2] that

$$\sinh(l_{\gamma}/2) \ge \frac{1}{\sinh(t_j/2)}.$$

Hence, γ can be dismissed for j large enough. If γ does not intersect any of the γ_i , $i = 1, ..., b_j$, we have by [17, Thm. 4.1.1] that γ lies outside of the tubes T_{γ_i} with $i = 1, ..., b_j$. There exists a boundary-coherent quasi-isometry

$$\phi: X_j \smallsetminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{b_j} P_i \to X(N_j) \smallsetminus \bigcup_{i=1}^{b_j} P_i'$$

given by the identity on any Y-piece, where no boundary geodesic has been replaced in the above process and the map from Theorem D.2 in the remaining cases. Its length distortion is bounded by $d_{\phi} \leq 1 + \frac{5}{4}t_j^2$. Therefore, $\phi(\gamma)$ defines an element $[\phi(\gamma)]$ in $\Gamma(N_j)$ and

$$l(\phi(\gamma)) \le \left(1 + \frac{5}{4}t_i^2\right) l(\gamma). \tag{D.5}$$

We claim that $[\phi(\gamma)] \in \Gamma(N_j)$ is covered by a hyperbolic transformation, i.e. there exist a closed geodesic in the free homotopy class of $\phi(\gamma)$. Assume otherwise that $[\phi(\gamma)]$ is covered by a parabolic transformation. Then by [2, p.72] the curve $\phi(\gamma)$ can be homotoped into the power of a simple loop around a puncture of $X(N_j)$. Now, applying ϕ^{-1} gives a homotopy of γ into the tube around some geodesic γ_{i_0} for $i_0 \in \{1, ..., b_j\}$. Hence, γ is homotopic to some power of γ_{i_0} , which is a contradiction to our assumption on γ . Consequently, there exists a hyperbolic transformation $\eta_{\gamma} \in \Gamma(N_j)$, which covers $[\phi(\gamma)]$ and Theorem 2.2.2 implies

$$2 \operatorname{arcosh}((N_i^2 - 2)/2) \le l(\eta_{\gamma}) \le l(\phi(\gamma)) \le (1 + \frac{5}{4}t_i^2)l(\gamma).$$
(D.6)

Since t_j is bounded from above, inequality (D.6) shows that for N_j large enough there are no simple closed geodesics of length $\leq c$ apart from $\gamma_1, ..., \gamma_{b_j}$. Next, let γ be a non-simple closed geodesic different from a power of one of the $\gamma_1, ..., \gamma_{b_j}$. According to [17, Thm. 4.2.4] any non-simple primitive geodesic of smallest length is a figure-eight geodesic⁶ δ embedded into a Y-piece. Any Y-piece contains at least one boundary geodesic not belonging to $\gamma_1, ..., \gamma_{b_j}$, since otherwise $X(N_j)$ would not be connected. Then the length formula for δ (see [17, eq. (4.2.3)]) yields

$$l(\gamma) \ge l(\delta) \ge 2(1 + \frac{5}{4}t_j^2)^{-1}\operatorname{arcosh}((N_j^2 - 2)/2).$$

This proves that for j large enough any geodesic in X_j of length $\leq c$ is a power of some of the geodesics $\gamma_1, ..., \gamma_{b_j}$.

⁶A figure-eight geodesic is a closed geodesic with exactly one self-intersection.

Finally, we want to apply the criterion for Plancherel-convergence from Proposition 2.11.6. We compute

$$\sum_{l_{\gamma} \le c} m(l_{\gamma}) \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{\sinh(l_{\gamma}/2)} = b_j \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}: kt_j \le c} \frac{t_j}{\sinh(kt_j/2)}.$$
 (D.7)

Since $\lim_{x\to 0} x / \sinh(x) = 1$ there exists for sufficiently small $\varepsilon > 0$ positive constants C_0 and C_1 such that

$$C_0 \le \frac{x}{\sinh(x)} \le C_1$$

,

for $x \in (0, \varepsilon]$. Applying this to (D.7) gives

$$\sum_{l_{\gamma} \le c} m(l_{\gamma}) \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{\sinh(l_{\gamma}/2)} \le 2b_j C_1 \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}: kt_j \le \varepsilon} \frac{1}{k} \right) + \frac{b_j t_j}{\sinh(\varepsilon/2)}.$$
(D.8)

Using the asymptotic expansion of the harmonic series

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} \frac{1}{k} = \log n + \gamma_E + O\left(\frac{1}{n}\right),$$

where γ_E is the Euler-Mascheroni constant, gives

$$\sum_{l_{\gamma} \le c} m(l_{\gamma}) \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{\sinh(l_{\gamma}/2)} \le C_2 b_j |\log t_j|$$
(D.9)

for C_2 some sufficiently large constant. Plugging in the values for b_j and g_j from (D.3) yields

$$\frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} \sum_{l_{\gamma} \le c} m(l_{\gamma}) \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{\sinh(l_{\gamma}/2)} \le \frac{3C_2 |\log t_j|}{\pi(N_j - 6)}.$$
 (D.10)

In particular, the right-hand side of (D.10) goes to zero, if t_i^{-1} grows subexponentially in N_j , in which case Proposition 2.11.6 implies the Plancherel convergence of $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$. In an analogous manner, one can derive the lower bound

$$\frac{1}{\operatorname{vol}(X_j)} \sum_{l_{\gamma} \le c} m(l_{\gamma}) \frac{l_{\gamma_0}}{\sinh(l_{\gamma}/2)} \ge C_3 \frac{|\log t_j|}{\pi(N_j - 6)}.$$
 (D.11)

for C_3 some positive constant and j sufficiently large. Hence, we can employ Proposition 2.11.6 to show that $(X_j)_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ is not Plancherel-convergent, if t_j^{-1} grows at least exponentially in N_j . grows at least exponentially in N_j .

\mathbf{E} Notations and Conventions

In this section we collect, for the sake of completeness, a few conventions and notations, which are used throughout this thesis.

- **Isomorphisms:** If we speak of an isomorphism between two objects A and B, we always mean an isomorphism in the respective category. For example, if A, B are groups, an isomorphism $f : A \to B$ is a group isomorphism, or if A, B are smooth manifolds any isomorphism $f : A \to B$ is a diffeomorphism.
- Generators of a subgroup: If G is a group and $g_1, ..., g_n \in G$ are elements of G, we denote the subgroup H generated by $g_1, ..., g_n$ by

$$H = \langle g_1, ..., g_n \rangle.$$

- Vinogradov notation: When writing down any bounds, we usually write out the constants, whenever possible. While this introduces some amount of bookkeeping, the author thinks that it makes it easier to follow the computations. Hence, the author has decided against using Vinogradov notation.
- Subsets with unit removed: If S is a subset of group G and 1 is the unit in G, we write $S^* = S \setminus \{1\}$.
- Cardinality: If S is a finite set, we write |S| for the cardinality of S.
- **Big O-Notation:** In a few places, we use the so-called Big O-Notation to write down asymptotics.
- **Properties of manifolds:** We always assume that any manifold appearing in this thesis is connected and orientable without explicitly mentioning it.
- Finite fields: Let p be a rational prime and $n \in \mathbb{N}$ an integer. For $q = p^n$ a power of p we write \mathbb{F}_q for the finite field of cardinality q.
- Order of an element: Let $x \in G$ be an element of a group G. If $n \in \mathbb{N}$ is the smallest natural number such that $x^n = 1$, we let $\operatorname{ord}(x) = n$ be the order of x.
- Interior points: If X is a topological space and $A \subset X$ a subset of X, we write A° for the set of interior points of A.
- Curves as point sets: For a curve $c : [0, 1] \to X$ in a topological space X we also write c for the point set

$$\{c(t) \mid t \in [0,1]\}.$$

Bibliography

- Miklos Abert et al. "On the growth of L²-invariants for sequences of lattices in Lie groups". In: Annals of Mathematics 185.3 (2017), pp. 711– 790.
- [2] William Abikoff. *Real analytic theory of Teichmüller space*. Springer, 1980.
- [3] Alan F Beardon. *The geometry of discrete groups*. Vol. 91. Springer Science & Business Media, 2012.
- [4] Nicolas Bergeron. The spectrum of hyperbolic surfaces. Springer, 2016.
- [5] Nicolas Bergeron. "Torsion homology growth in arithmetic groups". In: *European Congress of Mathematics*. Eur. Math. Soc. Zürich. 2018, pp. 263-287.
- [6] Nicolas Bergeron, Mehmet Haluk Şengün, and Akshay Venkatesh. "Torsion homology growth and cycle complexity of arithmetic manifolds". In: *Duke Math. J.* 165 (2016).
- [7] Nicolas Bergeron and Akshay Venkatesh. "The asymptotic growth of torsion homology for arithmetic groups". In: Journal of the Institute of Mathematics of Jussieu 12.2 (2013), pp. 391–447.
- [8] Yuri Bilu. "Limit distribution of small points on algebraic tori". In: Duke Math. J. 89 (1997), pp. 465–476.
- [9] Valentin Blomer and Farrell Brumley. "On the Ramanujan conjecture over number fields". In: Annals of mathematics (2011), pp. 581–605.
- [10] David W Boyd. "Pisot and Salem numbers in intervals of the real line". In: Mathematics of Computation 32.144 (1978), pp. 1244–1260.
- [11] David W Boyd. "Small Salem numbers". In: Duke Math. J. 44 (1977), pp. 315–328.
- [12] David W Boyd. "Speculations concerning the range of Mahler's measure". In: Canadian Mathematical Bulletin 24.4 (1980), pp. 453–469.
- [13] Hatice Boylan and Nils-Peter Skoruppa. A classical approach to relative quadratic extensions. 2022. arXiv: 2208.03515 [math.NT].

- [14] Jeffrey F Brock and Nathan M Dunfield. "Injectivity radii of hyperbolic integer homology 3-spheres". In: *Geometry & Topology* 19.1 (2015), pp. 497–523.
- [15] Ulrich Bunke and Martin Olbrich. Selberg zeta and theta functions: a differential operator approach. Akademie Verlag, 1995.
- [16] Peter Buser. "A note on the isoperimetric constant". In: Annales scientifiques de l'École normale supérieure. Vol. 15. 2. 1982, pp. 213–230.
- [17] Peter Buser. Geometry and spectra of compact Riemann surfaces. Springer Science & Business Media, 2010.
- [18] Peter Buser. "On Cheeger's inequality $\lambda_1 \ge h^2/4$ ". In: AMS Proc. Symposia Pure Maths. Vol. 36. 1980, pp. 29–78.
- [19] Peter Buser, Marc Burger, and Jozef Dodziuk. "Riemann surfaces of large genus and large λ₁". In: Geometry and Analysis on Manifolds: Proceedings of the 21st International Taniguchi Symposium. Springer. 2006, pp. 54–63.
- [20] Peter Buser, Bruno Colbois, and Jozef Dodziuk. "Tubes and eigenvalues for negatively curved manifolds". In: *The Journal of Geometric Analysis* 3.1 (1993), pp. 1–26.
- [21] Peter Buser et al. "Quasiconformal embeddings of Y-pieces". In: Computational Methods and Function Theory 14 (2014), pp. 431–452.
- [22] Isaac Chavel. Eigenvalues in Riemannian geometry. Academic press, 1984.
- [23] Isaac Chavel and Józef Dodziuk. "The spectrum of degenerating hyperbolic 3-manifolds". In: *Journal of Differential Geometry* 39.1 (1994), pp. 123–137.
- [24] Jeff Cheeger. "A lower bound for the smallest eigenvalue of the Laplacian". In: Problems in Analysis: A Symposium in Honor of Salomon Bochner (PMS-31). Princeton University Press. 2015, pp. 195–200.
- [25] T Chinburg. "Salem numbers and L-functions". In: Journal of Number Theory 18.2 (1984), pp. 213–214.
- [26] Laurent Clozel. "On limit multiplicites of discrete series representations in spaces of automorphic forms". In: *Invent. Math.* 83 (1986).
- [27] Alessandro Cobbe. "Steinitz classes of some abelian and nonabelian extensions of even degree". In: Journal de théorie des nombres de Bordeaux 22.3 (2010), pp. 607–628.
- [28] John B Conway. Functions of one complex variable I. Vol. 11. Springer Science & Business Media, 1978.
- [29] Joseph Cook. Properties of Eigenvalues on Riemann Surfaces with Large Symmetry Groups. 2021. arXiv: 2108.11825 [math.SP].
- [30] Anton Deitmar. "Benjamini-Schramm and spectral convergence". In: L'Enseignement Mathématique 64.3 (2019), pp. 371–394.

- [31] Anton Deitmar. "Benjamini–Schramm convergence and zeta functions". In: Research in the Mathematical Sciences 7.3 (2020), pp. 1–13.
- [32] Anton Deitmar and Siegfried Echterhoff. *Principles of harmonic analysis*. Springer, 2014.
- [33] Anton Deitmar and Werner Hoffmann. "On limit multiplicities for spaces of automorphic forms". In: *Canadian Journal of Mathematics* 51.5 (1999), pp. 952–976.
- [34] Patrick Delorme. "Formules limites et formules asymptotiques pour les multiplicites dans $L^2(G/\Gamma)$ ". In: Duke Math. J. 53.3 (1986), pp. 691–731.
- [35] Bertrand Deroin and Emmanuel Breuillard. "Salem number and the spectrum of hyperbolic surfaces". In: *International Mathematics Research Notices* (2020).
- [36] Jacques Dixmier. "C*-Algebras". In: North-Holland Math. Library 15 (1977).
- [37] Edward Dobrowolski. "On a question of Lehmer and the number of irreducible factors of a polynomial". In: Acta Arithmetica 34.4 (1979), pp. 391–401.
- [38] Jürgen Elstrodt. Maß-und Integrationstheorie. Vol. 7. Springer, 1996.
- [39] Simone Farinelli. "Spectra of Dirac operators on a family of degenerating hyperbolic three manifolds". PhD thesis. ETH Zurich, 1998.
- [40] Tobias Finis, Erez Lapid, and Werner Müller. "Limit multiplicities for principal congruence subgroups of GL_n ". In: Journal of the Institute of Mathematics of Jussieu 14.3 (2015), pp. 589–638.
- [41] V Flammang, M Grandcolas, and G Rhin. "Small Salem numbers". In: Number theory in progress 1 (1999), pp. 165–168.
- [42] Gerald B Folland. A course in abstract harmonic analysis. Vol. 29. CRC press, 2016.
- [43] Mikołaj Frączyk. "Strong limit multiplicity for arithmetic hyperbolic surfaces and 3-manifolds". In: *Inventiones mathematicae* 224.3 (2021), pp. 917–985.
- [44] Mikołaj Frączyk and Jean Raimbault. "Betti numbers of Shimura curves and arithmetic three-orbifolds". In: Algebra & Number Theory 13.10 (2020), pp. 2359–2382.
- [45] Eknath Ghate and Eriko Hironaka. "The arithmetic and geometry of Salem numbers". In: Bulletin of the American Mathematical Society 38.3 (2001), pp. 293–314.
- [46] Yasufumi Hashimoto et al. "Euler's constants for the Selberg and the Dedekind zeta functions". In: Bulletin of the Belgian Mathematical Society-Simon Stevin 11.4 (2004), pp. 493–516.

- [47] Asma Hassannezhad, Gerasim Kokarev, and Iosif Polterovich. "Eigenvalue inequalities on Riemannian manifolds with a lower Ricci curvature bound". In: *Journal of Spectral Theory* 6.4 (2016), pp. 807–835.
- [48] Allen Hatcher. Algebraic topology. Cambridge University Press, 2005.
- [49] Bertram Huppert. Endliche Gruppen I. Vol. 134. Springer-Verlag, 2013.
- [50] Henryk Iwaniec and Emmanuel Kowalski. *Analytic number theory*. Vol. 53. American Mathematical Soc., 2021.
- [51] Lizhen Ji. "Spectral degeneration of hyperbolic Riemann surfaces". In: Journal of Differential Geometry 38.2 (1993), pp. 263–313.
- [52] Gareth A. Jones and David Singerman. Complex functions: an algebraic and geometric viewpoint. Cambridge University press, 1987.
- [53] Svetlana Katok. Fuchsian groups. University of Chicago press, 1992.
- [54] Linda Keen. "On Fricke moduli". In: Ann. of Math. Stud. 66 (1971), pp. 205–224.
- [55] Anthony W. Knapp. Representation theory of semisimple groups: an overview based on examples. Princeton university press, 2001.
- [56] Serge Lang. Algebraic number theory. Vol. 110. Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.
- [57] Robert P Langlands. On the functional equations satisfied by Eisenstein series. Vol. 544. Springer, 2006.
- [58] Etienne Le Masson and Tuomas Sahlsten. "Quantum ergodicity and Benjamini–Schramm convergence of hyperbolic surfaces". In: Duke Math. J. 166 (2017).
- [59] Derrick H Lehmer. "Factorization of certain cyclotomic functions". In: Annals of mathematics (1933), pp. 461–479.
- [60] Colin Maclachlan and Alan W Reid. The arithmetic of hyperbolic 3manifolds. Vol. 219. Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.
- [61] Gregori A Margulis. Discrete subgroups of semisimple Lie groups. Vol. 17. Springer Science & Business Media, 1991.
- [62] Bernard Maskit. "Matrices for Fenchel-Nielsen coordinates". In: Ann. Acad. Sci. Fenn. Math. 26.2 (2001), pp. 267–304.
- [63] Bernard Maskit. "Matrices for Fenchel-Nielsen parameters in genus 2". In: Contemporary Mathematics 240 (1999), pp. 259–268.
- [64] Jasmin Matz. "Limit multiplicities for $SL_2(\mathfrak{o}_F)$ in $SL_2(\mathbb{R}^{r_1} \oplus \mathbb{C}^{r_2})$ ". In: Groups, Geometry, and Dynamics 13.3 (2019), pp. 841–881.
- [65] Henry P McKean. "Selberg's trace formula as applied to a compact Riemann surface". In: Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics 25.3 (1972), pp. 225–246.

- [66] Henry P McKean Jr and Isadore M Singer. "Curvature and the eigenvalues of the Laplacian". In: *Journal of Differential Geometry* 1.1-2 (1967), pp. 43–69.
- [67] Michael Mossinghoff. "Polynomials with small Mahler measure". In: Mathematics of Computation 67.224 (1998), pp. 1697–1705.
- [68] M Ram Murty. "Selberg's conjectures and Artin L-functions". In: Bull. Amer. Math. Soc.(NS) 31 (1994).
- [69] Jin Nakagawa. "Orders of quadratic extensions of number fields". In: Acta Arithmetica 67.3 (1994), pp. 229–239.
- [70] Wladyslaw Narkiewicz. Elementary and analytic theory of algebraic numbers. Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.
- [71] Jürgen Neukirch. Algebraic number theory. Vol. 322. Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.
- [72] Morris Newman. "A note on Fuchsian groups". In: Illinois Journal of Mathematics 29.4 (1985), pp. 682–686.
- [73] Onorato Timothy O'Meara. Introduction to quadratic forms. Vol. 117. Springer, 2013.
- [74] Fritz Oberhettinger and Larry Badii. Tables of Laplace transforms. Springer Science & Business Media, 2012.
- [75] Andrew M Odlyzko. "Bounds for discriminants and related estimates for class numbers, regulators and zeros of zeta functions: a survey of recent results". In: Journal de théorie des nombres de Bordeaux 2.1 (1990), pp. 119–141.
- [76] Jean-Pierre Otal and Eulalio Rosas. "Pour toute surface hyperbolique de genre g, $\lambda_{2q-2} > 1/4$ ". In: Duke Math. J. 150 (2009), pp. 101–115.
- [77] Ludmila Petrovna Postnikova and Andrzej Schinzel. "Primitive divisors of the expression $a^n b^n$ in algebraic number fields". In: *Mathematics of the USSR-Sbornik* 4.2 (1968).
- [78] Jean Raimbault. "On the convergence of arithmetic orbifolds". In: Annales de l'Institut Fourier. Vol. 67. 6. 2017, pp. 2547–2596.
- [79] Andrei Reznikov. "Eisenstein matrix and existence of cusp forms in rank one symmetric spaces". In: *Geometric & Functional Analysis GAFA* 3 (1993), pp. 79–105.
- [80] Jürgen Rohlfs and Birgit Speh. "On limit multiplicities of representations with cohomology in the cuspidal spectrum". In: *Duke Math. J.* 55.1 (1987), pp. 199–211.
- [81] Raphael Salem. "Power series with integral coefficients". In: Duke Math. J. 12 (1945), pp. 153–172.
- [82] Peter Sarnak. "A note on the spectrum of cusp forms for congruence subgroups". In: *preprint* (1982).

- [83] Peter Sarnak. "Class numbers of indefinite binary quadratic forms". In: Journal of Number Theory 15.2 (1982), pp. 229–247.
- [84] François Sauvageot. "Principe de densité pour les groupes réductifs". In: Compositio Mathematica 108.2 (1997), pp. 151–184.
- [85] Paul Schmutz. "Congruence subgroups and maximal Riemann surfaces". In: The Journal of Geometric Analysis 4 (1994), pp. 207–218.
- [86] Richard Schoen, Scott Wolpert, and Shing-Tung Yau. "Geometric bounds on the low eigenvalues of a compact surface". In: *Geometry of the Laplace* operator 36 (1980), pp. 279–285.
- [87] Atle Selberg. "Harmonic analysis and discontinuous groups in weakly symmetric spaces with applications to Dirichlet series". In: J. Indian Math. Soc. 20 (1956), pp. 47–87.
- [88] Mehmet Haluk Şengün. "On the integral cohomology of Bianchi groups". In: *Experimental Mathematics* 20.4 (2011), pp. 487–505.
- [89] Jean-Pierre Serre. Local fields. Vol. 67. Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.
- [90] Gorō Shimura. Introduction to the arithmetic theory of automorphic functions. Vol. 1. Princeton university press, 1971.
- [91] Mikhail Aleksandrovich Shubin. Pseudodifferential operators and spectral theory. Vol. 57. Springer, 1987.
- [92] Chris Smyth. "Seventy years of Salem numbers". In: Bull. Lond. Math. Soc 47.3 (2015), pp. 379–395.
- [93] Harold M Stark. "L-functions at s= 1. II. Artin L-functions with rational characters". In: Advances in Mathematics 17.1 (1975), pp. 60–92.
- [94] Alexander Strohmaier and Ville Uski. "An algorithm for the computation of eigenvalues, spectral zeta functions and zeta-determinants on hyperbolic surfaces". In: *Communications in Mathematical Physics* 317 (2013), pp. 827–869.
- [95] Charles R Traina. "Trace polynomial for two-generator subgroups of SL(2, C)". In: Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society 79.3 (1980), pp. 369–372.
- [96] Marie-France Vignéras. "Quelques remarques sur la conjecture $\lambda_1 \ge 1/4$ ". In: Seminar on number theory, Paris. Vol. 82. 1981, pp. 321–343.
- [97] Marie-France Vignéras. "Variétés riemanniennes isospectrales et non isométriques". In: Annals of Mathematics 112.1 (1980), pp. 21–32.
- [98] John Voight. Quaternion algebras. Springer Nature, 2021.
- [99] Nolan R Wallach. "On the Selberg trace formula in the case of compact quotient". In: BAMS 82.2 (1976), pp. 171–195.
- [100] Nolan R. Wallach and David L. DeGeorge. "Limit formulas for multiplicities in $L^2(G/\Gamma)$ ". In: Ann. of Math 107 (1978), pp. 133–150.

- [101] Hans F Weinberger. Variational methods for eigenvalue approximation. SIAM, 1974.
- [102] Scott A Wolpert. "Asymptotics of the spectrum and the Selberg zeta function on the space of Riemann surfaces". In: *Communications in mathematical physics* 112.2 (1987), pp. 283–315.